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P R O C E E D I N G S 1 

 2 

   MS DYER TUCKER:  Good morning ladies and 3 

gentlemen. 4 

   Please make sure that your cellular devices 5 

are either off or set at vibrate.  We are about to start 6 

the proceedings for today. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes, Mr. Hargun. 8 

   MR. HARGUN:  Good morning Mr. Chairman. 9 

   Mr. Chairman: our next witness is Ms. 10 

Thomasina Hassell. 11 

   Her witness statement you will find in Tab 12 

18 of the witness bundle. 13 

   MS. HASSELL:  I swear by the Almighty God 14 

that I -- that the evidence that I shall give, shall be the 15 

truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth. 16 

   MR. HARGUN:  Thank you, Ms. Hassell.   17 

   You may sit down, please. 18 

 19 

THOMASINA HASSELL,  20 

having been duly called and sworn, 21 

   was examined and testified as follows: 22 

 23 

EXAMINATION  24 

 BY MR. HARGUN: 25 
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  Q Ms. Hassell, good morning. 1 

  A Oh, good morning. 2 

  Q My name is Narinder Hargun. 3 

  A Huh-huh. 4 

  Q I’m Counsel to the Commission so I’m going 5 

to ask you some questions in relation to the witness 6 

statement that you have given to the Commission. 7 

  A   Okay. 8 

  Q And do you have a copy of your witness 9 

statement, I think you -- 10 

  A   I do, I do. 11 

  Q   It was signed by you on the 15th of 12 

September, do you remember? 13 

  A   Yes. 14 

  Q And can you just confirm as a formality that 15 

the statements that you have made in that statement are 16 

correct? 17 

  A Yes, they are. 18 

  Q Thank you. 19 

   MR. CHAIRMAN:  Mr. Hargun, just to avoid any 20 

trouble that we had yesterday, I’ve got an unsigned copy of 21 

the statement which I’ve been working from, but is it right 22 

that the text of the statement is the same as the one that 23 

the witness has signed? 24 

   MR. HARGUN:  Are there differences? 25 
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   MS. MEMARI:  Mr. Chair, then maybe I could 1 

just ask you to follow the signed one, please for the sake 2 

of prudence and accuracy that would be fine. 3 

   CHAIRMAN:  Yes. 4 

BY MR HARGUN: 5 

  Q Is this your statement? 6 

  A Yes. 7 

  Q Oh, good. 8 

   I want to thank you very much, I now have 9 

the signed one. 10 

   And in that statement you deal with a number 11 

of issues, the most important for our purposes, Ms. Hassell 12 

is, the procedure which is followed in relation to the 13 

process of payments and the issues relating to tender 14 

process and the like, which you’ve dealt with in your 15 

witness statement and I’ll ask you some questions in 16 

relation to it and then you also deal with some specific 17 

contracts. 18 

  A Yes. 19 

  Q And you deal with the renovations of the 20 

Department of Human Resources and you deal with the 21 

Commercial Court Building? 22 

  A Yes. 23 

  Q And you deal with the Maintenance and the 24 

Storage Building? 25 
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  A Yes. 1 

  Q And the Central Laboratory Building Project? 2 

  A Yes. 3 

  Q The purchase of sand and rock? 4 

  A Yes. 5 

  Q And I think that is it. 6 

   Just to give context.  You’re currently the 7 

Chief Financial Officer for the Ministry of Public Works? 8 

  A Yes, I am. 9 

  Q And during 2010/2011 and 2012, you were the 10 

Chief Financial Officer for the Ministry of Works and 11 

Engineering? 12 

  A That’s correct. 13 

  Q Yes. 14 

   And you say that that is not a Head of 15 

Department post, but you do look after and supervise a 16 

number of people currently? 17 

  A Correct.  Based on Government standard, I’m 18 

not a Head of Department. 19 

  Q Yes. 20 

  A Yes. 21 

  Q And Ms. Hassell, you have very kindly 22 

prepared some flow charts for the purposes of taking the 23 

Commissioners through how payments are controlled and how 24 

they’re made. 25 
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  A Yes. 1 

  Q Before I take you there, can I just ask you 2 

to have a look at a diagram which appears, the flow chart 3 

which appears in the PFA 2003, which the Commissioners will 4 

find at Tab 8, Tab 9. 5 

   Do you have a copy? 6 

  A Oh yes, I have a copy. 7 

  Q You have? 8 

   CHAIRMAN:  Can we identify these?  I’ve got 9 

a five page document.  You’ve prepared that, that’s what 10 

we’re not looking at now, but we will look at that in a 11 

minute. 12 

   But the witness has prepared these flow 13 

charts? 14 

   MR. HARGUN:  Yes. 15 

BY MR HARGUN:   16 

      Q Before we look at those, could you look at 17 

Page 17 of PFA 2002 and there is a diagram and the 18 

Commissioners have that diagram. 19 

   Can you just tell us what is this diagram 20 

which appeared in PFA 2002? 21 

  A Okay. 22 

   This is the contract services and the -- and 23 

the -- which is used as a guide to assist the Technical 24 

Officers on which -- which direction and which direction 25 
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they should actually go when performing a tender -- or 1 

making a tender. 2 

  Q Right. 3 

  A Preparing a tender. 4 

  Q And this applies to all -- all works, works 5 

under $5,000.00? 6 

  A Yes. 7 

    Q Works over $50,000.00, works between 8 

$5,000.00 and $50,000.00? 9 

  A You’re correct. 10 

  Q Yes. 11 

   And do I understand it that by reference to 12 

this diagram, this flow chart, you have prepared further 13 

flow charts which expand upon it? 14 

  A Yes. 15 

   The focus being what valued over $50,000.00. 16 

  Q Yes. 17 

  A And then work under -- under $50,000.00. 18 

   There’s the process, as you can see on the 19 

chart, the process is slightly different for the -- 20 

  Q Yes. 21 

  A (403). 22 

  Q Yes. 23 

   So if -- with that introduction, if we look 24 

at -- 25 
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   CHAIRMAN:   Could I -- I’m sorry to 1 

interrupt, but that’s very helpful to see that chart. 2 

   Can I just ask you this:  The main 3 

categories Works valued it at over $50,000.00 and you have 4 

the open tender purchase? 5 

   MS. HASSELL:  For the over fifty, yes. 6 

   CHAIRMAN:   Is there any provision there for 7 

saying some contracts are more important than others? So 8 

that suppose, for example, it’s a million dollars, not 9 

something over $50,000.00, you could alter that procedure? 10 

   MS. HASSELL:  you mean for the advertise 11 

open tender? 12 

   CHAIRMAN:   There’s a process that’s -- 13 

   MS. HASSELL:  Okay. 14 

   So then if you go to the chart, there’s a -- 15 

once you, if – okay.  It says work valued over $50,000.00. 16 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 17 

   MS. HASSELL:  And then it says open tender. 18 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 19 

   MS. HASSELL:  And then it says press, 20 

advertisement. 21 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 22 

   MS. HASSELL:  And then it has the 23 

prequalification. On the prequalification.  Most times they 24 

use that when it’s specialized and then they invite, and 25 
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they actually bill out to the bid as full, the qualified 1 

bid. 2 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 3 

   MS. HASSELL: Was that your question? 4 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, no, I didn’t quite put it 5 

very clearly, I’m sorry. 6 

   MS. HASSELL:  Okay. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:   That’s for contracts over 8 

$50,000.00? 9 

   MS. HASSELL:  Huh-huh. 10 

   CHAIRMAN:   But from time to time you’re 11 

going to get the mega contract of a million dollars or many 12 

millions of dollars? 13 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yeah, that’s included in this 14 

-- in this flow chart. 15 

   CHAIRMAN:   I see. 16 

     There’s no separate procedure simply because 17 

it’s a very big contract? 18 

   MS. HASSELL:  Oh no, no.  This is the 19 

process right here (indicating). 20 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m putting that the other way 21 

around. 22 

   If it’s a contract over $50,000.00, the 23 

regulation --- the rules said that it ought to go through 24 

that procedure? 25 
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   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 1 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yeah, thank you. 2 

BY MR HARGUN: 3 

  Q Let’s say the Dame Lois Brown Building, 4 

which was some $70 million dollars. 5 

  A Huh-huh. 6 

  Q That would follow the procedure which is for 7 

any contract in excess of $50,000.00? 8 

  A Yes, correct. 9 

  Q Thank you. 10 

   And just to make it quite clear, there’s no 11 

separate procedure just because it happened to be $70 12 

million? 13 

  A No. 14 

  Q Thank you. 15 

   And then you have prepared, I think Flow 16 

Chart No. 1, which is the Ministry of Works and 17 

Engineering, open tendering process for contract services 18 

for $50,000.00 prior to 2011? 19 

  A Yes. 20 

  Q Now, it’s important that we make that point 21 

because this is not the procedure at the moment.  This is 22 

the procedure we used to be prior to 2011 or some parts of  23 

it in ‘05? 24 

  A Yes. 25 
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  Q Yes. 1 

   CHAIRMAN:   Now, can we identify this 2 

document, give it a number or a name? 3 

   MR. HARGUN:  There are five pages. 4 

   MS. HASSELL:  One, do you want to -- 5 

   CHAIRMAN:   Did you prepare this document? 6 

   MS. HASSELL:  I did prepare it with the 7 

assistance of my staff, of course. 8 

   CHAIRMAN:   We can make it Exhibit 1 if 9 

that’s convenient or this witness -- 10 

   MR. HARGUN:  Or let’s give Ms. Hassell the 11 

credit, shall we call it Hassell 1 or -- 12 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes, we can call Hassell 1. 13 

   MS. HASSELL:  Hassell 1 --- 3. 14 

   CHAIRMAN:   Hassell 3, I hope. 15 

   (Laughter.) 16 

 17 

   (HASSELL EXHIBIT NO. 1, FIVE PAGE DOCUMENT 18 

PREPARED BY THOMASINA HASSELL MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION AND 19 

RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE.) 20 

 21 

BY MR HARGUN: 22 

  Q So, would you like to take the Commissioners 23 

through this flow chart explaining how the processes were 24 

to work? 25 
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  A Okay. 1 

   So what I’m presenting, should I call it 2 

Hassell 1? 3 

   CHAIRMAN:   Hassell Exhibit 1. 4 

   MS. HASSELL:  It’s the Ministry of the then 5 

Works and Engineering, the open tender process for contract 6 

services over $50,000.00 prior to 2011 and of course, the 7 

change came 2011 when we got Enterprise 1, which was 8 

commonly referred to as E1. 9 

   So this is prior to 2011. 10 

   If you look on the left side, the columns, 11 

that basically states who is actually responsible for the 12 

task that is in the box. 13 

   So the very first part of -- the very first 14 

step is performed by the Technical Officer. 15 

By MR HARGUN: 16 

  Q I’m just pausing there. 17 

   When you say “Technical Officers”, who are 18 

they? 19 

  A Most times they’re the Engineers.  They’re 20 

the Architects and they’re the -- it’s the building 21 

section. 22 

   They identify the scope of the project and 23 

then they prepared tender documents.  During this time 24 

there are about three things happening. 25 
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   The Technical Officer may seek advice on 1 

sourcing from the Purchasing Officer, which is in the 2 

second block.  At the same time they are preparing the 3 

tender documents.  Once they prepare the tender documents, 4 

they submit the tender records to the record section who 5 

submits the -- who submits the tendered ADVERT to the Royal 6 

Gazette and that’s if  -- 7 

  Q So -- 8 

  A -- if it’s not prequalified submission and 9 

they don’t have what they call qualified bidders. 10 

  Q So in relation to ordinary tenders -- 11 

  A Huh-huh. 12 

  Q -- that the tender has to be advertised in 13 

the newspaper? 14 

  A At times, at times. 15 

   If you go back to the document that you 16 

referred to earlier -- 17 

  Q Yes. 18 

  A -- you can actually have a pretty qualified 19 

ADVERT and they invite tenders to bid.   20 

   For instance if we have a bridge which is 21 

very specialized, you don’t want a plumber to come to (fix) 22 

a bridge. 23 

   So they identify the specialists in the area 24 

and that normally does not go into the newspaper. 25 
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  Q Yes, qualified bidder is only bidders who 1 

have been qualified to actually bid? 2 

  A Yes. 3 

  Q Bid on it? 4 

  A Yes. 5 

  Q Yes. 6 

  A Okay. 7 

   So once they, so the documents then all go 8 

to the Public Works’ front desk.  If you go to the bottom 9 

of the page where it says contractors, the contractors then 10 

collect the bid packages, the tender packages I should say, 11 

from the reception desk. 12 

  Q And what is included in the tendered 13 

documents generally, do you know? 14 

  A Okay. 15 

   I actually don’t know.  The tender documents 16 

are prepared by the Technical Officers. 17 

   The contractor then goes away and they -- 18 

most times they give them a timeframe.  They prepare their 19 

bids for the project.  They come back and they put the bids 20 

in the locked tender box. 21 

  Q So there’s actually a box? 22 

  A There’s actually a box, yes, which is 23 

locked. 24 

  Q And that’s kept where? 25 
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  A In the -- 1 

  Q Reception? 2 

  A -- reception area. 3 

   The Purchasing Officer and his team or their 4 

team manage the tender box.  At this stage then they manage 5 

the tender opening and record the tenders and that’s 6 

usually at a meeting and invited is, I think -- 7 

  Q Are the bidders invited at this meeting? 8 

  A They are. 9 

   The contractors, the bidders. 10 

  Q So it’s like a public meeting? 11 

  A Yes an independent, that would be, that was 12 

in my witness -- in my witness statement.  It’s usually the 13 

purchasing, it’s a member from the Purchasing Team. 14 

  Q Huh-huh. 15 

  A The Project Manager, contractors and the 16 

independent body. 17 

  Q Okay. 18 

   And so when they -- when they open the bids, 19 

do they announce what the price which -- 20 

  A They do, and they record it, yes. 21 

   Once they -- once the bids are opened and 22 

recorded, the Technical Officer then reviews and evaluates 23 

the bids. 24 

  Q Now, that is done when, obviously not at 25 
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that meeting? 1 

  A No, it’s done after. 2 

  Q Okay. 3 

   And when you said Technical Officers, for 4 

the purposes of evaluating a bid? 5 

  A Huh-huh. 6 

  Q Who’s generally involved in that? 7 

  A I have not -- I’m not sure. 8 

  Q Okay. 9 

  A I’m not sure. 10 

   So once the bids are, once they’ve done the 11 

evaluation, they prepare the Contract Award recommendation. 12 

  Q Huh-huh. 13 

  A All right? 14 

   Then they send it to their Department Head, 15 

who also reviews the Contract Award and I guess they have 16 

discussions or if there’s any issues with the award.  They 17 

then send it to the Permanent Secretary. 18 

  Q Okay. 19 

  A The Permanent Secretary then takes the 20 

Contract Award and reviews it for the Minister’s 21 

consideration and that is under the Permanent Secretary 22 

line and then it goes to the Minister. 23 

  Q So the Minister doesn’t get involved in this 24 

prior to the time when the contract evaluation is given to 25 
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him? 1 

  A Does he get involved in the, you mean the 2 

tenders and the -- 3 

  Q Yes. 4 

  A It’s the responsibility of the Technical 5 

Officer, I -- not that I know of. 6 

  Q Okay. 7 

  A I’m not involved in that process. 8 

   The Minister then reviews the recommendation 9 

and then he takes it to -- signs off and takes it to 10 

Cabinet. 11 

  Q What is CAR? 12 

  A Oh, sorry. 13 

   That’s the Contract --  14 

  Q Award -- 15 

  A -- sorry. 16 

  Q Recommendation. 17 

  A Contract Award Recommendation. 18 

  Q Thank you. 19 

  A Once it’s -- It’s taken for consideration, 20 

the Cabinet make a decision, then it comes back.  Once the 21 

decision is made, we then, the PS, the Permanent Secretary, 22 

he then receives the Cabinet Conclusion and he receives the 23 

Conclusion number. 24 

   He then passes that on to the Department 25 
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Head, who then passes it on to the Technical Officer. 1 

   Once the Technical Officer receives the 2 

Cabinet Conclusion and number, he notifies the successful 3 

bidder and he prepares a standard AIA Contract for 4 

signature. 5 

  Q Right. 6 

   We heard from one or more witnesses that 7 

sometimes it can take a while for the Cabinet to actually 8 

prepare the --        9 

  A Yes. 10 

   Actually, he actually just states that, as 11 

I’m reading through this, the --- They basically state to 12 

the PS that the, it has been approved. 13 

  Q Approved? 14 

  A Yes. 15 

  Q And do you know whether on that basis, the 16 

PS can and does notify the contractor? 17 

  A Yes.   18 

   We -- yes.  Normally through an email. 19 

  Q Okay. 20 

   So do you want to say anything more in 21 

relation to this flow chart? 22 

  A No. 23 

  CHAIRMAN: Okay, sorry --- but I think it might 24 

help although I’m sorry to comment so early. 25 
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   You say that the Minister’s function is to 1 

review the Technical Officer’s recommendation? 2 

  A   Huh-huh. 3 

  Q  And then on that basis it goes forward to a 4 

Cabinet? 5 

  A   Yes. 6 

  Q But from what we’ve heard so far, shouldn’t 7 

one say that the Minister at that stage, prepares his own 8 

presentation to Cabinet, because we’ve heard that in real 9 

life, Ministers sometimes want to suggest to Cabinet that 10 

there should be a different -- 11 

  A   I am actually not involved in the tender 12 

process. 13 

  Q Then that would explain why this isn’t in 14 

your flow chart? 15 

  A Yes. 16 

  Q To take account of the real life situation  17 

-- 18 

  A Huh-huh. 19 

  Q If there is a Minister who doesn’t, isn’t 20 

happy with the recommendation, it does occur, doesn’t it, 21 

that a Minister will make his own presentation to the 22 

Cabinet? 23 

  A  Okay. 24 

  Q I mean has -- that has happened, hasn’t it? 25 
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  A I’m not involved in that process. 1 

  Q And you’re not involved in that then? 2 

  A   No. 3 

  Q Thank you. 4 

BY MR HARGUN: 5 

  Q  Then in that case, can we have a look at 6 

Flow Chart No. 2 which is dealing with Works and 7 

Engineering purchase of goods and services for over 8 

$3,000.00 but less than $50,000.00. 9 

  A Less than fifty, right, okay. 10 

   So the Operations prepare a request for 11 

purchase form for goods and services required.  This form 12 

is then signed off by the Operations Manager.  It then goes 13 

to the Logistics or the Buyer who receives, Approve Request 14 

for Purchase Form.  At times it’s the -- it’s actually two 15 

different processes because we also have it for -- so 16 

purchase and goods and services, but we also have it for 17 

inventory and that’s where you see, it starts in the middle 18 

with the storekeeper. 19 

  Q Huh-huh. 20 

  A But the process in the end is very similar. 21 

   The Buyer and the Logistics Officer will go 22 

out for quotes and that’s if the -- The Technical Officer 23 

don’t get their quotes themselves; and they would send the 24 

quotes to the requests of quote to the vendor.  Then the 25 
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vendor will send the quote back to the Buyer and then once 1 

we get the three quotes, the request is input into the 2 

purchases system to create a Purchase Order. 3 

   The Purchasing Manager then review and print 4 

the Purchase Order and then the Purchase Order will be -- 5 

is signed and it depends on the levels of authority.  It 6 

will be signed by the Permanent Secretary, the Purchasing 7 

Manager or the Controller or the CFO. 8 

   The Purchase Order is then returned to the 9 

Buyer and they send the quote to the vendor in the 10 

operational area.   11 

   Then the -- The storekeeper would also 12 

receive a copy if it’s an inventory item; and then also the 13 

Operations area will receive the Purchase Order. 14 

   So everyone gets a copy of the Purchase 15 

Order.  It’s a very -- was a very manual system with the 16 

paper flow in the beginning and then entered into -- and 17 

then the information entered into a purchasing system to 18 

create a Purchase Order. 19 

  Q Did you always get three quotations? 20 

  A It depends on the rules. 21 

   If you -- if you go back to this document, 22 

the flow chart here (indicating)? 23 

  Q Yeah. 24 

  A If it was under $5,000.00 single time to -- 25 
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by quotation.  If it was between five and three, three 1 

quotes -- three tenders or quotes. 2 

  Q And when you get three tenders -- three 3 

quotations -- 4 

  A Huh-huh. 5 

  Q Do you always have to accept the lowest 6 

price? 7 

  A No, because sometimes they, you know, they 8 

look at quality, if we can get it quick, if it’s in stock. 9 

  Q And who makes that decision? 10 

  A The Buyer, the Buyer, along with the 11 

Technical Officer if it’s something, you know, they -- like 12 

tires; you need to have enough knowledge to know each tire 13 

has -- 14 

  Q Right. 15 

  A -- has the best quality. 16 

   MS LUCK:  Can I just ask a question just for 17 

clarity? 18 

   So I saw Exhibit No. 2, the top says, says 19 

it over $3,000.00 and under $50,000.00. 20 

   Should that be five, based on what we’ve 21 

seen in the PFA? 22 

   MS. HASSELL:  Well, it’s -- We actually, we 23 

always set three because the process, the process for --- 24 

No.  In here it says three because we had a manual Purchase 25 
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Order. 1 

   So before three, there was a manual -- like 2 

an actual -- actually purchase book.  So the process is for  3 

-- 4 

   MS LUCK:  So this is two systems coming 5 

together -- 6 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 7 

   MS LUCK:  -- at Works, the $3,000.00 is 8 

bigger threshold for the old system? 9 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes, yes. 10 

BY MR HARGUN:   11 

     Q So far we’ve dealt with purchasing, in terms 12 

of goods and services over $50,000.00; and this Flow Chart 13 

No. 2, which deals with between $3,000.00 to $50,000.00. 14 

   Have a look at Hassel 3 which is dealing 15 

with payments. 16 

  A Yes. 17 

  Q And that’s dealing with payments for items 18 

over $50,000.00 and that’s the position prior to 2011? 19 

  A Yes. 20 

  Q  And under -- 21 

  A Are we looking -- you said over -- 22 

  Q Under $50,000.00.  Payments under 23 

$50,000.00. 24 

  A It’s two. 25 
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  Q It’s Page No. 3, No. 3 -- yes, let’s have a 1 

look at payments under twenty -- 2 

  A Under? 3 

  Q Yes. 4 

  A Okay. 5 

   So the Vendor, once -- will submit an 6 

invoice for the good and service provided. 7 

   So once they provide the Government or 8 

Public Works with good or service, they would -- they would 9 

then invoice us and they would send the invoice to the 10 

Technical Officer who was provided the service. 11 

   The Technical Officer would then review the 12 

goods and services received against the Purchase Order. 13 

   Once they verify that the goods received 14 

matched the invoice, they would then stamp the invoice with 15 

the Certification Stamp. 16 

   The Technical Officer in -- with -- on the 17 

stamp would verify that the goods were received, the prices 18 

were checked and then they would forward it to the 19 

Authorized Officer to approve. 20 

  Q And who is the Authorized Officer? 21 

  A It depends on the authority -- assigned 22 

authority levels. 23 

  Q So what would the Authorized Officer be 24 

looking at in terms of checks? 25 
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  A They would actually check the -- They would 1 

check the invoice to insure that the -- it matched the 2 

Purchase Order. 3 

   They would also check, there’s a stamp, I 4 

think it’s in a few of the documents that you supplied in 5 

the witness bundle.  It has, I believe -- oh, it’s right 6 

here (indicating). 7 

   It would say -- There’s a box that says 8 

goods were received, prices were checked.  So they sign off 9 

to say that they actually received the goods. 10 

   The invoice and the supporting documentation 11 

is then sent to the account section and the Clerk inputs 12 

the input -- inputs the invoice into the -- the then J.D. 13 

Edwards’ system for payment. 14 

   Once the Clerk completes the input, she 15 

gives her batch to the Management Accountant. 16 

   The Management Accountant would review the 17 

invoice and supporting documentation and approve the 18 

payment in the system.   19 

   The batch would then be sent by the 20 

Management Accountant to the Accountant General’s 21 

Department, the Department; and the Accountant General’s 22 

Department would review the batch and process the payment 23 

to the Vendor. 24 

  Q And when you say the Accountant General’s 25 
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Department would review the batch -- 1 

  A Huh-huh. 2 

  Q What are they looking for? 3 

  A I am -- I guess, I’m -- I’m not sure. 4 

  Q Okay. 5 

  A I’ve never seen -- 6 

  Q Okay. 7 

    I mean, as I understand, this is new to you. 8 

  A Huh-huh. 9 

  Q The check which is made by the Public Works 10 

Department -- 11 

  A Huh-huh. 12 

  Q -- is basically that the goods have been 13 

received? 14 

  A Yes. 15 

  Q Yes? 16 

  A Yes. 17 

  Q Then on that basis, authorization is given. 18 

  A Huh-huh. 19 

  Q And then the batch is sent to the Accountant 20 

General’s Department? 21 

  A Huh-huh. 22 

  Q And if you don’t know, just say so, but -- 23 

  A I can -- 24 

  Q -- but do you know whether the Accountant 25 
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General’s Department carries out an additional check or 1 

simply just pays it? 2 

  A At the top, I’m -- At times they’ve come 3 

back and asked for, say a contract, but -- 4 

  Q Would contracts generally be sent with the 5 

batch? 6 

  A Um -- 7 

  Q To the Accountant General? 8 

  A Most times. 9 

  Q Okay. 10 

  A But because the system was so manual, it 11 

could have been missed. 12 

   The Financial Instructions basically speak 13 

to… I don’t know if I can find it that quickly… what the 14 

expectation is. 15 

  Q Yes. 16 

  A For the payment. 17 

   The supporting documentation. 18 

  Q Before making the payment, checked whether 19 

in relation to that contract, the pre-contract Financial 20 

Instructions had been complied with and in particular, 21 

Cabinet approval might be obtained? 22 

  A I cannot recall. 23 

  Q Okay. 24 

   Then unless we have further questions in 25 
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relation to the position prior to 2011, then you very 1 

kindly prepared, (indiscernible,) which is the position 2 

after Enterprise 1? 3 

  A Yes. 4 

  Q Which is the current position --- position? 5 

  A Yes. 6 

  Q And could you walk us through this? 7 

  A Okay. 8 

   So the Operations area would send a request 9 

for quote or they would prepare their own quote form. 10 

  Q Just for -- 11 

  A (Interrupts)  This is for payments, right?  12 

This is for payment, right? 13 

  Q This is -- this -- I have Purchase Orders. 14 

  A Oh, you want Purchasing. 15 

  Q And -- 16 

  A So I only did Purchasing, did you also want 17 

-- 18 

  Q No, that’s fine. 19 

  A Okay. 20 

  Q You can just explain it to us. 21 

  A Okay. 22 

   Okay, so -- and you would see that, mostly 23 

the checks come in the early stage. 24 

   So the Operation area would make a request.  25 
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They would send the request to the -- and this is a paper 1 

request.  They would prepare the quote.  They would send it 2 

to the Buyer if they needed them -- 3 

   MS. LUCK:  .5? 4 

   MS. HASSELL:  Not .5, .2 in the Financial 5 

Instructions. 6 

BY MR HARGUN: 7 

  Q So would I be right in assuming that in 8 

relation to payment for goods and services for less than 9 

$50,000.00 -- 10 

  A Huh-huh. 11 

  Q -- the essential check which is being done 12 

is to make sure that the, you can certify that goods and 13 

services have been received? 14 

  A Yes, certainly. 15 

  Q Okay. 16 

   So unless there are further questions in 17 

relation to this, we can move on. 18 

   MR BARRITT:  Ms. Hassell, good morning. 19 

   MS. HASSELL:  Good morning. 20 

   MR BARRITT:  Who is the Management 21 

Accountant, is that you, the CFO? 22 

   MS. HASSELL:  No, no. 23 

   The Management Accountant actually, I have 24 

got the --- I had a flow chart -- (perusing documents). 25 
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   MR BARRITT:  Is there more than one? 1 

   MS. HASSELL:  There’s two Management 2 

Accountants. 3 

   So it’s the Chief Financial Officer, the 4 

Controller and then it’s two Management Accountants and 5 

it’s about five Clerks. 6 

   MR BARRITT:  Okay. 7 

     Does the Controller come into these flow 8 

charts anywhere? 9 

   MS. HASSELL:  Only if the -- Most times the 10 

Management Accountant who’s actually a qualified 11 

Accountant, if they have any questions or they have issues 12 

with any documentation, they would ask for the assistance 13 

of the Controller, or at times if the workload is very 14 

heavy, the Controller would approve payments and this is -- 15 

and we must -- we must remember this is before 2011 cause 16 

the process changed after 2011. 17 

   MR BARRITT: Okay. 18 

   And perhaps you’ll bring us onto that. 19 

   MS. HASSELL:  To -- 20 

   MR BARRITT:  But the Controller is out here 21 

somewhere as you are? 22 

   MS. HASSELL:  I can give you the flow chart 23 

if you like. 24 

   MR BARRITT:  Okay. 25 
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   That might be helpful and I had one other 1 

question, Mr. Hargun, if I may? 2 

   MR. HARGUN:  Yes. 3 

   MS. HASSELL:  Huh-huh. 4 

   MR BARRITT:  You said the Account’s Clerk 5 

input invoices in the J.D.E. system for payment? 6 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 7 

   MR BARRITT:  What’s going on there? 8 

   MS. HASSELL:  It’s a -- So once they 9 

receive, what happens is they receive a -- the stamped 10 

invoice from the Technical Officer.  They have to -- they 11 

had to actually input the payment into the system, the 12 

Clerk, before, to make -- to ensure that it got processed. 13 

   MR BARRITT:  Okay, I -- 14 

   MS. HASSELL:  Does that answer your 15 

question? 16 

   MR BARRITT:  Yeah. 17 

   I -- if you’ll forgive me, I’m trying to 18 

understand pre-’11 there was one system, and then you moved 19 

to a more computerized system? 20 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 21 

   MR BARRITT:  J.D. 1 or -- 22 

   MS. HASSELL:  E1. 23 

   MR BARRITT:  E1, okay.  Thanks. 24 

   MR. HARGUN:  Enterprise 1. 25 
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   MS. HASSELL:  Enterprise 1. 1 

   MR BARRITT:  Enterprise 1. 2 

   So I’m trying to understand. 3 

   This just gets -- is what’s going on it’s 4 

simply logged.  It doesn’t go anywhere after that?  The 5 

inputting in the J.D.E. system? 6 

   MS. HASSELL:  It’s -- 7 

   MR BARRITT:  Or am I -- 8 

   MS. HASSELL:  -- when you say “logged”, what 9 

do you -- 10 

   MR BARRITT:  I’m thinking it’s a computer 11 

program? 12 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes, yes, yes, yes. 13 

   MR BARRITT:  Okay. 14 

   And it’s recorded there? 15 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 16 

   MR BARRITT:  And it sits there, it doesn’t 17 

go anywhere after that? 18 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yeah. 19 

   It stays there, yes. 20 

   MR BARRITT:  Okay. 21 

   MS. HASSELL:  It’s an accounting system. 22 

   MR BARRITT:  All right. 23 

   I’m just trying to -- 24 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes, it’s an accounting 25 
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system. 1 

   MR BARRITT:  -- I’m just, for internal 2 

purposes. 3 

   MS. HASSELL:  Okay. 4 

   MR BARRITT:  Yeah, okay.  Thank you. 5 

   MS. MEMARI:  Mr. Hargun, could I just ask 6 

one question? 7 

   MR. HARGUN:  Yes, of course. 8 

   MS. LUCK:  So just confirming, so this is 9 

the process for anything over $50,000.00? 10 

   MS. HASSELL:  I believe so. 11 

   MS. LUCK:  I’m sorry, we haven’t got --  12 

   (All parties speaking.) 13 

   MS. HASSELL:  Under, right, under? 14 

   MS. LUCK:  Okay. 15 

   MR. HARGUN:  Okay. 16 

BY MR HARGUN:    17 

  Q The next one does deal with over $50,000.00.  18 

That’s the one I think the Commissioners would be much more 19 

interested in. 20 

  A Yes. 21 

  Q To see what controls there are before a 22 

payment is made by the Accountant General and this is again 23 

still prior to 2011. 24 

   25 
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  Q That’s 4. 1 

  A Okay. I have it:  2 

   4.  Okay, so the Vendor submits the invoice 3 

to the Technical Officer for payment and that’s for goods 4 

or services that they provided. 5 

   The Technical Officer then reviews and 6 

confirms the work was completed.  The Technical Officer 7 

then prepares and signs the Payment Certificate.   8 

   So the difference here is that a Payment 9 

Certificate is used -- is used for contracts and used, 10 

normally used for major -- used for projects, I’m sorry, 11 

used for projects. 12 

   Once the Payment Certificate is prepared and 13 

signed, it then goes to review, for review and approval and 14 

it could be -- and depending on the signing authority 15 

levels, it could be the Permanent Secretary or the Head of 16 

Department signing off on the Payment Certificate. 17 

   The Payment Certificate is then sent back to 18 

the Technical Officer and they submit the payment to the 19 

Accounts Department. 20 

   The -- and similar to the last flow chart, 21 

the Clerk then inputs the invoice details and Payment 22 

Certificate information into the J.D. Edwards system. 23 

  Q Just before you go further. 24 

  A Huh-huh. 25 
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  Q The box which you have Review and Approve 1 

Payment Certificates. 2 

   Do you see that?  Before it’s sent back to 3 

the Technical Officer, the fourth box? 4 

  A The fourth box? 5 

  Q Review and Approve Payment Certificates. 6 

   Do you see that? 7 

  A Yes. 8 

  Q Now, what checks are being made here? 9 

  A Okay. 10 

   So the Payment Certificate to go get the 11 

quotes; they would then send the quotes back to the 12 

Operations area and they would create an OR, which is an 13 

Order, a Requisition and this is the start of the -- and 14 

this is in the system, whereas in the past it was keyed in 15 

the system.  So the operation, it changed where Operations 16 

actually keyed in what they -- what they required. 17 

   So they would email the number of the OR to 18 

the Operations Manager for approval.  The Operations 19 

Manager would then go into E1, which is the Enterprise 1, 20 

and review the details in E1 and the documentation before 21 

they approve the OR. 22 

   If the OR is approved, they would send an 23 

email to the Purchasing Department to say please convert my 24 

OR and we would cc the Operations so that they would know 25 
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that the request is in progress. 1 

   The Purchasing Department would then convert 2 

the OR to a PO and they will review for compliance. 3 

   So this is the question that you were just 4 

asking me about, so we have a Purchasing Checklist, which 5 

now has on it, if it’s over fifty -- if it’s over fifty.  6 

Well, actually even if it’s under fifty. 7 

   Did they get three quotes?  Did they -- do 8 

they have a Cabinet Conclusion?  If it’s a sole source, was 9 

it the sole source, do they have the sole source waiver 10 

attached. 11 

  Q So unless it was over $50,000.00, you would 12 

look for Cabinet Conclusion? 13 

  A Yes, we now do. 14 

  Q And is that -- is -- Cabinet Conclusions 15 

have numbers? 16 

  A Yes. 17 

  Q And would the number appear in the -- 18 

  A Yes. 19 

   So we would put the number in the system. 20 

   So now if we don’t wait to the -- till we 21 

get to the payment part to check to see if we have all the 22 

documents.  It’s at the beginning before most times just 23 

after the contract is signed. 24 

   So the Purchasing Department now checks to 25 
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make sure that it’s in compliance against the Purchasing 1 

Checklist.   2 

   If the documentation actually is where the 3 

project, the project values or dollars are controlled, so 4 

they have -- let me just refer to my notes.  I think I have 5 

it in here (perusing documents). 6 

  Q And that is being carried out by the 7 

Permanent Secretary or the Department Head? 8 

  A Yes. 9 

   So usually it has the value of the contract. 10 

  Q Huh-huh. 11 

  A Any change orders, the payment required at 12 

that time based on the work provided.  The dates the work 13 

was -- the dates that the work was provided and the work 14 

that was provided. 15 

  Q Right. 16 

  A Yes. 17 

  Q Okay. 18 

  A Yeah. 19 

  Q You’re okay? 20 

  A Oh yes, yes. 21 

   Oh, you want me to carry on? 22 

  Q Yes, please. 23 

   (Laughter.) 24 

   MS. HASSELL:  Okay. 25 
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   So the Clerk then inputs the invoice into 1 

J.D. Edwards’ system and the Management Accountant will 2 

review the Certificate and documentation and approves the 3 

batch and sends the batch to the Accountant General’s 4 

Department for payment and then the final approval and -- 5 

is made and the payment is then made to the -- sent to the 6 

Vendor and the Vendor receives the payment from the 7 

Accountant General’s Department. 8 

  Q Okay. 9 

   Now, in relation to contracts for more than 10 

$50,000.00. 11 

  A Huh-huh. 12 

  Q There are at least two Financial Instruction 13 

requirements and also PFA requirements. 14 

  A Huh-huh. 15 

  Q One is that there has to be a proper tender? 16 

  A Yes. 17 

  Q And secondly, that Cabinet Approval has to 18 

begin, yes? 19 

  A Yes. 20 

  Q Yes. 21 

   Now, in relation to the issue of payment, 22 

when we’re looking at making payments in relation to 23 

contracts over $50,000.00. 24 

  A Huh-huh. 25 
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  Q This is Hassel 4. 1 

   Where in here is there a check that those 2 

two requirements of the Financial Instructions, one, that 3 

there’s been a tender and two, that Cabinet Approval has 4 

been obtained or satisfied. 5 

   Who makes those checks, if anybody? 6 

  A Who makes those checks? 7 

   At that time? 8 

  Q Yes, before payment is made? 9 

  A I can’t actually -- What I can say is that  10 

-- that hmm -- the -- I must say there was a weakness in 11 

part of the process, which was identified in the Internal 12 

Audit.  It was identified, but also what the Ministry was 13 

following was 1.1.9.5 in the Financial Instructions. 14 

   If you look at Financial Instructions 15 

December 2008. 16 

  Q That would be A-4, and which one are we 17 

looking at, at the moment? 18 

  A If you look at 9.5. 19 

  Q Yes. 20 

  A And then you look at, I could show you where 21 

the difference is -- 22 

  Q 9.5, line 2 is helpful for you. 23 

  A Okay. 24 

   I was just looking for my .9. 25 
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  Q Do you have a copy? 1 

  A Do you have to 2.9?   2 

  Q Yes, 9.5.2.9. 3 

  A Okay and then look at two -- okay -- 4 

  Q 9.9, payment in advance? 5 

  A Yes. 6 

  Q Yes. 7 

  A No, that’s when --- 9.5 is supporting 8 

documentation. 9 

  Q Yes. 10 

  A Okay. 11 

     So look at 9.5 and look at -- and then you 12 

go -- and then -- so the Accountant, the Accountant will 13 

look up, look for the original invoice, the authorize in 14 

payment in the specific amount, copy of the contract, petty 15 

cash receipts pro forma; and then if you look at 9.2  16 

-- No, 9.5.2, details of goods and services provided. 17 

   Did you get there, 9. --  18 

  Q Yes, yes. 19 

  A Is that what -- you asked me why didn’t -- 20 

there was a weakness is what I’m stating, but what we were 21 

guided by was 9.5 and then the Cabinet, if you look at 22 

9.5.2 in Financial Instructions, December 31st, 2009, it 23 

was not always listed. 24 

  Q Yes. 25 
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   That was the point I was making. 1 

  A Oh, okay. 2 

  Q You heard about that. 3 

  A Okay, okay. 4 

   We’re straight. 5 

  Q I think what the Commissioners would like to 6 

know is -- 7 

  A Huh-huh. 8 

  Q -- with this process, with this control 9 

process. 10 

  A Huh-huh. 11 

  Q This is prior to 2011, where, if anywhere, 12 

was anybody trying to ensure that there was compliance?  13 

That if the contract was required by the financial -- 14 

  A Is complete, we then convert the Purchase 15 

Order. 16 

   If it’s not complete, we send an email to 17 

the Operations area requesting the information where 18 

they’re non-compliant; and then they provide the necessary 19 

documents.  If they don’t, then it doesn’t, there’s times 20 

it’s not going to (inaudible make it?). 21 

   Then -- and so the OR, which is a 22 

requisition is now converted to a Purchase Order.   23 

   The Purchase Order is then - and this is in 24 

the system - reviewed and approved by the Purchasing 25 
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Manager, the Controller or the CFO, depending on the dollar 1 

value. 2 

   So the authorizations are actually built in 3 

the system.  Once the PO is approved, we then print the PO. 4 

If required we send it directly to the Vendor.  We send it 5 

to Operations, and we cc the Manager and then they know 6 

that the task has been completed and then the Operations 7 

receive the PO from Purchasing. 8 

   So in the past the systems were separate, we 9 

had a Purchasing System and we had a Financial System.  Now 10 

they’re all combined.  So when they go to make the 11 

payments, all the information is already in the system. 12 

  Q So you’re saying that at the purchase stage 13 

-- 14 

  A Huh-huh. 15 

  Q -- prior to entering into a contract with a 16 

Vendor -- 17 

  A Yes. 18 

  Q -- you would -- the system requires you to 19 

check whether there’s been a tender and whether there’s 20 

been Cabinet Approval? 21 

  A Correct. 22 

  Q And that information is retained when it 23 

comes to the question of whether payment should be made? 24 

  A Yes. 25 
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  Q Okay. 1 

   MS. LUCK:  And if there is no tender or it’s 2 

no Cabinet Approval, the system will not allow you then to 3 

process -- 4 

   MS. HASSELL:  Oh, no, that part -- 5 

   MS. LUCK:  -- there’s no override? 6 

   MS. HASSELL:  -- the system, meaning the 7 

Purchasing Team, they would -- no, they would go back and  8 

-- so that’s not built in the system. 9 

   MS, LUCK:  So it can’t, it won’t stop you, 10 

it’s still a manual process that somebody -- 11 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 12 

   MR. HARGUN:  Instructions that it be 13 

tendered.  That somebody would check that it was tendered 14 

before a payment was made and if a Cabinet Consent was 15 

required -- 16 

   MS. HASSELL:  Huh-huh. 17 

   MR. HARGUN:  -- that somebody would be 18 

satisfied that the -- 19 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 20 

   MR. HARGUN:  -- that Cabinet Consent had 21 

been given before payment was made? 22 

   MS. HASSELL:  Huh-huh, huh-huh. 23 

BY MR HARGUN: 24 

  Q And I don’t know whether you can help us, I 25 
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mean I see --- 1 

  A I’m not sure. 2 

    Q  --- in relation to the provision which you 3 

have shown us, which I did look at. 4 

  A Huh-huh. 5 

  Q They’re obviously quite helpful because they 6 

show that you can’t pay unless the services have been 7 

rendered, but they don’t seem to deal with the question as 8 

to whether tender was made and whether Cabinet has given 9 

consent. 10 

   Can you help us on that? 11 

  A Um -- 12 

  Q I mean -- 13 

  A -- in regards to? 14 

  Q -- we’re trying to understand, this is prior 15 

to 2011, how was it checked by either your department, or 16 

the Accountant General’s Department that say, for example, 17 

Cabinet Consent had been obtained in relation to -- 18 

  A You mean the Finance and Admin Department? 19 

  Q Yes. 20 

  A Yes. 21 

   There was a weakness I must admit.  It 22 

showed up in our Internal Audit. 23 

  Q So let me understand and it may well be, if 24 

you don’t know, just say so please, Ms. Hassell. 25 
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  A Huh-huh. 1 

  Q I mean is it the case that even in relation 2 

to contracts in excess of $50,000.00, say a construction 3 

contract for $2 million dollars. 4 

  A Huh-huh. 5 

  Q Which clearly would require you couldn’t do 6 

it without a tender. 7 

  A Huh-huh. 8 

  Q And clearly would require consent of the 9 

Cabinet? 10 

  A Yes. 11 

  Q Before it’s entered into. 12 

   Now, the question really is, was there in 13 

place a control mechanism, financial control mechanism 14 

which insured that before a payment was made in respect of 15 

that contract, somebody had to check whether a tender had 16 

been made and whether Cabinet Consent had been obtained? 17 

  A Yes.  18 

  Q And who was it? 19 

  A No, no.  I wasn’t saying yes. 20 

  Q All right. 21 

  A In that context. 22 

   The Management Accountant was responsible 23 

and she followed what was in Financial Instructions 24 

basically. 25 
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  Q So I mean let’s -- 1 

  A She was responsible for checking the 2 

payment, or not she, but whoever. 3 

  Q Yes. 4 

  A Was responsible for checking the payments 5 

and that was not one of her requirements at the time. 6 

  Q Are we to understand that prior to 2011, 7 

there was no requirement that that be checked before 8 

payment was made? 9 

  A I can’t say what date, but no, not by the 10 

Accountant. 11 

  Q Okay. 12 

   Well what I think does bear -- these are the 13 

payment regulations and I’m looking at 9.5 of -- 14 

  A Huh-huh. 15 

  Q -- Document A-4. 16 

   One of the requirements is that before a 17 

payment is made, there must be a copy of the relevant 18 

contract. 19 

  A Yes. 20 

  Q What I think could be said is that there is 21 

no checking at this stage as to whether there should or 22 

should not have been a contract or whether it was a valid 23 

contract? 24 

  A Huh-huh. 25 
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  Q And that would come at the area stage on the 1 

assumption that it ought to be a valid contract -- 2 

  A Yes. 3 

  Q -- and you, Purchasing proceeded on that 4 

basis? 5 

  A Yeah, and that’s exactly what these, they 6 

would insure that there was a contract, which is actually 7 

listed in Financial Instructions. 8 

  Q So the check mechanism is that one is not 9 

supposed to enter into a contract unless Capital Approval 10 

has been obtained, say for a $2 million dollar contract, 11 

that would be the check? 12 

  A Then, now or then? 13 

  Q No. 14 

   I mean -- yes, so for purposes of making 15 

payments -- 16 

  A Huh-huh. 17 

  Q -- the only thing you look for is the -- 18 

  A The contract. 19 

  Q -- the contract? 20 

  A The contract, correct. 21 

  Q I suppose a separate question would arise if 22 

there was a forged contract or something of that sort, if a 23 

document was put before the Purchasing Officer which looked 24 

like a contract, but wasn’t, yes, but that would be 25 
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something different.  Apart from that, the system will see 1 

that you’ve got to the contract stage and from then on, the 2 

payment, depending on that contract is -- 3 

  A Yes, and the rendering of services. 4 

   Once the Technical Officer identified that 5 

the service was complete, you know, you have to make, we 6 

had to make a payment. 7 

  Q Yes. 8 

   Just to make it clear, I mean you looked at 9 

the contract, you did not look at, as to whether, when the 10 

contract was entered into, all the Financial Instruction 11 

had been complied with for the purposes of entering into 12 

the contract? 13 

  A Can you repeat that, please? 14 

  Q Sorry. 15 

   Obviously, before you made any payment under 16 

a contract -- 17 

  A Huh-huh. 18 

  Q -- say a construction contract. 19 

  A Huh-huh. 20 

  Q You looked at the contract? 21 

  A Yes. 22 

  Q Forget construction contract, because you’d 23 

be quite happy with Architect’s Certificates, but -- 24 

  A Yes. 25 
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  Q -- ordinary contract for purchase of goods, 1 

say a million dollars? 2 

  A Huh-huh. 3 

  Q All you would look at would be a contract -- 4 

  A Yes. 5 

  Q -- which -- between the Government and the 6 

Supplier? 7 

  A Yes. 8 

  Q And that’s all and the question I was 9 

citing, you would not go beyond that, you would not go and 10 

look whether Cabinet had approved the entry into that 11 

contract? 12 

  A No. 13 

  Q No. 14 

   A Not at that time. 15 

  Q Can I just follow that up slightly? 16 

   Did you ever know in the case, a case in the 17 

course of your experience where the Payment Officer -- 18 

  A Huh-huh. 19 

  Q -- queried the contract? 20 

   In other words, the Payment Officer looked 21 

at the contract and then came to you or somebody senior and 22 

said I don’t like the look of this, or there’s something 23 

wrong here or queried? 24 

  A I cannot recall. 25 
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  Q No? 1 

  A Yeah, no one. 2 

  Q Do you know and if you don’t, please say so. 3 

  A Huh-huh. 4 

  Q Whether the Accountant General -- 5 

   MS. MEMARI:  Has to confirm -- 6 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 7 

   MS. MEMARI:  -- it exits? 8 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes, but it’s managed by the 9 

Purchasing Team. 10 

   MR BRADSHAW:  When somebody’s putting 11 

information into the system. 12 

   MS. HASSELL:  Huh-huh. 13 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Like putting in the Cabinet 14 

number or Cabinet Conclusion number or what have you, is 15 

the system recording whose putting that information in, 16 

who’s putting it into the -- 17 

   MS. HASSELL:  I’m sure it’s the background, 18 

but it doesn’t really -- I mean, if you go in the system, 19 

it actually has a trail on who touched the document, who 20 

approved the document. 21 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Okay. 22 

   MS. HASSELL:  So if I go in, I want to see 23 

if the Manager approved it before I approved it, then I can 24 

go in and it would show me that he approved the -- 25 
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   MR BRADSHAW: So you can go and research and 1 

say oh, I don’t remember, it’s been, however  2 

-- it’s been a year -- 3 

   MS. HASSELL:  Huh-huh. 4 

   MR BRADSHAW:  -- so I can go back and say 5 

ah, this is who put that information in? 6 

   MS. HASSELL:  You can see the approvals. I 7 

don’t know if you can see the input. 8 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Okay. 9 

   MS. HASSELL:  I mean, maybe on the backside, 10 

but -- or I just hadn’t figured out how to -- how to work 11 

that side of it. 12 

   MS. MLUCK:  Can I just ask? 13 

   MR. HARGUN:  Sure. 14 

   MS. LUCK:  So when we describe Operations 15 

Manager. 16 

   MS. HASSELL:  Huh-huh. 17 

   MS. LUCK:  Who is that person? 18 

   MS. HASSELL:  That’s the -- that’s the -- 19 

Okay, so we have various the Departments and then we have 20 

various sections. 21 

   So the Departments are, they were at the 22 

time Operations and Engineering; it was -- and Buildings 23 

of, something like that, or the Architects. 24 

   So the Operations, meaning the, you know, it 25 
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could be a Mechanic requesting something or a Building 1 

Superintendent.  Most times the Operations Managers are the 2 

-- are the Section Heads or, yeah, like the Section Heads 3 

are, like the principal, hire the Engineer or the  4 

-- it could be the Chief, the State Surveyor or the 5 

Building Manager. 6 

   MS. LUCK:  And in a large project for a 7 

building, that would be the Architect? 8 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 9 

   MS. LUCK:  Thank you. 10 

BY MR HARGUN: 11 

  Q And under the new system, let’s say that the 12 

contract required Cabinet approval because it’s a million 13 

dollar contract. 14 

  A Huh-huh. 15 

  Q And you don’t have the number, but you can 16 

input the Cabinet Conclusion. 17 

  A Right. 18 

  Q Is it possible to make the payment? 19 

  A We most times would get the Cabinet 20 

Conclusion.  Sometimes the numbers take a bit of time to 21 

get back. 22 

   So our -- our -- The PS would normally say 23 

this was approved and he’ll give you the details. 24 

  Q Okay. 25 
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  A Of who, which contract was -- I mean, the 1 

vendor that was approved. 2 

  Q But that is something which has to be 3 

tickled in the system before payment can be made? 4 

  A No, the -- it’s -- That’s where the 5 

Purchasing Manager comes in.  They have their checklist, 6 

which is manual, outside of the system. 7 

  Q And does that require checking whether 8 

Cabinet Approval had been given? 9 

  A Oh yes. 10 

  Q Okay. 11 

  A Yes. 12 

  Q All right. 13 

   I think further questions – Ms Memari was 14 

asking, just ---  15 

     CHAIRMAN:   Yes, of course. 16 

  Go ahead. 17 

   MS. MEMARI:  Ms. Hassell, just to assist the 18 

Commission, you had pointed to Financial Instructions 9.5.  19 

I’m sorry, I don’t have the same binder as the Commission  20 

-- 21 

   MR. HARGUN:  2009, which instructions? 22 

   MS. MEMARI:  Well, 2008, I believe she spoke 23 

to paragraph 9.5. 24 

   MR. HARGUN:  Yes. 25 
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   MS. MEMARI:  Of 2008 version. 1 

   So just to assist the Commission for the 2 

sake of completeness, that was changed in 2009? 3 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 4 

   MR. HARGUN:  That’s in your witness 5 

statement. 6 

   MS. MEMARI:  Right, okay. 7 

   I just wanted to make sure that that was in 8 

this -- 9 

   MR. HARGUN:  In fact, I was going to point 10 

that out to you, Ms. Hassell, just to make it complete. If 11 

you look at your witness statement. 12 

   MS. HASSELL:  Huh-huh. 13 

   MR. HARGUN:  You do refer to the position in 14 

2008 and then in paragraph 9, do you have your witness 15 

statement? 16 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 17 

   MR. HARGUN:  See, in Paragraph 9 you say, 18 

“Payment detail is important in order to determine which 19 

version of Financial Instruction was applicable at the 20 

time. 21 

   MS. HASSELL:  Huh-huh. 22 

   MR. HARGUN:  The 2009 version was 23 

implemented on the 31st of December 2009 and incorporates 24 

the requirement for a Cabinet Conclusion or a Cabinet 25 
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Conclusion number. 1 

   MS. HASSELL:  Huh-huh. 2 

   MR. HARGUN:  As supporting documentation and 3 

that’s Section 9.5.2 of the 2009 Financial Instructions. 4 

   This was not included in the 2008 Financial 5 

Instructions, thus only payments processed during the 6 

latter part of the fiscal year 2009/2010, 1st of January 7 

2010 to the 31st of March 2010 required a reference to 8 

Cabinet Approval. 9 

   So the position, as I understand your 10 

witness statement, seems to be that after 2009 Cabinet 11 

Conclusion would be required? 12 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 13 

   MR. HARGUN:  Okay, thank you. 14 

   MS. HASSELL:  Thank you. 15 

BY MR HARGUN: 16 

  Q In that case then, can I just ask you a few 17 

questions in relation to -- in relation to the specific 18 

contracts? 19 

   You referred to at Paragraph 18, Renovations 20 

in the Department of Human Resources. 21 

  A Huh-huh. 22 

  Q And you say, under -- at Paragraph 21, you 23 

said “I refer to my earlier statement regarding that you 24 

didn’t have any direct involvement with the tendering 25 
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process”. 1 

   If you remember -- 2 

  A Yes. 3 

  Q -- that was a contract where -- which 4 

reasonably substantial, about seven fifty -- 5 

  A Huh-huh. 6 

  Q -- which ordinarily would have required 7 

Cabinet Approval. 8 

  A Huh-huh. 9 

  Q And also ordinarily would have required a 10 

tender process and there was a degree of confusion as to 11 

whether the authority rested with the Permanent Secretary 12 

of the Works and Engineering, or whether the Head of the 13 

Cabinet, do you remember? 14 

  A Yes. 15 

  Q And it’s in that context it was said that 16 

the Financial Instructions on the PFA 2002 requirement had  17 

not been met and you say, having reviewed PFA 2002 in 18 

preparation for making this witness statement and based on 19 

my general recollections regarding certain urgency 20 

surrounding the project, in hindsight, I have considered 21 

whether Section 6.11 of PFA 2002 may have applied.  I 22 

cannot provide any additional information save for my 23 

additional documents in which you set out. 24 

   And presumably now under the new system -- 25 
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  A Huh-huh. 1 

  Q -- it would not be possible to make payments 2 

or would it still be possible to make payments in relation 3 

to that contract? 4 

  A If in the sense where there was no -- 5 

  Q There was no Cabinet Approval. 6 

  A Right. 7 

  Q And there was no tender. 8 

  A Right. 9 

   In the process now, it would -- it -- I 10 

don’t think it would have got that far. 11 

  Q No. 12 

     And -- 13 

  A But if they had a contract and it did get 14 

that far, I mean you have to make payment because you’ve 15 

been provided with the service, I’m sure there would be a  16 

-- 17 

  Q Yes. 18 

  A Yeah. 19 

  Q But I mean in this case and you have to tell 20 

me whether the system would allow you to do it. 21 

   In this case, you would not be allowed to 22 

confirm (one), that there was a tendering process? 23 

  A Right. 24 

  Q And you would not be able to confirm that 25 
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the Cabinet approved it? 1 

  A You mean before twenty -- 2 

  Q I mean -- let’s assume -- 3 

 A Oh, you mean that wasn’t available? 4 

 Q Let’s assume that this is a contract, what  5 

happened in relation to the renovations, although it  6 

happened around 2010. 7 

 A 2010. 8 

 Q Let’s assume that it was happening today. 9 

 A Okay. 10 

 Q The same scenario where there’s a degree of  11 

confusion as to who is in charge, but it’s a project which  12 

has cost around a million dollars or slightly less, but no  13 

tender and no Cabinet Approval. 14 

  Would the system allow you to make payments? 15 

 A So they would have attempted to, they would  16 

attempt to prepare a Purchase Order and that’s when it  17 

would be recognized that the tender and Cabinet Conclusion  18 

was not available. 19 

Q Right. 20 

  They might assume in relation to the  21 

Central Laboratory Building, do you remember that was the,  22 

that was a payment to the Canadian Architects for close to 23 

a million dollars. 24 

 A Huh-huh. 25 
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 Q But leave aside the issues of whether tender  1 

was required, but certainly, there was no Cabinet approval? 2 

 A Right. 3 

 Q Presumably likewise, if that happened today,  4 

that would be picked up at the earliest point? 5 

 A Yes and we would catch it early and we would  6 

inform the Accountant General of the infringement. 7 

 Q Okay. 8 

  CHAIRMAN:  Then you also deal with the – to pick 9 

up your phrase, did you say, we’d catch it early? 10 

 A Well, if they -- 11 

 Q Were those aware to you? 12 

 A Oh, yes.  13 

  We would catch that there was no -- 14 

 Q That there’d be a snag, that you’d catch it? 15 

 A -- (interrupts) -- no tender, there was no  16 

Cabinet Conclusion. 17 

  We would catch it at the PO stage instead of  18 

the payment stage. 19 

 Q Thank you. 20 

  Because that’s when the check is made? 21 

 A Yes. 22 

 Q At the Purchase Order stage? 23 

 A Well, the Purchase Order is when they  24 

initially come and we basically -- The Purchase Order  25 
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stage is when we commit the money.  The money is committed  1 

in the Government system. 2 

 Q Right. 3 

 A And then all the details of the -- of the  4 

Contract or goods and services provided are actually in the  5 

system.   6 

  The payment is made after that. 7 

 Q Sure. 8 

 A Yeah. 9 

 Q Okay. 10 

  And just one -- 11 

 A After the process. 12 

 Q Yes. 13 

  Just one point in relation to this purchase  14 

of sand and rock. 15 

 A Huh-huh. 16 

 Q I see that you have exhibited, said in here,  17 

just to get the context.   18 

    You say that this is -- this is the issue of  19 

ordering rock and sand.  Historically as I understand, it’s  20 

been done with East End Asphalt and in relation to this  21 

particular contract, it was with a company called Harmony,  22 

Harmony Holdings. 23 

  You referred to an email, Ms. Hassell, at  24 

Page 78 of the documents which are exhibited in your  25 
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witness statements you produced. 1 

 A Page 78? 2 

 Q Page, yeah, Page 78. 3 

  Did you have that? 4 

 A No. 5 

 Q If you go to your binder. 6 

  Do you have your binder? 7 

 A This binder here? 8 

 Q Yes. 9 

   A Okay.   10 

 Q At the top, 12. 11 

 A Huh-huh. 12 

 Q 12, at the top. 13 

  Oh, it’s Tab 18. 14 

 A 18, yeah. 15 

 Q Tab 18 of your witness statements, yes. 16 

  It’s pretty much at the end, it’s the  17 

pronouncement page in that binder, in that tab. 18 

 A Seven -- okay. 19 

 Q It’s an email sent to you from Vic Ball to  20 

you. 21 

  Do you see that? 22 

 A Yes. 23 

 Q And it’s dated August the 29th, 2011. 24 

 A Huh-huh. 25 
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 Q And that relates to the contract to supply  1 

rock and sand by Harmony Holdings. 2 

 A Huh-huh. 3 

 Q Yeah? 4 

 A Yeah. 5 

  Q You’ve got the wrong page.   6 

 A Yes --- that page --- 7 

 Q That’s the page I think you should be  8 

looking at. 9 

 A You said 78, correct? 10 

 Q Yeah, 78. 11 

 A Okay. 12 

 Q You have produced that. 13 

  MS. MEMARI:  I beg your pardon for an  14 

interjection, but our version goes as far as Page 62. 15 

  MR. HARGUN:  I think it’s been renumbered. 16 

  Are you looking at the right, the same --  17 

this email? 18 

  MS. MEMARI:  I beg your pardon?  19 

  MR BARRITT:  In your version, I think it’s  20 

61. 21 

  MS. MEMARI:  Yes.   22 

  MR. HARGUN:  Can we identify the document? 23 

  MS. HASSELL:  The same --- 24 

  MR. HARGUN:  It’s the document, it’s an  25 
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email from Vic --- Victor Ball to Thomasina Hassell of  1 

August 29, 2011 sent at 3:20 p.m., yes. 2 

  MS. HASSELL:  Okay. 3 

  This is not related to the information in  4 

the witness bundle, right? 5 

  MR. HARGUN:  Well, if you look at your  6 

Witness statement. 7 

  MS. HASSELL:  Huh-huh. 8 

  MR. HARGUN:  If you look at the purchase of  9 

sand and rock, right? 10 

  MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 11 

  I think this is after the fact.  I don’t  12 

think it’s the same purchase because if we look at the --  13 

the information in my witness bundle? 14 

  MR. HARGUN:  Yes. 15 

  MS. HASSELL:  It’s 2009.  I think I might  16 

have quote this just as a reference. 17 

  MR. HARGUN:  Yes, well -- 18 

  MS. HASSELL:  So go ahead. 19 

  MR. HARGUN:  Let me ask you -- 20 

  MS. HASSELL:  This is a different purchase  21 

than -- referred to in 2009, because this -- the sand and  22 

rock was actually purchased --- the one we refer to in my  23 

witness bundle, was actually made in 2009.  24 

  We made another purchase in 2011 and this is  25 
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the -- when we actually purchased it from oh, I describe it  1 

Nova Scotia.   2 

   I think we should go -- I suggest that we go  3 

with a direct quote from Nova Scotia Limited. 4 

  MR. HARGUN:  So -- 5 

  MS. HASSELL:  This is actually a separate  6 

purchase than the 2009. 7 

BY MR HARGUN: 8 

 Q That was a concern. 9 

 A Yes. 10 

 Q I mean I wanted confirmation as to whether  11 

it’s the same contract or a different contract. 12 

 A Yes. 13 

 Q So were there more than one purchases from  14 

Harmony Holdings? 15 

 A Not that I know of, no. 16 

 Q Well -- so did this result in a contract  17 

with Harmony Holdings, do you know? 18 

 A This 2011? 19 

 Q Yeah. 20 

 A No.  21 

  It says here, I suggest we go with a direct  22 

quote from Nova Scotia based on this email.   23 

   What happened afterwards? 24 

 Q Okay. 25 
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  Do I understand this was an attempted  1 

negotiation to enter into a contract but did not result in  2 

one? 3 

 A I cannot say, but based on this, it -- the  4 

suggestion -- 5 

 Q Okay. 6 

 A -- is that we go with Nova Scotia based on  7 

this. 8 

 Q All right, okay.  That’s fine. 9 

  Thank you very much. 10 

  Mr. Chairman, I don’t have any further  11 

questions from Ms. Hassell. 12 

  CHAIRMAN:   Ms. Memari, do you have any  13 

questions? 14 

  MS. MEMARI:  No, thank you. 15 

  CHAIRMAN:   Thank you. 16 

  On the last matter, as I understand  17 

it, we’ve been told previously about a purchase which was  18 

made in 2009.  There’s a document here relating to 2011 and  19 

Ms. Hassell, you’re saying that that was a separate matter  20 

from obviously before 2009? 21 

  MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 22 

  I think I was just referring to --- that, I  23 

don’t --- that document I was referring to what occurred  24 

next. 25 
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  CHAIRMAN:   Sorry? 1 

  MS. HASSELL:  That document has nothing to  2 

do with 2009. 3 

  CHAIRMAN:   ’09, thank you. 4 

  MR. BARRITT:  Ms. Hassell, just a few  5 

questions, if I may, but first of all, I want to say, I  6 

think the whole Commission feels this way, we’re very  7 

appreciative of the work you’ve done today presenting these  8 

flow charts, they really do help, thank you.  9 

  MS. HASSELL:  Thank you. 10 

  MR. BARRITT:  I want to ask this question  11 

with respect to Paragraph 13 of your statement where you  12 

said, “I cannot comment on the specific processes followed  13 

by persons in the Accountant General’s Department during 14 

the fiscal years of 2010, 2011 and 2012, because you were  15 

not in that Department”.  16 

   MS. HASSELL:  Huh-huh. 17 

   MR. BARRITT:  “I can, however, recall some 18 

instances during those years when invoices were sent back 19 

from the Accountant General’s Department for further 20 

supporting detail, such as a photocopy of the contract” and 21 

I think you said that? 22 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 23 

   MR. BARRITT:  When you were talking about 24 

that. 25 
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   In your recollection as well, would things 1 

actually stop if those photocopied contracts were not 2 

supplied? 3 

   MS. HASSELL:  Not that I can recall. 4 

   MR. BARRITT:  Not necessarily? 5 

   MS. HASSELL:  No. 6 

   MR. BARRITT:  Would things proceed if there 7 

was a representation or promise, I’ll get the documents to 8 

you at some stage? 9 

   MS. HASSELL:  Not that I can recall. 10 

   MR. BARRITT:  Not that you can recall, okay. 11 

   The other question -- oh, and one other 12 

thing you mentioned about there was this spotted weakness 13 

in the system. 14 

   MS. HASSELL:  Huh-huh. 15 

   MR. BARRITT:  And you made reference to 16 

there was an Internal Audit done? 17 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes, we had one. 18 

   MR. BARRITT:  Was there a report generated?  19 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 20 

   MR. BARRITT:  From that? 21 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 22 

   MR. BARRITT:  Are we able to get a copy of 23 

that, do you think? 24 

   MS. HASSELL:  Um -- I guess you’d have to 25 
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ask the Internal Auditor. 1 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 2 

   MS. HASSELL:  It’s their documents. 3 

   MR. BARRITT:  It’s not one that you have at 4 

your fingertips? 5 

   MS. HASSELL:  I could possibly find it, but 6 

-- 7 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 8 

   We’ll -- 9 

   MS. HASSELL:  -- it would probably best to 10 

get it from them. 11 

   MR. BARRITT:  -- that answers -- I 12 

appreciate that, that’s helpful. 13 

   MS. HASSELL:  There were a few, so -- 14 

   MR. BARRITT:  There were a few? 15 

   MS. HASSELL:  You know, we’ve had a few 16 

audits. 17 

   MR. BARRITT:  Internal? 18 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 19 

   MR. BARRITT:  Yeah, okay. 20 

   Fair enough. 21 

   MS. MEMARI:  Mr. Barritt, my real assistance 22 

only, it’s not that she’s being difficult. 23 

   MR. BARRITT:  Oh, I know -- 24 

   MS. MEMARI:  Internal audit reports are 25 
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confidential. 1 

   So I think any documents that you wish to 2 

procure from them is to -- is best to ask for their record. 3 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 4 

   I don’t -- 5 

   MR. MEMARI:  Not the witnesses. 6 

   MR. BARRITT:  -- I don’t think you’re being 7 

difficult. 8 

   MS. HASSELL:  Okay. 9 

   MR. BARRITT:  I don’t think, let me say I 10 

think exceedingly helpful, thank you. 11 

   MS. HASSELL:  Okay. 12 

   MR. BARRITT:  And the other thing you were 13 

exceedingly helpful on and I think this is important too. 14 

   Paragraph 14 of your witness statement where 15 

we asked you about the delegation of authority for capital 16 

projects from Works and Engineering to other Departments. 17 

   MS. HASSELL:  Huh-huh. 18 

   MR. BARRITT:  And you referred us to Section 19 

12.1.1 of the Financial Instruction which provides for 20 

delegation for capital acquisitions and they can only be 21 

from designated Accounting Officer to another Government 22 

employee with the expressed written authority of the 23 

Financial Secretary. 24 

   MS. HASSELL:  Okay. 25 
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   MR. BARRITT:  That is the -- that is the 1 

practice, that is what one would expect to see where there 2 

is a delegation of authority, something in writing from the 3 

FS? 4 

   MS. HASSELL:  Okay. 5 

   MR. BARRITT:  Yes? 6 

   MS. HASSELL:  Are you asking me, oh, I’m 7 

sorry. 8 

   MR. BARRITT:  Yes, I’m getting you to 9 

confirm? 10 

   MS. HASSELL:  Oh, I’m not involved in this 11 

process, I just did research.  I did research.  I wasn’t in 12 

-- I wouldn’t be involved in delegating of responsibility. 13 

    MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 14 

   You can’t say from your experience? 15 

   MS. HASSELL:  No, no. 16 

   MR. BARRITT:  That you -- 17 

   MS. HASSELL:  This stuff is research that I 18 

actually -- 19 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 20 

   Looking at the Financial Instructions? 21 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yes. 22 

   MR. BARRITT:  You can’t say you’ve ever seen 23 

that written authority from a FS? 24 

   MS. HASSELL:  No, no. 25 
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   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 1 

   And so the same would apply then with 2 

respect to your comments that follow.  That was all based 3 

on your research as well? 4 

   MS. HASSELL:  Yeah, that was on my research, 5 

I -- 6 

   MR. BARRITT:  As opposed to your actual 7 

experience? 8 

   MS. HASSELL:  I actually -- yeah, my first 9 

sentence, I cannot comment because I’m not, you know, I 10 

wasn’t -- I’m not involved in that process. 11 

   MR. BARRITT:  Right and I thought maybe you 12 

were drawing upon your experience? 13 

   MS. HASSELL:  Oh no, no, it was from the -- 14 

   MR. BARRITT:  That’s fine. 15 

   MS. HASSELL:  -- from the documents. 16 

   MR. BARRITT:  I won’t press. 17 

   Thank you very much. 18 

   CHAIRMAN:  We have no more questions. 19 

   Ms. Hassell, I’ll let go what Mr. Barritt 20 

has said.  We’re most grateful to you.  You’ve been most 21 

helpful with this and as I say, we’re very grateful. 22 

   MS. HASSELL:  Thank you. 23 

   MR. BARRITT:  Thank you very much. 24 

   MR. HARGUN:  Mr. Chairman, I thought whether 25 
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you would like to morning break at this time?  1 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes, about the right time. 2 

   MR. HARGUN:  A short witness. 3 

   CHAIRMAN:   And the next witness is Mr. 4 

Chatergoon. 5 

   We’ll break until 25 till 12:00, thank you. 6 

   (Witness excused.) 7 

(Recess taken)  (Recess ended) 8 

   CHAIRMAN:   Silence please. 9 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  I Anil Chatergoon, I do 10 

solemnly and sincerely affirm that the evidence I shall 11 

give shall be the truth, the whole truth and nothing but 12 

the truth. 13 

 14 

ANIL CHATERGOON, 15 

having been duly called and affirmed 16 

was examined and testified as follows: 17 

 18 

   MR. HARGUN:  Good morning Mr. Chatergoon. 19 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Good morning Mr. Hargun. 20 

 21 

EXAMINATION 22 

 BY MR. HARGUN: 23 

    Q My name is Narinder Hargun, and I’ll be 24 

asking you, happy to say a very few questions because most 25 
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of them have been answered by Ms. Hassell, but I do still 1 

have questions for you. 2 

  A Sure. 3 

  Q You very kindly prepared a witness statement 4 

which you signed on the 28th of September 2016. 5 

   Do you have a copy of that? 6 

  A Yes, I do. 7 

  Q And can you just for me confirm that the 8 

statement that you have made in your witness statements are 9 

correct? 10 

  A Yes, I can confirm that. 11 

  Q Thank you. 12 

   Just on a high level, we’re dealing with the 13 

position prior to 2011 because we’re concerned with those 14 

contracts. 15 

   You deal in a few paragraphs in relation to 16 

processing of payments. 17 

    So just at a very high level, when you are 18 

processing those payments and you are considering whether 19 

those payments should be made and you’re making checks to 20 

make sure that only appropriate payments are made, do you 21 

actually -- were you actually looking at, as to whether the 22 

Financial Instructions, which led to the making of that 23 

contract were complied with? 24 

  A Could you just repeat the last -- 25 
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  Q Sure. 1 

  A -- the last question. 2 

  Q Let me ask you, well let me you ask you 3 

specifically. 4 

   In relation to some contracts, you require, 5 

for example, a tender, in relation to contracts in excess 6 

of $50,000.00 and you also require Cabinet approval, yes? 7 

  A Yeah, that is correct. 8 

  Q And, obviously, if they have been given, a 9 

contract is entered into, yes? 10 

  A Yes. 11 

  Q As I understand it, it would not be unusual 12 

if you were making a payment under that contract to ask for 13 

a copy of that contract? 14 

  A Yes. 15 

  Q Yes. 16 

   But would you go a step further when you’re 17 

processing the payments to ask to see whether there was a 18 

tender or whether there was Cabinet approval? 19 

  A Yes, and also that would be predicated on 20 

the fact that the signature, that the signature on the 21 

Certification Stamp also reflects that the Authorized 22 

Managers, the Personal Manager, System Director, whoever’s 23 

in that capacity signs on that Certification Stamp also 24 

does the similar checks and I know that is referred to in 25 
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Financial Instructions as to the responsibility, if I can 1 

just -- may I? 2 

  Q Sure.  Yes, of course. 3 

  A So it’s 9.4. 4 

  Q 9.4? 5 

  A Financial Instructions, and just referring 6 

to 2009, but it also lists there the responsibility of the 7 

Authorized Officers in terms of confirming that the 8 

appropriate documentation is made, similarly as you 9 

referred to in that check and that would be at the payment 10 

stage.  11 

   You have asked whether I would also request 12 

to see such documentation, I may not request to see the 13 

decisions of the Panel or so on because that would be 14 

incorporated in the Cabinet Conclusion number. 15 

  Q Yes. 16 

  A So at that point in time, I would be looking 17 

at the Cabinet Conclusion number, signed contract and so 18 

on. 19 

  Q Thank you. 20 

   So, I mean we just actually saw that. 21 

   I understand in 2008, such a requirement did 22 

not exist.  In 2009 it was changed to provide for that? 23 

  A Yes, just for the payments as in 9.5.2. 24 

  Q Yes. 25 
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  A Yes. 1 

  Q So that I have it right, you would, in 2 

relation to those contracts be looking for not only the 3 

existence of a contract properly signed, but also a 4 

reference to Cabinet Conclusion? 5 

  A Yes. 6 

  Q Thank you. 7 

   In relation to Consultancy Contracts, as I 8 

understand it under Financial Instruction 10.4.3, it 9 

required the approval of the Cabinet Secretary, Consultancy 10 

Contracts. 11 

  A Right. 12 

  Q I mean do you, in your experience in 13 

relation to payments under Consultancy Contracts, do you 14 

look for some evidence that the Cabinet Secretary has 15 

consented to it? 16 

  A I -- I’m not -- I’m not -- I don’t have in 17 

front of me, the exact 10.4.3, but I do vaguely recall that 18 

there’s a portion related in there for Consultancy 19 

Employment Contracts as a person, if it was a Consultant as 20 

opposed to say a Vendor employee that performed consultancy 21 

services. 22 

  Q Let’s have a look at that. 23 

   If you’d go to Binder A, and if you look at 24 

Binder A, Tab 5, back up 10.4.3. 25 
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  A (Perusing documents.) 1 

  Q It’s 10.4.2. 2 

   Do you see that it deals with Consultants? 3 

  A Yes. 4 

  Q It says the section applies to self-employed 5 

individuals, both local and foreign who perform Government 6 

duties and free -- fee for these services.   7 

  A Oh, I see.  Yeah. 8 

  Q You’re saying that it’s only dealing with 9 

self-employed individuals? 10 

  A Yeah, and I think it’s also clarified in 11 

10.4.5, when it says the contract, the contract must 12 

require the Consultancy Register with the appropriate 13 

territory -- 14 

  Q (Interrupts) I see. 15 

   For example, it would not relate to a 16 

corporate entity providing Consultancy Services? 17 

  A No, because that would be a corporate entity 18 

body that would be registered on its own remit as opposed 19 

to separately. 20 

  Q And that would be dealt with just like any 21 

other ordinary contract, would it? 22 

  A Say it -- 23 

  Q That would be dealt with like any other 24 

ordinary contract? 25 
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  A Yes, yes. 1 

    Like a contract for business services that 2 

would go through the Cabinet proceedings and so on, yes, 3 

yes. 4 

  Q Good, thank you. 5 

   Thank you very much.  I don’t have any 6 

further questions. 7 

   MS. LUCK:  Thank you. 8 

   Could I just ask you a little bit about 9 

Financial Instructions, clearly very key to your role? 10 

   So when you joined the Civil Service, would 11 

you have specific financial instruction training, would it 12 

be on-the-job and has there been then additional financial 13 

instruction training during the course of your tenure? 14 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  It is always a mixture of 15 

both.  You know, there are things that, you know, that  16 

Financial Instructions would say, but there are some things 17 

with practice would also let --- you know, get me further 18 

insight. 19 

   In order to be signed on, into a group in 20 

any sort of thing or to process payments, to be specific in 21 

J.D. Edwards, I would have had to receive training and I 22 

would have to be signed off by an IT Officer within the 23 

Accountant General’s Department. 24 

   MS. LUCK:  So that was usually -- 25 
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   MR. CHATERGOON:  And that I did receive. 1 

   MS. LUCK:  And that was using the system  2 

-- 3 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  That was using the system. 4 

   MS. LUCK:  -- but at the same time you would 5 

be working -- 6 

   MR. CHATERGOON: I was also provided with the 7 

Financial Instructions which is part and package of any 8 

Officer with such responsibility and, I mean, I would have 9 

read them, but as I say, practice, you know, there are 10 

things in, you know, there are things as you go along.  You 11 

would then realize okay, I, you know, I need to pay close 12 

attention to this or it’s not exactly written, because it’s 13 

not -- its intent.  The intent is to capture good practice.      14 

You know, but there’s always besides intent, there’s also 15 

areas that you need to pay close attention to. 16 

   MS. LUCK:  And when there’s a change in 17 

Financial Instructions or when a new a Financial 18 

Instruction is rolled out, which, I mean we’ve got 19 

examples, 2008, ’09, ’11, ’13, how does that work? 20 

   So who announces that there’s a new 21 

Financial Instruction and then whose role is it to make 22 

sure it’s in effect, cascaded through Civil Service? 23 

    MR. CHATERGOON:  Sure. 24 

   The Financial Instructions are issued under 25 
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the aegis of the Minister of Finance.  The Accountant 1 

General is the person who has this sort of responsibility 2 

in the Department -- and I’m not speaking for a Department 3 

for which I’m not into, so I just wanted to be clear --  4 

would issue the updated Financial Instructions. Financial 5 

Controllers and Accounting Officers would then ensure that 6 

persons within their remit who would have, need to have 7 

access to it or would be using Financial Instructions and 8 

everyday would be aware.  To guide is usually the last page 9 

of the Financial Instructions that’s usually in one page 10 

succinctly talks about the different changes from one to 11 

the other and that’s what we know is very helpful.  As you 12 

can tell the Financial Instructions themselves are, you 13 

know, their/they’re bundle, and they record. 14 

   So that usually helps in terms of guiding 15 

what has actually changed. 16 

   MR BRADSHAW:  So you got to learn -- what 17 

you do, is you basically go the last page -- I mean --  18 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  (Interrupts)  Yes, you 19 

usually go to the last page.  I mean, bearing in mind there 20 

are also, you know, meetings with Controllers and so on. 21 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Okay. 22 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Including the Accountant 23 

General at that time, you know, any changes and revisions 24 

would be discussed. 25 
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   As I said, it was -- it’s a working 1 

document.  So, based on experience, we may suggest to the 2 

Accountant General that a particular item that is being 3 

used say five years ago, it’s not applicable. 4 

   Say, for instance, the on-line arena, just 5 

to give an example, things like that, you might say, well 6 

this is not applicable then, and we’ll make a change to it. 7 

   A good example would be, for instance, 8 

changeover from J.D. Edwards, as you heard into Enterprise 9 

1.  It’s something that might have a physical paper trail, 10 

might be within the system that needs to be updated. 11 

   MR BRADSHAW:  So what I’m hearing from you 12 

is that there’s actually a process currently in place where 13 

folks who actually, on the front line so to speak, are able 14 

to then communicate potential improvements back up to the  15 

-- 16 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  We communicate, as 17 

Controllers, we communicate and Financial Officers, 18 

Accounting Officers and so on, we communicate with the 19 

Accountant General. 20 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Communicate internally as 21 

well? 22 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Yes, internally too. 23 

   What decisions -- what changes that, you 24 

know, expect to be made.   25 
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   At times there have been a draft issue for 1 

comment by the Accountant General. 2 

   MS. luck,:  Could I just ask another 3 

question on your witness statement? 4 

   You talk about specific contracts and we 5 

talk about Global Hue and you appropriately made the point 6 

that you actually only joined the Department after that 7 

contract was put in place. 8 

   However, there was then the Auditor 9 

General’s Report and there was subsequent discussion as we 10 

heard yesterday that we did eventually get all the invoices 11 

from the Cornerstone Media supporting the payments that 12 

were made and there was a reconciliation process. 13 

   Was that something that was -- that occurred 14 

during your tenure? 15 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  No. 16 

   When I came in, that contract had finished. 17 

It was finished, so I wouldn’t have been involved at all. 18 

   MS. luck:  You wouldn’t have been involved. 19 

   And then last question was, on the Ambling 20 

Contract, you talk about the fact, you noted that you had 21 

signed the contract for the Department of Tourism. 22 

   Were you aware that there were other 23 

separate contracts that were being signed for other 24 

Departments? 25 
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   MR. CHATERGOON:  No, I was not. 1 

   In fact, I think in the witness bundle where 2 

the Cabinet Conclusion and so on refers, I was sure that it 3 

was advanced by Cabinet and such in Tourism, I -- Until 4 

this, I saw this in the witness bundle, I have not seen 5 

that Cabinet Conclusion.   6 

     So I was not aware directly and it was 7 

signed, and that was done in 2008.  8 

   So I was not aware then that it was shared.  9 

I do know that -- I was aware that, you know, Tourism would 10 

have a portion of the contract, of the entire Cabinet 11 

Conclusion, but I wasn’t aware to the extent. 12 

   MS. luck:  Okay. 13 

   Thank you very much. 14 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  You’re welcome. 15 

   MS. MEMARI:  Just one point of 16 

clarification, please. 17 

   If I could ask you to turn to Tab 8, page 7 18 

of the Conclusion bundle? 19 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Yes.  Yes, I’m on there, 20 

yes. 21 

   MS. MEMARI:  Did you sign that contract or 22 

did you witness the signature of, the Director’s signature? 23 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  I witnessed the signature, 24 

the Director -- 25 
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   MS. MEMARI:  Thank you. 1 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  -- of the signed contract, 2 

yes. 3 

   MR. BARRITT:  I just want to clear up one 4 

thing, Mr. Chatergoon, good morning. 5 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Good morning. 6 

   MR. BARRITT:  Under your paragraph 6 of your 7 

witness statement, you did say under the heading of Global 8 

Hue, “I do recall that I processed payments in respect to 9 

the continued contract”, but when you said, it is finished, 10 

you meant the contract had been concluded, the renewal of 11 

it? 12 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Um --- it -- 13 

   MR. BARRITT:  You were still processing 14 

payments under it? 15 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  No. 16 

   Let me clarify. 17 

   The 2006 to 2009, which is the contract and 18 

included Cornerstone that had finished, payments had been 19 

processed. 20 

   The one I speak for is the renewal, the 2009 21 

contract to 2011. 22 

   MR. BARRITT:  And you were processing 23 

payments under that? 24 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Under that contract. 25 
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   MR. BARRITT:  Under that contract, okay. 1 

   Under -- in your Paragraph 4… Sorry to be 2 

going backwards, must be my training as a lawyer and I’m 3 

not an Accountant so bear with me. 4 

   In Paragraph 4 you say, “My understanding of 5 

the payment process followed by those in my Department was 6 

in accordance with Financial Instructions.  There is a 7 

distinction between the authorization of payments and the 8 

processing of payments”, that I understand. 9 

   The two -- if I -- listening to Ms. Hassell 10 

earlier, seem to marry under the new E1 system. 11 

   Is that a fair comment? 12 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  I -- I would say -- 13 

   MR. BARRITT:  There’s still two distinct 14 

things, but --       15 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  -- I would say there’s 16 

still two distinct things because I refer to the 17 

Certification Stamp where I speak about the authorization, 18 

but, if you look at the current Financial Instructions to 19 

this date, that has not gone away, it still exists.   20 

    So therefore, the -- I would say this 21 

process still exists. 22 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 23 

   And your role “as Financial Controller was 24 

to ensure that payment documents were submitted to the 25 
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Accountant General’s Department after being satisfied that 1 

the Authorized Officer had certified that work in 2 

accordance with the contract had been performed, that there 3 

was, in fact, an executed contract and that the submitted 4 

invoices accorded with the work performed”.  That’s 5 

certainly what’s expected. 6 

   Was that always the case in your experience, 7 

in terms of nothing went to the Accountant General’s 8 

Department under your watch unless it included everything 9 

that was required? 10 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Yes. 11 

   I’m not sure what “everything” would have 12 

included in the batches that went to the Accountant 13 

General.  The information was there.   14 

   There were times due to the voluminous 15 

nature of the contract where it would have been 16 

impracticable I would -- as you see, some of the contracts 17 

are quite, you know, wide scope in terms of storage and 18 

retrieval.  It became to a point where sometimes, we said 19 

look it, could you just give us, you know, a condensed 20 

version of the contract that showed that it was signed, but 21 

not the entire contract. 22 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 23 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  So we have gotten questions 24 

back sometimes saying well, you know, if you give just a 25 
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signed page, it doesn’t say when it starts. 1 

   So, and sometime you get a question from the 2 

Accountant General say, could you give us the first page, 3 

we want to make sure we’re paying the next contract and not 4 

the first one. 5 

   So items like that have occurred, but as far 6 

as I’m aware, all the documentation was there and at one 7 

point there was even a checklist and I think Ms. Hassell 8 

spoke a little bit about that to say that things were in 9 

place before the payments were submitted. 10 

   MR. BARRITT:  Yeah. 11 

   I’ve heard and read a little bit, you know, 12 

in evidence.  Well, it hasn’t come into evidence to the 13 

Commission yet, that on occasion there were representations 14 

to the Accountant General’s Department that oh, the 15 

documentation is not complete, we need to make payment now, 16 

it will follow.  Yeah, no? 17 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  No, no. 18 

   MR. BARRITT:  And if that happened, that 19 

would be bad practice? 20 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  It -- it would not be for 21 

me to process that. 22 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 23 

   But commenting generally, that would be 24 

unacceptable practice? 25 
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   MR. CHATERGOON:  I would agree with you 1 

that, you know, following Financial Instructions that which 2 

you spoke about is unacceptable. 3 

   MR. BARRITT:  All right. 4 

   Those are my questions, thank you. 5 

   CHAIRMAN:  Mr. Chatergoon, in your witness 6 

statement, you deal with the Ambling Contract, Paragraph 9, 7 

Paragraphs 9 through 13, and as I understood your answer to 8 

Ms. Memari, you were a witness? 9 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Yes. 10 

   CHAIRMAN:  But not a signatory of the 11 

renewal of that contract and that was in May 2010 and then 12 

you deal with payments that you processed under that 13 

contract -- renewed contract. 14 

   Is that right? 15 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Yes. 16 

   If you’re referring to Paragraph 11? 17 

   CHAIRMAN:  Yes. 18 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Okay, yes. 19 

   CHAIRMAN:  And I just wanted to ask you to 20 

expand on those. 21 

   Paragraph 11 you said, that when you were 22 

doing that processing of payments, you received 23 

certification from the Department of Tourism, quote, “that 24 

work had been performed”. 25 
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   What form would that certification take, 1 

would it tell you what the work was? 2 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Well, generally, the same 3 

certification that I spoke about, that would the Authorized 4 

Officer would be the person managing this contract who 5 

would necessarily certify that the work had been performed 6 

in conjunction with the contract which was executed. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:  Yes. 8 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  It depends and I cannot 9 

recollect without seeing the actual invoice here, but it 10 

would be expected that either this or documentation on the 11 

invoices say what the services are, or it may be as an 12 

attachment, but the Manager or the Assistant Director here, 13 

managing the contract would then certify that the work has 14 

been performed. 15 

      CHAIRMAN:  And I don’t want you to --- to 16 

catch you out on this. I’m going to take you to the next 17 

paragraph 12, you were asked what actual services Ambling 18 

provided and you say, “I am not aware of the actual 19 

services”. 20 

   So in Paragraph 11, you said, “I got 21 

certificate saying that work had been performed” and in 22 

Paragraph 12, you said, “I’m not aware what that work was”. 23 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Yeah, because I cannot 24 

recollect at this point in time what the actual services.  25 
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Now, I can look at the contract which I was a witness to 1 

which has schedule of the different services that Ambling 2 

would have performed. 3 

   I cannot recollect at this time of the 4 

actual services.  Those were intended services.  It may be 5 

that one of those line items did not occur and bear in mind 6 

that I have not seen after the fact, that it’s a contract 7 

with more than one Department, one or more than… Sorry, 8 

more than one Ministry.   9 

     So I cannot be, at this point, be absolutely 10 

aware of every service. 11 

   CHAIRMAN:  But do you see my problem which 12 

is why I’d like you to help me. 13 

   Part of the system was that you should 14 

receive a certificate quote that work had been performed. 15 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Sorry. 16 

   When you say “certificate”, what are you 17 

referring to? 18 

   CHAIRMAN:  Well, that’s going back to a 19 

paragraph that, “once I had received certification from the 20 

Department of Tourism”, quote, “that work had been 21 

performed”. 22 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Correct. 23 

   CHAIRMAN:  And if -- I’m really asking, I 24 

think, did that certificate simply say, I certify that work 25 
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in accordance with this contract has been done or did it 1 

say what the work was? 2 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Well, the certification I 3 

refer to is not a certificate in its true sense, but a 4 

Certification Stamp that refers that the Authorized Officer 5 

would have performed the due diligence and checks before 6 

signing off on the invoice. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:  Yes. 8 

   And is that why you were not aware, as you 9 

say in Paragraph 12 of the actual services? 10 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Correct. 11 

   Because the invoice may, at times, not have 12 

a detail of the actual services, but it’s been certified 13 

for payment. 14 

   CHAIRMAN:  So that’s -- It seems to be the 15 

situation. 16 

   There would be an invoice which didn’t 17 

specify the actual work done.  That invoice would be 18 

certified.  You would then make payment on that basis, but 19 

you would be ignorant what that work was? 20 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Well, at this point, not 21 

having sight of the actual invoices, I cannot say whether 22 

it did detail or did not detail. 23 

   CHAIRMAN:  Didn’t. 24 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  And so I --- Hense the 25 
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statement that I’m not aware of intimate details, but I -- 1 

without sight of the actual invoices, I cannot say what I 2 

didn’t -- invoices are sometimes -- 3 

   CHAIRMAN:  (Interrupts.) 4 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  -- submitted with 5 

descriptions, sometimes they’re submitted in detail.  I 6 

can’t recall at this point. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:  Well, I appreciate that and maybe 8 

we have the invoices and we can look at them ourselves, but 9 

looking back generally, you did this over a period of two 10 

years, was it, 2009 to 2011? 11 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Yes. 12 

   CHAIRMAN:  And do you have any general 13 

recollection of what kind of work Ambling were invoicing 14 

for? 15 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Um -- Just that it was 16 

consultancy services, that’s the general nature that I was 17 

aware of. 18 

   CHAIRMAN:  Just for consultancy services 19 

without saying consulting what? 20 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Yeah, I mean the -- I think 21 

the person who would have knowledge of this would be the 22 

person, the manager, would have dealt with the hotel 23 

development, who would have sat on the different Committees 24 

and so on. 25 
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   I don’t have -- I was not that person.     1 

   CHAIRMAN:  Well, just to take this one stage 2 

further and this doesn’t imply, I’m not necessarily 3 

implying a personal criticism of you, the system that you 4 

were operating then, didn’t put you in a position to know 5 

what the services had been? 6 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Without sight of it, I 7 

cannot say for this particular one, whether it was or it 8 

wasn’t. 9 

   I do -- I do recall other contracts with 10 

wide detail and I could remember, you know, the invoice 11 

would have the details.  I would see them, I would know -- 12 

   CHAIRMAN:  Yes. 13 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  -- I can’t remember for 14 

this particular one. 15 

   CHAIRMAN:  But in this particular contract, 16 

you don’t have any recollection of this -- 17 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  I don’t have recollection. 18 

   Without seeing invoice, I cannot -- I cannot 19 

-- 20 

   CHAIRMAN:  (Interrupts)  And so the reason 21 

may be that the invoices you processed or the certificates 22 

that you saw didn’t, in fact, make it clear what the 23 

services were? 24 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  I cannot -- I cannot 25 
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confirm that. 1 

   CHAIRMAN:  No. 2 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  I really can’t confirm 3 

that. 4 

   MR. BARRITT:  Can we ask you this question. 5 

   If that detail wasn’t there, would you have 6 

approved the request for payment if it was certified? 7 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  I would have asked. 8 

   MR. BARRITT:  You would have -- you looked 9 

for that type -- 10 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  I would have looked for 11 

that -- 12 

   MR. BARRITT:  -- type of detail, explanation 13 

of services provided? 14 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Yes, I would look for that. 15 

   MR BARRITT:  Thank you very much.   16 

   CHAIRMAN:  Mr. Hargun? 17 

   MR. HARGUN:  Just in relation to that last 18 

question related to the Ambling Contracts. 19 

   In relation to Consultancy Services, the 20 

detail given is by necessity, just generalized, isn’t it? 21 

   It would be on account of Consultancy 22 

Services in relation to a particular project and then the 23 

amount claimed? 24 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Are you speaking about the 25 
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general contract or consultancy or this particular -- 1 

   MR. HARGUN:  Consultancy Contracts, yes. 2 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  -- or a particular -- 3 

   MR. HARGUN:  Well, I’m talking -- I was 4 

thinking of the Ambling Contract for example. 5 

   The sort of detail, given that it’s a 6 

Consultancy Contract, would by definition be reasonably 7 

general? 8 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Well, it – there is a 9 

schedule B in the contract that I witnessed that has 10 

different details that work would be done.  I would presume 11 

that in submitting an invoice, there would be reference to 12 

one of those at least -- 13 

   MR. HARGUN:  Yes. 14 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  -- or maybe more than one. 15 

   Without sight, I cannot say that, but -- 16 

   MR. HARGUN:  Well, I mean if you look at the 17 

-- the Schedule B, which you will find at the Tab 8, Tab 8, 18 

as page one. 19 

   I mean, say for example -- 20 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  I’m sorry. 21 

   11 has the official (secret’s Act ?) is it 22 

that that you’re referring to? 23 

   MR. BARRITT:  Page 9. 24 

      MR. HARGUN:  Page 9. 25 
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   MR. CHATERGOON:  Page 9, okay. 1 

   MR. HARGUN:  Do you have that? 2 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Yes. 3 

   MR. HARGUN:  I mean, that sets out the 4 

private duties as a Consultant and we can pick anyone just 5 

for illustration purposes, say for example, C, provide 6 

general consultancy services during the development and 7 

construction of the Grand Atlantic Hotel, and affordable 8 

housing residences, yes? 9 

   And presumably the invoice would say 10 

something along the lines to ser --The consultancy services 11 

rendered for the months of January to March in relation to 12 

the development and construction of Grand Atlantic Hotel 13 

and affordable housing residences, which -- which would fit 14 

in within the definition of the schedule, but wouldn’t 15 

really tell you much. 16 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  If you say it that way, 17 

then if that was what was submitted, then yes, it would say 18 

that, but I am -- this would be something that was to be 19 

submitted to the relevant Officer within here.  20 

   MR. HARGUN:  Yes. 21 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  So I would presume and I 22 

can’t speak for the relevant Officer that a detail like 23 

that will/may not be sufficient. 24 

   So for instance, they may go back to the 25 
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person submitting it and say could you be very clear.  I 1 

have to follow these instructions.  Can you be clear as to 2 

what is being submitted? 3 

   I -- there may be different phases in that 4 

in which you just spoke about.   5 

   So it might be Phase 1 or Phase 2 and so on.  6 

It might be a phase approach, it might be a unit approach.  7 

Those things would need to be specified. 8 

   MR. HARGUN:  Understood. 9 

   But I mean it’s fair to say that you were 10 

relying far more on the Certifying Officer to make sure 11 

that the work had been done, as opposed to you double 12 

checking it yourself? 13 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  I’m not having too many 14 

details of this particular type of work.  I cannot, 15 

therefore, I did not sign a contract with the person, did 16 

not advance the Cabinet paper.   17 

   MR. HARGUN:  Huh-huh. 18 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Therefore, I’m not -- I am 19 

not best placed in terms of giving value for money or in 20 

terms of Financial Instructions to certify that actual 21 

detail of work. 22 

   I am going on to see it myself, I did not, 23 

you know, and so on.  So therefore, I’m not best place.  24 

This is why usually the person who’s managing the contract 25 
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-- 1 

   MR. HARGUN:  Exactly -- 2 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  -- some contracts as you 3 

would see, have been, is designated person within the 4 

contract who would manage it on behalf of the Accountant 5 

Officer and in this case, it was the Hotel and Regulation 6 

Unit that did that. 7 

   MR. HARGUN:  Okay. 8 

   That’s within the Cabinet Division? 9 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  No, no. 10 

   That -- this one, this particular unit was 11 

within the Department of Tourism, one of the sections -- 12 

   MR. HARGUN:  In your Department? 13 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Correct. 14 

   That is correct. 15 

   MR. HARGUN:  And do you recall now who would 16 

be managing the contract within the Department of Tourism 17 

with this particular contract? 18 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  At that time, I remember it 19 

was, vaguely, it would have been the Assistant Director.  20 

It was an Assistant Director within that section. 21 

   MR. HARGUN:  Who was that? 22 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Umm, I vaguely remember 23 

this. 24 

   Assistant Director for Regulation and Policy 25 
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and that person would have been -- handled that quarterly 1 

follow-up and so on and that’s the person I would have 2 

received certification from.  3 

      MR. HARGUN:  Yes. 4 

   And do you remember the name? 5 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Not at the moment.  6 

    MR. HARGUN:  At a latter moment? 7 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  I mean, it’s been awhile.   8 

I’m trying -- I do remember the section, I’m trying to 9 

remember the name. 10 

   MR. HARGUN:  Thank you Mr. Chatergoon. 11 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  My pleasure. 12 

   CHAIRMAN:   Mr. Hargun, do we have any of 13 

these documents, these certificates? 14 

   MR. HARGUN:  We do not. 15 

   CHAIRMAN:   No. 16 

     Have we asked for them? 17 

   MR. HARGUN:  I’m not sure we have, but we 18 

could certainly ask for some here from Administration. 19 

   CHAIRMAN:   And so perhaps we better ask Mr. 20 

Chatergoon first. 21 

   If we would like to see those documents that 22 

you’ve been talking about, the certificates that you 23 

received and when you signed off for payments, who should 24 

we ask? 25 
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   MR. CHATERGOON:  Um, well, that’s a good 1 

question, because it’s -- 2 

   CHAIRMAN:   How about you? 3 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  The Department of Tourism 4 

does not, is not in existence. 5 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yeah, but wouldn’t you have them 6 

in your records? 7 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  No, I wouldn’t, no, I would 8 

not. 9 

   CHAIRMAN:   Why? 10 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  I would not. 11 

   I -- those -- those would have been filed 12 

and so on with relevant authorities.   13 

   I do not -- I would not keep specific 14 

payment documents as -- 15 

   MS. LUCK:  (Interrupts)  Mr. Chatergoon’s 16 

with the Department of Education now, so -- 17 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Exactly. 18 

   CHAIRMAN:   (Interrupts) Oh well -- oh yes. 19 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  I would not keep those --  20 

   (All parties speaking.) 21 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  -- those are not -- yeah, 22 

plus the Department doesn’t exist. 23 

   I can’t -- I do not know who to request them 24 

of. 25 
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   CHAIRMAN:   I see. 1 

          MR HARGUN:  But presumably the Accountant 2 

General would have them, because that’s – the final payment 3 

was made there and the Accountant General should have all 4 

the documentation which would have been approved by you. 5 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  But I could presume that.  6 

I can’t confirm that, only the Accountant General’s 7 

Department. 8 

   CHAIRMAN:  Under the -- This was the old 9 

system, wasn’t it prior to 2011? 10 

   MR CHATERGOON:  Yes. 11 

   CHAIRMAN:  We’ve seen the charts showing 12 

that there were documents which got through to the end. 13 

   What happened to those documents at the end 14 

of the day? 15 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  I presume that -- I would 16 

have to say “presume”, because I do not know for sure, but 17 

I do believe they would have been filed, as you say, as you 18 

alluded, with the Accountant Department, Accountant 19 

General’s Department. 20 

   I do not know if they’re still there. 21 

   MR. HARGUN:  Okay. 22 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Or maybe in keeping with 23 

retention policies, it has been sent somewhere.  I’m not in 24 

a position to say that. 25 
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   CHAIRMAN:   Okay. 1 

   Well, thank you very much Mr. Chatergoon. 2 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  You’re welcome. 3 

   CHAIRMAN:   Unless there’s any more 4 

questions, I think that concludes our evidence and we must 5 

break. 6 

   MR. CHATERGOON:  Thank you very much. 7 

   (Witness excused.) 8 

   MR. HARGUN:  Thank you very much. 9 

We have another short witness, Mr. Morille. 10 

   We will be less than two minutes, two to 11 

three minutes, if anyone want to rise, it will just be for 12 

-- 13 

   CHAIRMAN:   Certainly we can, yes. 14 

   The next witness will be? 15 

     MR. HARGUN:  Mr. Morille. 16 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, we’ll make it five 17 

minutes, so it will be 12:17. 18 

(Recess taken)  (Recess ended)  19 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 20 

   MR. HARGUN:  Mr. Chairman, our next witness 21 

is Mr. Andrew Morille. 22 

   MR. MORILLE:  I Andrew Morille, I swear by 23 

Almighty God that the evidence I shall give shall be the 24 

truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth. 25 
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 1 

ANDREW MORILLE, 2 

having been duly called and sworn,  3 

   was examined and testified as follows: 4 

 5 

   CHAIRMAN:   Thank you, Mr. Morille. 6 

 7 

EXAMINATION 8 

BY MR. HARGUN: 9 

  Q Good afternoon, Mr. Morille. 10 

  A Good afternoon, sir. 11 

  Q My name is Narinder Hargun.  I’m going to 12 

ask you a few questions and then the Commission will have 13 

questions for you. 14 

   You very kindly prepared a statement for us, 15 

dated the 22nd of September 2016. 16 

   Do you have a copy of that? 17 

  A Yes, I do. 18 

  Q Can you confirm that the statements which 19 

you have made in that statement are, in fact, correct? 20 

  A Yeah, I can, wholly and complete. 21 

  Q They are true? 22 

  A Yeah. 23 

  Q Okay. 24 

   You deal with a number of issues. 25 
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   You deal with processing of payments and 1 

then you deal with specific contracts, although it’s fair 2 

to say that in relation to specific contracts, most of the 3 

time you say that you did not have any involvement and you 4 

had no knowledge? 5 

  A Yeah, I -- just a point of correction, I 6 

actually do not deal directly with the process of payment.  7 

I oversee the process. 8 

  Q Okay. 9 

   So where do you fit in the structure. 10 

   You say that you don’t personally deal with 11 

it, but where do you manage? 12 

  A Being the Financial Controller you have 13 

management and oversight responsibility. 14 

  Q Okay, that’s fine. 15 

   Well, let’s deal with it on a sort very high 16 

level in relation to processing of payments. 17 

   You set out in Paragraph 5 what you believe 18 

are the -- the procedure at the time and you say that the 19 

Accounts Clerk received all original invoices and Payment 20 

Certificates from Ministry Officers after those original 21 

invoices and Payment Certificates would have been signed 22 

for the payment by the Authorized Officer against a 23 

Certification Stamp; and then Accounts Clerks then entered 24 

those original invoices and Payment Certificates against 25 
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the respective Purchase Orders in the then Financial and 1 

Accounting System to create a payment voucher for payment; 2 

and then the Authorized Officers would sign off against the 3 

Certification Stamp on the original invoices and Payments 4 

Certificates on the basis of an existing Purchase Order 5 

Agreement or Contract and then finally, the Management 6 

Accountant would review the documentation to insure before 7 

approval for payment by the Accountant General Department 8 

that the payment voucher entries in the Financial 9 

Accounting system for quantities, description of purchase; 10 

amounts, et cetera were consistent with the information in 11 

the original invoice and Payment Certificates. 12 

   He or she would also check that the Payment 13 

Voucher entry was against the correct Purchase Order, yes? 14 

  A Yes. 15 

  Q Now, can you just explain to us during these 16 

four steps which you have set out in Paragraph 5, where, if 17 

at all, would anybody be checking to see if the contract 18 

required a tender, that the tender was gone through or if 19 

the contract required Cabinet Approval, that the Cabinet 20 

Approval had been given? 21 

  A Okay. 22 

   Reliance is placed on the various personnel 23 

of the organization and one such personnel is the 24 

Authorized Officer based on the signing authority limit and 25 
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it’s titled here as the Authorized Officer. 1 

   So reliance is placed at -- That due 2 

diligence would have been executed by the Authorized 3 

Officer before a payment, there’s an invoice, a Payment 4 

Certificate.   5 

   In the cases of consultancy, and 6 

Construction Contract, with the necessary signature, so the 7 

finance personnel would be -- would expect these, that due 8 

diligence and the necessary signature which can be verified 9 

by what’s in front is before them, before process is made. 10 

  Q Well, let me ask you a bit more detail on 11 

that. 12 

   Obviously the Authorized Officer is supposed 13 

to carry out due diligence as you put it, yes?  14 

   Let’s just look at the scope of that duty as 15 

to what he’s expected to do. 16 

   Let’s take a Construction Contract.  In 17 

relation to a Construction Contract, you would expect the 18 

Architect to certify payment, yes? 19 

  A Yes. 20 

  Q So he would want to see in relation to a 21 

Construction Contract, that the appointed Architect has 22 

certified the payment, right?   23 

   That be one check, one piece of paper he 24 

would want to see, yes? 25 
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   Now, the question I have is that, let’s say 1 

that this was a contract for $10 million dollars which 2 

would require Cabinet Approval. 3 

   Would he also check that Cabinet Approval 4 

had been given in relation to that contract? 5 

  A Likely the Architect and probably like to, 6 

we usually refer to them as Technical Officer or Project 7 

Manager.   8 

   They would be part of that, most likely be 9 

part of that procurement process and although I’m speaking 10 

not with the full knowledge of the process since I am 11 

usually not a member or not part of that process. 12 

   So Technical Officer or the Project Manager 13 

would be part of that process. 14 

  Q Yes. 15 

  A That -- so the reliance would be placed on 16 

those Technical Project Manager to insure the work is 17 

actually complete, completed. 18 

   If -- until we get what’s supposed to be 19 

delivered, until we get what’s delivered and so forth, the 20 

necessary protocol, yeah. 21 

  Q No, I understand that and that is obviously 22 

an aspect of due diligence, to make sure that the work was 23 

done. 24 

   My question was slightly different and if 25 
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you say you don’t have firsthand knowledge of that, just 1 

say you don’t have firsthand knowledge. 2 

   The question is really, if the contract, 3 

before it was signed required Cabinet Approval, would the 4 

Authorizing Officer check to see if Cabinet Approval had 5 

been given, that’s the question? 6 

  A Don’t know. 7 

  Q That’s fine. 8 

   And presumably, your answer would be the 9 

same in relation to the question, if tender was required, 10 

whether he would check, do you know about it? 11 

  A I do not know. 12 

  Q Okay, that’s fine. 13 

   When you refer to the Accountant General’s 14 

Department in Paragraph 6 of your witness statement, yes. 15 

    And you say at times the Accountant 16 

General’s Department would make request for copies of 17 

contracts in the instances of large construction works and 18 

services.  “I cannot provide any further information about 19 

the ACG’s procedures and processes”. 20 

   Now, it may well be that you don’t know, but 21 

did you have an understanding and if you didn’t, say so, 22 

whether the Accountant General Department would check if 23 

the contract required Cabinet Approval, that Cabinet 24 

Approval had been given before payment? 25 
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  A In -- in regards to Cabinet Approval -- 1 

  Q Yes. 2 

  A I would not know. 3 

  Q That’s fair. 4 

  A Okay. 5 

  Q Yes. 6 

   You’re familiar with the PFA requirements 7 

and the Financial Instructions, yes, generally or not? 8 

  A Perhaps now, no (laughs).  I’m four years 9 

far removed from the process. 10 

  Q I’ll pick it up -- I’ll pick it up. 11 

  A Yes, yes. 12 

   MR. HARGUN:  I don’t have any further 13 

questions. 14 

   CHAIRMAN:   Ms. Memari? 15 

   MS. MEMARI:  No, thank you. 16 

   CHAIRMAN:   Okay. 17 

   Any questions? 18 

   MS. LUCK:  Is it correct that you actually 19 

spent a fair amount of time on implementing the new E1 20 

system? 21 

   MR. MORILLE:  Yes, yes, for the --- 22 

   MS. LUCK:  (Interrupts)  During the course 23 

of that process having been in a Department where you 24 

fulfilled the Controller’s role, and now seeing the new 25 
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system roll down to probably helping people being trained 1 

on it, what do you see as the major improvements in control 2 

with that new system produced? 3 

   MR. MORILLE:  First is the -- The process in 4 

terms of the time, in terms of actually payments hitting 5 

the system and actually being perhaps -- being received and 6 

about the time of the supplier, that has reduced because we 7 

do not have to physically transport documents, contracts, 8 

invoices which could be at risk of being lost or misplaced.  9 

   MS. LUCK:  And is that because it goes in 10 

once into the system and then -- 11 

   MR. MORILLE:  (Interrupts) Yeah. 12 

   What happens now is it actually gets 13 

electronically scanned and attached to the system. 14 

   Further, I think that probably perhaps 15 

that’s -- that’s -- probably that’s what -- that’s all in 16 

terms of improvement. 17 

   MS. LUCK:  And in terms of the old system 18 

versus the new system. 19 

   In the old system, the work that was done 20 

around checking underlying documents in the Department 21 

versus what was done in the Accountant General’s 22 

Department, has that changed? 23 

   MR. MORILLE:  Could you just repeat the 24 

question, sorry? 25 
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   MS. LUCK:  So in the old system, the 1 

Controllers, all the Master Mechanics, whoever were putting 2 

together documentation to support a payment, I mean, what 3 

I’m hearing is that was a physical attachment rather than 4 

something that was electronic. 5 

   They had a process of checking everything 6 

and then it went to the Accountant General’s, where I 7 

understand that it was checked again. 8 

   Has the new system meant that there’s a 9 

different level of check in those two places or would you 10 

say it’s the same level of check, it’s just they’re all 11 

looking at the same electronic document? 12 

   MR. MORILLE:  Um -- It allows additional 13 

time to do checks, but that -- that is to the extent of it. 14 

   MR BARRITT:  I have a question -- 15 

   CHAIRMAN:   (Inaudible) -- get your turn.  16 

   MS. LUCK:  Now the system allows them more 17 

time because it’s much more efficient is what I understood. 18 

   Is that correct? 19 

   MR. MORILLE:  Yeah, it creates -- it creates 20 

a greater level of efficiency because the information which 21 

is seen at different points.  For example, a discussion 22 

ensue of the Accountant General from Public -- perhaps 23 

Public Works.  It can easily be pinpointed what document is 24 

being referred to because everyone is seeing the same image 25 
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on the various system. 1 

   CHAIRMAN:   I see, thank you. 2 

   Yes?  3 

   MR BRADSHAW:  My question is this. 4 

   So from your perspective as Financial 5 

Controller, in the past, with which position or role, or 6 

which individual is response -- ultimate responsible, to 7 

who does the buck stop as far as making, ensuring that 8 

you’re following Financial Instructions? 9 

   What I mean by that, is make sure the 10 

Cabinet Conclusions were in place and that tendering can 11 

take place? 12 

   What was that position because there’s a 13 

bunch of different names of things that it seems that 14 

everything is getting passed around a little bit? 15 

   MR. MORILLE:  It is the Accounting Officer, 16 

which is Permanent Secretary. 17 

   MR BRADSHAW:  So PS? 18 

   MR. MORILLE:  Yes. 19 

   MR BRADSHAW: Okay. 20 

   And was that generally understood to be the 21 

case? 22 

   MR. MORILLE:  Yes. 23 

   MR BRADSHAW:  All right. 24 

   And is that the same today? 25 
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   MR. MORILLE:  Yes. 1 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Okay. 2 

   MR. BARRITT:  Can I just clarify something? 3 

   Paragraph 6, go back to that where you said 4 

that, I think you’re referring to the entire years ’10, ’11 5 

and ’12 which would be under the E1 system now as well 6 

where you said, “At times the Accountant General’s 7 

Department would make requests for copies of contracts in 8 

the instances of large construction works and services and 9 

I cannot provide any further information about their 10 

procedures and processes”. 11 

   Were you involved in cases where there were 12 

these requests? 13 

    MR. MORILLE:  Yes, because their sitting 14 

contracts, Construction Contract could be probably (6h’s), 15 

huge documents.  There’s no way someone would risk sending 16 

the entire document over to the Accountant General. 17 

   So what the request would usually be is for 18 

at least the -- the monetary value in terms of the 19 

signature pages of the contract because it’s -- I mean to 20 

print a 600 page document and send over there, you know, 21 

it’s -- doesn’t seem -- 22 

      MR. BARRITT:  So how would that be 23 

addressed? 24 

   MR. MORILLE:  So we just make copies and we 25 
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actually send it over to the Accountant General. 1 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 2 

   MR. MORILLE:  That was up until the system  3 

-- 4 

   MR. BARRITT:  E1? 5 

   MR. MORILLE:  Yeah. 6 

   MR. BARRITT:  Now, it’s available 7 

electronically? 8 

   MR. MORILLE:  Yeah, yeah, just before the 9 

contract -- 10 

   MR. BARRITT:  In these instances where they 11 

made requests, would payments be refused until the requests 12 

were complied with? 13 

   MR. MORILLE:  Yeah, well, the -- what I am 14 

aware of, I -- the Accountant General would not have 15 

executed payment unless they would have received the 16 

requests or -- I -- at most times, the requests aren’t, 17 

just aren’t necessarily requests for copies of a contract 18 

or additional information.  It could be an error, which was 19 

picked up by the Accountant General, which would be 20 

requested to be changed, to get adjusted; could be someone 21 

entered a 649. 22 

   MR. BARRITT:  In your years as Financial 23 

Controller, do you ever get a request for Cabinet Approval 24 

or whether or not there had been tender on any project? 25 
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   MR. MORILLE:  I don’t recall. 1 

   MR. BARRITT:  You don’t recall that, okay. 2 

   MR. MORILLE:  Yeah. 3 

   But mind -- your -- The payment process is  4 

-- is normally handled by junior personnel, by the 5 

Accountant General Departments, so -- 6 

   MR. BARRITT:  They would get the request, 7 

you -- 8 

   MR. MORILLE:  Well, I mean I’m saying they, 9 

the payment process is handled by and accounts clerk, for 10 

instance. 11 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 12 

     In Paragraph 12 you talked about payments 13 

processed after 31 December 2009 and you said that after 14 

that, “payments process did require a Cabinet Conclusion or     15 

Cabinet Conclusion number as documentation in support of an 16 

invoice. 17 

   However, my experience was if changes to FI 18 

were not circulated in a timely manner, therefore, I cannot 19 

say when I or other members of my Ministry would have been 20 

aware of the changes to the Financial Instructions and this 21 

necessity” -- Oh I’m sorry, I’ve done it again. 22 

   MS. MEMARI:  Sir, we have provided all the 23 

signed contracts -- signed witness statements to counsel. 24 

   So, I’m not sure why you don’t have a copy 25 
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of that, while we clearly got a draft on FedEx which has 1 

that information available. 2 

   MS. LUCK:  That’s signed? 3 

   MR BARRITT:  No. 4 

   MS. MEMARI:  But ultimately, it’s not 5 

defined signed contract and that means that they wouldn’t 6 

have had -- they wouldn’t have an option for (inaudible) 7 

and proper advice. 8 

   It is the final statement that counts. 9 

   CHAIRMAN:  Well, let’s see where we are. 10 

   I’ve got a signed copy here, dated 22nd of 11 

September, is that right? 12 

   MS. MEMARI:  Yes. 13 

   CHAIRMAN:  And Mr. Barritt clearly has 14 

something different. 15 

   MR. BARRITT:  Yeah, I’ve got the earlier 16 

statement that was shared with us. 17 

   CHAIRMAN:  Then I think -- 18 

   MR. BARRITT:  And I’ve been reading from 19 

that. 20 

   MS. MEMARI:  Well, if I may just explain the 21 

difference between the draft and the final statements.  22 

   You will recall that the witnesses were 23 

provided with the offer for comments (inaudible- on 24 

employment) for the counsel to the Commission to assist 25 
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them with their witness statements. 1 

   CHAIRMAN: Yes. 2 

   MS. MEMARI:  The witnesses looked at their 3 

questions, they answered them to the best of their ability.  4 

Then by agreement, we asked Conyers, Dill & Pearman to have 5 

a look at the draft and provide any more guidance with 6 

their action, which would assist the Commission. 7 

   So there was some dialogue in between and  8 

it may be that as a result of that dialogue, some -- there 9 

were some changes to the drafts. 10 

   CHAIRMAN:  Well, they were -- 11 

   MS. MEMARI:  With the intention -- yes, the 12 

intention always was for the witnesses to have some further 13 

guidance or direction before they finalized their witness 14 

statements and in my respectful submissions, it is the 15 

final signed statement that ultimately is before the 16 

Commission. 17 

   CHAIRMAN:   (Inaudible) --  18 

   MS. MEMARI:  Thank you. 19 

   I’m grateful. 20 

   MR. BARRITT:  Let me make it clear that this 21 

is an honest mistake.  I -- 22 

   MS. MEMARI:  Absolutely. 23 

   MR. BARRITT:  -- I’m working from the draft, 24 

I’m not trying to catch the witness out on anything. 25 
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   MS. MEMARI:  I did not think any other. 1 

   MR. BARRITT:  Well, okay, as long as that’s 2 

understood, then -- 3 

   CHAIRMAN:   Now, can I ask Mr. Barritt to 4 

identify. 5 

     The question you’ve asked is based on the 6 

paragraph what, which is no longer in the signed -- 7 

   MR. BARRITT:  It’s been completed redacted. 8 

   MS. MEMARI:  That’s correct. 9 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 10 

   MS. MEMARI:  That is correct. 11 

   CHAIRMAN:   And so we won’t go into it 12 

anymore or decide what it -- 13 

   MS. MEMARI:  I’m grateful. 14 

   CHAIRMAN:  I know. 15 

   MR. BARRITT:  I’m sorry the cat’s out of the 16 

bag, though and there you have it. 17 

   The other thing I wanted to ask, if I may, 18 

is with respect and now I’ve got to slowly check here. 19 

   I think the paragraphs are still the same is 20 

with respect -- your evidence in your witness statement on 21 

the matters of the purchase of sand and rock, you’re 22 

familiar with. 23 

   You made a number of comments in your 24 

witness statement. 25 



 121 

   Do you -- Were those statements predicated 1 

on what you reviewed in the witness bundle or was there 2 

anything you recalled from that purchase of sand and rock 3 

and the events surrounding that, quite apart from anything 4 

you received in the witness bundle? 5 

   MR. MORILLE:  My statement was based on the 6 

time of the statement which I made in the past and under 7 

what was reviewed in the witness bundle. 8 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 9 

   You say the statement you made in the past. 10 

   Which statement is that? 11 

   MR. MORILLE:  When you referred to -- 12 

   MR. BARRITT:  You talking about the draft 13 

one? 14 

   MR. MORILLE:  Yes. 15 

   MR. BARRITT:  Oh, okay.  I see.  All right. 16 

   So -- okay, fair enough. 17 

   You said in there that you -- I’m gathering 18 

now that there was one statement, then you reviewed 19 

documents -- 20 

   MR. MORILLE:  No, I -- 21 

   MR. BARRITT:  -- and then there was -- 22 

   MR. MORILLE:  What I answered, I’m not sure, 23 

probably, perhaps you could repeat your question? 24 

   MR. BARRITT:  Yeah, there’s not a lot in 25 
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terms on this. 1 

   I’m trying to understand whether there was -2 

- You were involved at the time, at any of the events 3 

surrounding the purchase of sand and rock in that 4 

particular purchase in Works and Engineering back then. 5 

   Whether you were consulted at any stage back 6 

then? 7 

   MR. MORILLE:  No.  No, I wasn’t. 8 

   MR. BARRITT:  All this -- 9 

   MR. MORILLE:  I was not involved in the 10 

procurement process. 11 

   MR. BARRITT:  All right. 12 

     No one came to you for advice or anything 13 

like that with respect to that back then? 14 

   MR. MORILLE:  Not at the procurement 15 

process. 16 

   MR. BARRITT:  At any stage back, back when 17 

this was -- 18 

   MR. MORILLE:  The only stage I was involved 19 

in was during the audit stage, which was perhaps a year 20 

after -- 21 

   MR. BARRITT:  Yes. 22 

   Fair enough. 23 

   MR. MORILLE:  -- the procurement. 24 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 25 
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   That’s fine.  Thank you very much. 1 

   CHAIRMAN:   I just want to clarify one 2 

matter. 3 

   Mr. Barritt, of course, did ask a couple of 4 

questions based on a paragraph and I’m not entirely sure 5 

which it was, in the unsigned statement, but we’ve now 6 

moved on from that. 7 

   MS. MEMARI:  Yes. 8 

   CHAIRMAN:   But is there any way in which we 9 

should make sure that no harm has been done or are you 10 

happy that no harm has been done by asking that question? 11 

   MS. MEMARI:  I don’t think harm has been 12 

done. 13 

   CHAIRMAN:   Then we -- 14 

   MS. MEMARI:  I think we will rest on that. 15 

   CHAIRMAN:   Thank you. 16 

   Nothing else you’d like to take up on that? 17 

   MS. MEMARI:  No. 18 

   CHAIRMAN:   Thank you very much. 19 

   Yes, Mr. Hargun? 20 

   MR. HARGUN:  Well, that’s the end of this 21 

witness’ evidence unless you have any further questions? 22 

   CHAIRMAN:   No and after -- Thank you very 23 

much indeed, Mr. Morille. 24 

   MR. MORILLE:  Thank you, sir. 25 
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   MR. HARGUN:  Thank you very much. 1 

   (Witness excused.) 2 

   MR. HARGUN:  And after lunch we will have 3 

Mr. Ball start. 4 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 5 

   MR. HARGUN:  And then very shortly Mr. -- 6 

   MR. BARRITT:  Mr. Dill. 7 

   MS. MEMARI:  Mr. Chair, on my part, may I 8 

offer my apologies if any confusion has been caused, that 9 

was not the intent of providing drafts and then final 10 

versions. 11 

   CHAIRMAN:   Oh no, I think we’ve been aware 12 

throughout that there were final signed copies.  13 

   In some cases those were different from the 14 

draft ones, which inevitably we’ve been working on before 15 

them. 16 

   MS. MEMARI:  I’m grateful. 17 

   CHAIRMAN:   So we’re very grateful to you 18 

for your assistance on that and generally. 19 

   Thank you. 20 

   MS. MEMARI:  Thank you. 21 

   CHAIRMAN:   Now, we come to this afternoon 22 

and to -- let me just remember, Mr. Ball and Mr. Dill. 23 

   Thank you. 24 

   We’re done until 2:00 o’clock.  Thank you. 25 
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(Luncheon recess.) 1 

A F T E R N O O N   S E S S I O N 2 

 3 

  MR. HARGUN:  I’d like to call Major Dill as  4 

the first witness. 5 

  CHAIRMAN:   I beg your pardon? 6 

  MR. HARGUN:  If it’s all right with you, Mr.  7 

Chairman, I’d like to call Major Dill at this point. 8 

  MS. DYER-TUCKER:  Major Dill, I’d ask you for 9 

your oath (inaudible). 10 

  MAJOR DILL:  I Kenneth Dill, swear by  11 

Almighty God that the evidence I shall give shall be the 12 

truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so help  13 

me God. 14 

 15 

 KENNETH SINCLAIR DILL,  16 

  having been duly called and sworn,  17 

   was examined and testified as follows: 18 

   19 

   MR. HARGUN:  Thank you, Mr. Dill. 20 

  Good afternoon, Major Dill.  21 

  MAJOR DILL:  Good afternoon to you, Mr.  22 

Hargun. 23 

  Good afternoon members of the Commission. 24 

 25 
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EXAMINATION  1 

BY MR. HARGUN: 2 

 Q Major Dill, I’m going to ask you a few, very  3 

few questions in relation to your witness statement, which 4 

you kindly prepared for us and that is dated the 25th of 5 

September 2016, yes? 6 

  A Yes, I do have that in front of me. 7 

  Q Can you just confirm that what you’ve said 8 

in that witness statement is correct? 9 

  A Yes, it is correct. 10 

  Q Right and primarily your witness statement 11 

is dealing with the renovations in relation to the HR 12 

Department? 13 

  A Correct. 14 

  Q Yes? 15 

  A Huh-huh. 16 

  Q You were asked a question, “Please explain 17 

why you had the authority to direct the Permanent Secretary 18 

of Works and Engineering to negotiate the contract” and the 19 

answer you gave is, “I did not have the authority to direct 20 

the Permanent Secretary or any member of his staff as 21 

evidenced in an email from the Ministry’s Architect Lucy 22 

Chung, dated 09 of September. I was asked four questions 23 

which I answered.   24 

     At no time was the word ‘contract’ used as 25 
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the issuing of contracts is the responsibility of Ministry 1 

of Works and Engineering.  As Head of Civil Service, I have 2 

no budget, so the responsibility for all such budget items 3 

would be with the PS of Works and Engineering.  I was 4 

simply asked an operational question and I gave my opinion, 5 

that it seemed reasonable time to negotiate a cost with a 6 

contractor”. 7 

   You said that? 8 

  A Yes, I did.  That is good. 9 

  Q Let me -- let me just show you what PS 10 

Horton said in relation to it and you can explain the 11 

discrepancy to the extent that there was? 12 

  A Certainly. 13 

  Q And as far as PS Horton is concerned, in the 14 

witness bundle, you will see at Tab 7 his witness statement 15 

and specifically, Major Dill, if you go to Paragraph 29, of 16 

PS Horton’s witness statement? 17 

  A Yes, I have it. 18 

  Q And you see that he says, I do not recall 19 

the exact circumstances of the Head of the Civil Service 20 

and that’s you, assuming overall responsibility for the 21 

renovation project, but I can confirm that he soon assumed 22 

authority for it, communicating directly with and issuing 23 

instruction to Officers of the Department of Architectural 24 

Design and Construction, Ms. Lucy Chung, Architect in 25 
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particular regarding the renovation’s project. 1 

   He says, “I recall that the Head of the 2 

Civil Service communicated directly with the Minister of 3 

Works and Engineering regarding the project” and just 4 

another sentence which is relevant to that.   5 

   If you look at these, at Paragraph 33, you 6 

will see where it says “was the Cabinet Approval not 7 

obtained” and the last sentence he says is, “because the 8 

Head of the Civil Service assumed direct responsibility for 9 

the project.  I was not positioned to provide the required 10 

oversight”. 11 

   Can you assist the Commission as to why, at 12 

least on the face of it, there appears to be a discrepancy? 13 

  A Well, Mr. Hargun and members of the 14 

Commission of Inquiry, if I had presumed to assume the 15 

responsibility of overall management of any Department in 16 

that Ministry under that Permanent Secretary, I would have 17 

been informed by him immediately that I was acting out of 18 

my responsibilities and therefore, I should cease and 19 

desist forthwith. 20 

   So in essence in answer to the question, I 21 

had no responsibility for the management of that Department 22 

whatsoever.    23 

 Q So obviously, on that basis, you would not  24 

be concerned with issues like tender and obtaining Cabinet  25 
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Approval? 1 

 A Not at all. 2 

 Q Okay. 3 

  Can I show you another document and that is,  4 

if you go to Tab 18, that is in the witness statement of  5 

Thomasina Hassell. 6 

  If you go to Tab 18, you’ll see a witness  7 

Statement from Thomasina Hassell, who you may recall is the  8 

Chief Financial Officer to Works and Engineering? 9 

 A Yes, I do recall. 10 

 Q And she has exhibited some documents to her  11 

witness statement and particularly, I would like you to  12 

have a look at that page, look at the bottom of the pages,  13 

it’s really the first exhibit at the end of the witness  14 

statements. 15 

 A (Witness complies.) 16 

 Q Do you see a document headed Memo to Lucy  17 

Chung, it’s on the letterhead of Department of  18 

Architectural Design? 19 

 A Dated 4th of September? 20 

 Q That’s correct. 21 

 A 2008. 22 

 Q Yes. 23 

 A Yes, I have it. 24 

 Q Yes and you see that the purpose, it records  25 
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a meeting, purpose of the meeting. 1 

  The purpose of today’s meeting was for  2 

Kenneth Dill, Head of Civil Service, and the Honorable 3 

(Gary Warren ?) Burgess, Minister of Works and Engineering 4 

to visit the future location for the Department of Human 5 

Resources and Head of Civil Service Management Services and 6 

to formalize themselves with this space, and I assume to  7 

familiarize. 8 

  In addition, Works and Engineering will  9 

provide any associated costs of renovations and timeframe  10 

for completion and occupation. 11 

   Do you recall that meeting? 12 

 A I do not and I do not see any evidence here  13 

that I attended that meeting. 14 

 Q Oh, okay. 15 

  Fair enough. 16 

  And then you will see at the bottom of that  17 

page, after you see a phase plan and then there’s a  18 

paragraph based on the above information, et cetera, and  19 

then the sentence, which somebody’s highlighted, but it’s  20 

now difficult to read.  In fact, if you’d follow with me,  21 

it reads, the Minister stated, that’s Minister Burgess,  22 

“Minister Burgess stated that we can bypass the tender  23 

process and also can bypass submitting documents to  24 

Building Control if it’s going to save us 60 days on the  25 
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schedule? 1 

 MR BARRITT:  Shave off 50. 2 

BY MR HARGUN: 3 

 Q Shave off 50 on the  4 

schedule. 5 

  Do you recall that? 6 

 A Not at all. 7 

 Q Okay. 8 

  Fair enough. 9 

  Mr. Chairman, I’m not sure I can take this  10 

any further in time.  If you have any further questions 11 

this would be the time to ask. 12 

  CHAIRMAN:   Mr. Dill, in your statement  13 

you said that you were asked an opinion with regard to the  14 

costs of this project, that’s your statement in Paragraph  15 

5. 16 

  “I was simply asked an operational  17 

question”. 18 

  MAJOR DILL:  Yes. 19 

  CHAIRMAN:   And I gave my opinion, it  20 

seemed reasonable to negotiate the cost with a contractor? 21 

  MAJOR DILL:  Yes, that’s correct. 22 

  CHAIRMAN:   Who asked you that question? 23 

  MAJOR DILL:  Lucy Chung asked me that  24 

question in her memo to me dated the 9th of September 2008  25 
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and that can be found in the EHR--- bundle one, page 11 and  1 

12. 2 

  CHAIRMAN:   Have we got records? 3 

  MAJOR DILL:  And there you will see she  4 

asked me four operational questions. 5 

  Question 1:  Are we talking -- 6 

  CHAIRMAN:  (Interrupts) Just a moment,  7 

Please.  Let me see.  What’s the reference here -- page -- 8 

  MR BARRITT:  11. 9 

  CHAIRMAN:   11. 10 

  Yes, on page 12, in fact, this is -- She’s  11 

asking you on the 9th of September various questions about 12 

the reduced scope. 13 

  MAJOR DILL:  Yes, that’s correct. 14 

  And I responded on the same date. 15 

  CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 16 

  I see that, in fact, that -- now the --  17 

Your reply to that email was to give those certain  18 

instructions, was it? 19 

  MAJOR DILL:  Well, Mr. Chairman, if you look  20 

at her Question 4, it is in two parts. 21 

  The first part is, there was a mention of  22 

any possibility to eliminate the Building Permit process 23 

and the tender, period. 24 

   The latter is straightforward in that with 25 
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your permission, we will negotiate a cost for the 1 

contractor, who will be of comfort, can work very quickly. 2 

   Second part as for the Building Permit, 3 

would you or our Minister take this on at a high level. 4 

   CHAIRMAN:   I note the first question was, 5 

are we to apply the reduced scope to DR --- HR Section as 6 

well. 7 

   Is that the same contract? 8 

   MAJOR DILL:  Yes, and on the contract -- 9 

   CHAIRMAN:   The negotiation? 10 

   MAJOR DILL:  Not a negotiation -- oh yes, to 11 

deliver the same negotiation, correct. 12 

   CHAIRMAN:   And you answered that question 13 

in your prior email.   14 

    You are to reduce the scope of the section 15 

as well -- as well, as we don’t anticipate remaining at 16 

that location at the expiration of the lease? 17 

   MAJOR DILL:  Yes, well I think it’s 18 

important to point out that at the time, I was Head of the 19 

Civil Service, but I had the strategic management of the 20 

Department of Human Resources and, therefore, I responded 21 

that I will tell them because I had that responsibility. 22 

   CHAIRMAN:   So well, I think you may have 23 

anticipated my next question. 24 

   You answered that question which involved 25 
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giving her instruction. 1 

   In what capacity did you give that to her? 2 

   MAJOR DILL:  I did not give her an 3 

instruction. 4 

   If you look carefully, I simply answered an 5 

operational question that was put to me. 6 

   CHAIRMAN:   I see. 7 

   But you -- Go back to what you said, you 8 

were involved because this was a matter which concerned you 9 

as Head of the Civil Service? 10 

   MAJOR DILL:  No. 11 

   I was not acting in my capacity as Head of 12 

the Civil Service.  I was acting in my capacity as the 13 

Strategic Manager of the Department of Human Resources. 14 

   You see, as Head of the Civil Service -- 15 

   CHAIRMAN:   Strategic mentor (sic) -- 16 

   MAJOR DILL:  Manager. 17 

   CHAIRMAN:   Manager? 18 

   MAJOR DILL:  Manager of that Department and 19 

three other Departments at that time and each Department 20 

had their own Director. 21 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 22 

   MAJOR DILL:  And they each had their own 23 

Accounting Officer.  I simply took care of the strategic 24 

direction in which that Department roomed and therefore, it 25 
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was reasonable to ask me rather than go to the Department 1 

Head. 2 

   CHAIRMAN:   Correct. 3 

   MAJOR DILL:  Should I tell them or will you 4 

tell them that the scope has been reduced. 5 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes, I see. 6 

   MAJOR DILL:  I said I will tell them.   7 

   Similar to the second question, I will tell 8 

them. 9 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 10 

   Is there anything else you want to say about 11 

that particular email? 12 

   I have no questions, but -- 13 

   MAJOR DILL:  Yeah. 14 

   I would like to say that is, if we look 15 

closely at Ms. Chung’s email, she copied to our Technical 16 

Officers. I responded and included the same too.  It would 17 

seem to me that if there were an impediment to any of these 18 

that at least one of them would say, stop, this is not 19 

correct, but I suspect that it was their standard 20 

operational procedure. 21 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m just checking. 22 

   Were these copied to the Head of the -- of 23 

her Department, her Ministry? 24 

   MAJOR DILL:  It was -- She copied Steven 25 
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Squire (ph) and Christina Krakowski (ph).  I copied them as 1 

well. 2 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yeah. 3 

   Who are they? 4 

   MAJOR DILL:  Technical Officers within the 5 

Ministry of Works and Engineering. 6 

   CHAIRMAN:   So the Head of the -- or the 7 

Permanent Secretary at the time was Mr. Horton? 8 

   MAJOR DILL:  That’s correct. 9 

   CHAIRMAN:   And this doesn’t seem to have 10 

been copied to him? 11 

   MAJOR DILL:  No. 12 

   CHAIRMAN:   Thank you. 13 

   MR. HARGUN:  It does appear that this is the 14 

letter which PS Horton has taken as though you were taking 15 

control of the project? 16 

   MAJOR DILL:  It very well be, but -- 17 

   MR. HARGUN:  Yes. 18 

   MAJOR DILL:  -- I can assure you, I had not 19 

taken control of that project. 20 

   MR. HARGUN:  Very well.  Thank you. 21 

   We have no more questions. 22 

   CHAIRMAN:   No more. 23 

   Thank you very much. 24 

   No more -- 25 
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   MS. MEMARI:  We don’t represent Mr. Dill. 1 

   CHAIRMAN:   Oh, I see. 2 

   MS. MEMARI:  Thank you. 3 

   CHAIRMAN:   Thank you very much, Mr. Dill. 4 

   MAJOR DILL:  You’re quite welcome.  Thank 5 

you. 6 

   (Witness excused.) 7 

   MR. HARGUN:  Mr. Chairman, in that case, the 8 

next witness is Senator Ball. 9 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes, thank you. 10 

   MR SAUL FROOMKIN:  Mr. Chairman, I’m 11 

appearing for Senator Ball. 12 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes.  Thank you. 13 

   Mr. Froomkin, just to complete the 14 

formalities.  Under Section 12 of the Act, there are two 15 

bases on which a person may have a representative. 16 

   MR FROOMKIN:  I appear in respect of the 17 

first.   18 

   A person concerned. 19 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, I’d just like to be clear 20 

about this, because it could be -- Section 12, “A person 21 

whose conduct is the subject of the Inquiry under this Act, 22 

or who is in any way implicated or concerned in the matter 23 

under the Inquiry. 24 

   MR FROOMKIN:  Yes, sir. 25 
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   CHAIRMAN:   You made your application on 1 

that basis? 2 

   MR FROOMKIN:  That Senator Ball is 3 

concerned. 4 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 5 

   Well, Mr. Hargun is --  6 

   MR. HARGUN:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I said 7 

there would be no objection. 8 

   CHAIRMAN:   No. 9 

   Therefore, we can express our gratitude for 10 

your presence on that basis. 11 

   MR FROOMKIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  12 

  MS. DYER-TUCKER:  Mr. Ball, may we get  13 

affirmation?  14 

   SENATOR BALL:  I Vic Ball, do solemnly and  15 

sincerely affirm that the evidence I shall give shall be  16 

the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth. 17 

 18 

VIC BALL, 19 

having been duly called and affirmed 20 

   was examined and testified as follows 21 

 22 

EXAMINATION 23 

BY MR. HARGUN: 24 

 Q Senator Ball, good afternoon. 25 
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 A Good afternoon. 1 

 Q My name is Narinder Hargun. 2 

  I’m going to ask you a few questions in 3 

relation to the contract in the supply of granite and  4 

aggregate materials to Harmony Holdings and it ---  5 

and thereafter, the Commissioners will have some questions  6 

for you. 7 

  In relation to that, you have sworn, or at  8 

least you have signed this witness statement and that is  9 

dated the 22nd of September 2016. 10 

  Do you have a copy of that? 11 

 A I do. 12 

 Q Can you confirm that what you said in  13 

that witness statement is correct? 14 

 A It’s correct. 15 

 Q This particular contract which is one of  16 

the contracts referred to in the Auditor General’s Section  17 

3, it relates to the supply of granite and aggregate  18 

materials, yes? 19 

 A Huh-huh. 20 

 Q And it’s right that -- as I understand it,  21 

you were the Purchasing Officer for the Ministry of Public  22 

Works and Engineering from 2004 until 2011? 23 

 A Correct. 24 

 Q And it’s -- is it also right, I think you  25 
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say that in your witness statement, that Government  1 

requires the aggregate for purposes of, among other things,  2 

road asphalt? 3 

 A Correct. 4 

 Q And when you were the Purchasing Officer,  5 

when you became the Purchasing Officer, Government had  6 

traditionally bought its aggregate for making asphalt from 7 

East End Asphalt? 8 

 A Correct. 9 

 Q And apparently they had done so for the last 10 

40 years? 11 

 A As long I have known, correct. 12 

 Q I also understand from your witness  13 

statement that the aggregate which is bought, either by the  14 

Government directly or through East -- East End Asphalt is  15 

bought from the same quarry in Canada? 16 

 A That’s incorrect. 17 

 Q Okay. 18 

  Can you -- 19 

 A The aggregate that come from East End  20 

Asphalt come from a separate quarry than the aggregate that  21 

Government decided to buy during the process. 22 

 Q Okay. 23 

  There was a quarry, as I understand it, D.M. 24 

Rogers? 25 
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 A Yes. 1 

 Q And that is a quarry from which certainly 2 

the Government has at least once purchased aggregate  3 

directly? 4 

 A Yes. 5 

 Q And have I got it wrong, or has East End  6 

Asphalt also bought from D.M. Rogers their aggregate? 7 

 A Not to my knowledge, they buy from a  8 

different quarry. 9 

 Q Different quarry. 10 

  And I understand that in 2009, there was a  11 

shortage for the aggregate in Bermuda? 12 

 A Correct. 13 

 Q And I understand that there was one and a  14 

half or two months of aggregate left in Bermuda? 15 

 A That’s correct. 16 

 Q And so there was some urgency in obtaining  17 

new material because otherwise the road crews would be left  18 

without the material? 19 

 A Correct. 20 

 Q And in relation to that then, did you -- 21 

what steps did you take in order to obtain that? 22 

 A Once it was recognized that there was only a  23 

couple of months left of aggregate at the quarry and it  24 

takes at least a couple months for aggregate to arrive by  25 
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ship, we -- I contacted or was in contact with the Head of  1 

the quarry at the time, the Head of the Asphalt Plant and  2 

it was determined at that point that it was an emergency 3 

and that we would have had to gone on to -- or I would  4 

have taken it on to the Permanent Secretary and the  5 

Minister so that they can make the decision to bypass the  6 

regulations that normally govern purchasing, so that we can 7 

get it in urgently. 8 

 Q The regulation you’re concerned about is  9 

obtaining Cabinet Approval? 10 

 A No, it’s -- in a PFA document 2000 where it  11 

expresses a procedure in which you purchase goods or  12 

materials that are emergency. 13 

 Q Right. 14 

  And in this case, how many companies did you  15 

invite to show an interest and bid for it? 16 

 A Initially we went to East End Asphalt, as  17 

well as going directly to D.M. -- I mean D.M. Rogers --  18 

ourselves and then we also sent a bid to Harmony Holdings. 19 

 Q Okay. 20 

  And as far as Harmony Holdings is  21 

concerned, can you tell us something about that company? 22 

 A What do you want me to tell you? 23 

 Q Well, Harmony Holdings had not bid for the  24 

supply of aggregate in the past? 25 
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 A That’s correct. 1 

 Q And as I understand it from looking at the  2 

documents, it was a company about to be incorporated in  3 

Bermuda? 4 

 A Yeah, after looking at the documents you  5 

sent, yes, that’s true.   6 

   However, at the time with the information  7 

that we had at the time, we believed it to be a 8 

company that was already set up and ready to go. 9 

 Q Okay. 10 

  And I think this -- there’s not a dispute. 11 

  The company was owned by, I think partly, by  12 

your father, is that right? 13 

 A That’s correct. 14 

 Q And it was owned 50 percent by your father 15 

and 50 percent by another gentleman? 16 

 A That’s correct. 17 

 Q And is -- I think his name was Walter Green  18 

(ph)? 19 

 A That’s correct. 20 

 Q Yes. 21 

  And if you look at the dates which were  22 

received, which you will see at Page --- if you look at,  23 

Senator Ball, at Tab 3, which deals with this particular  24 

contract --- 25 
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 A It’s that Bundle 1 or Bundle 2? 1 

 Q Bundle 1. 2 

 A Bundle 1, yes. 3 

 Q And if you look at Tab 3 and if you would  4 

please go to Page 43. 5 

 A (Witness complies.) 6 

  Huh-huh. 7 

 Q The page number is at the top, second --- 8 

 A Yes. 9 

 Q And you see that there is a chart prepared  10 

of the three possible sources. 11 

  One is Ambling Holdings and it did --- and  12 

they have the selling, they have it for $51.50 per ton? 13 

 A Huh-huh. 14 

 Q And then End East Asphalt, $46.00 per ton? 15 

 A Huh-huh. 16 

 Q And then D.M. Rogers, that’s directly if the 17 

Government was to buy directly from D.M. Rogers --- 18 

 A Huh-huh. 19 

 Q That would be for the $42.00 per  20 

ton? 21 

 A $47.12 for ton. 22 

 Q $47.12 --- $47.00 per ton. 23 

  And it was decided that the Government was 24 

not going to deal directly with the quarry? 25 
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 A At some point, yeah.   1 

  During the process, yes, that’s --- 2 

 Q So the choice was really between Harmony  3 

Holdings Limited and East End Asphalt, yes? 4 

 A I think all of them would have come into  5 

consideration, but at the --- our first --- The first thing  6 

that we did was we dealt with East End Asphalt. 7 

 Q Yes. 8 

 A Because of the bills that are listed. 9 

 Q Can you tell me how was it, in what  10 

circumstances did Harmony Holdings, which was a company  11 

about to be incorporated, decided to go into this business? 12 

 A I can’t answer for Harmony Holdings. 13 

  I’m not sure what you’re asking me. 14 

 Q Well, I mean, do you know how they came to  15 

find out there was a (coughing/inaudible) selling aggregate  16 

to the Government? 17 

 A Yeah. 18 

   As it says in my witness statement that my   19 

Dad ask about it because he had heard --- heard about it  20 

from people from East End Asphalt that they were about to,  21 

I guess, in their mind, get this Government contract. 22 

 Q Huh-huh. 23 

 A And so he asked me about, you know, about  24 

the Government contract, and can anybody, can his company  25 
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bid on it, and I said yeah, I can’t see why not. 1 

 Q Okay. 2 

  So and did you --- Did you put him in touch  3 

with other Technical Officers in the Department? 4 

 A No. 5 

  I put him in touch with the person that was  6 

actually dealing with the aggregate purchase, which was Mr.  7 

Tuzo. 8 

 Q That was Mr. Tuzo. 9 

  And did Mr. Tuzo call him to advise him how  10 

he could bid for it? 11 

 A Correct. 12 

 Q Okay. 13 

 A Or the company, I’m not sure if he called  14 

-- 15 

 Q Yes. 16 

 A --- Mr. Green or if he called anyone else. 17 

  CHAIRMAN:   Mr. Hargun, I’m going to  18 

raise this now, although I don’t want to interfere,  19 

interrupt the course of your questioning, but the witness  20 

statement from Mr. Ball says that there was a crisis, an  21 

emergency in early 2009. 22 

  MR. HARGUN:  Yes. 23 

  CHAIRMAN:   And that made it necessary,  24 

he said to go take a shortcut and not have the formal  25 
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tender process, but now these quotes come in September  1 

2010. 2 

  SENATOR BALL:  I don’t know what, to what  3 

you’re referring. 4 

  I think you are referring to, that’s an  5 

email, that’s not the actual tender process at all. 6 

  CHAIRMAN:   Okay. 7 

  So you’ll have --- that’s the explanation. 8 

  MR. HARGUN:  Oh, I see. 9 

  This is not the --- this doesn’t relate to 10 

this particular --- 11 

  SENATOR BALL:  It does. 12 

  But I’m saying he’s looking at the date of  13 

the email --- 14 

  MR. HARGUN:  Oh, I see. 15 

  MR. BALL:  --- and I think that’s in  16 

September, but this whole --- this whole process took place  17 

in between --- 18 

  MR BARRITT:  If I could help, Mr. Hargun,  19 

I think it’s the Financial Controller replying to questions  20 

that had passed --- someone in the Office of the Auditor  21 

General who wants to know what happened here. 22 

  MR. HARGUN:  It’s quite important. 23 

  These quotations do represent the quotations  24 

which we received at the time of the 2009 bid? 25 
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  SENATOR BALL:  Correct, in April.  1 

  CHAIRMAN:   (Interrupts) And he does have  2 

the originals, is that --- 3 

  MR. HARGUN:  We have the --- We have a 2009  4 

documentation which deals with, Mr. Chairman, the Purchase  5 

Order and also deals with the payment, that’s all in 2009. 6 

  CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 7 

  MR. HARGUN:  Is that approach --- if we look  8 

at the invoice at Page 4, that’s an invoice sold to  9 

Government of Bermuda from Harmony Holdings and it is ---  10 

and it invoices in the amount of $1,421,000.00, but more  11 

importantly, dated 28th of May 2009. 12 

  CHAIRMAN:   And there’s a Purchase Order  13 

on the previous page. 14 

  MR. HARGUN:  Yes. 15 

  There’s a Purchase Order on the previous  16 

page. 17 

  MR BARRITT:  That’s Page 6. 18 

  MR. HARGUN:  Correct. 19 

  CHAIRMAN:   So anyway, as I say, I didn’t  20 

want to interrupt you, but thank you. 21 

  MR. HARGUN:  (Interrupts)  No, no, thank  22 

you. 23 

 Q (By Mr. Hargun)  And look at Paragraph 9 of  24 

your witness statement at the top. 25 
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  You say that Shawne Tuzo ran the process in  1 

terms of collection, the quotations and putting together a  2 

spreadsheet of the options.  East End Asphalt’s price was  3 

lower than the price of importing directly. 4 

  I remember talking to Shawne Tuzo about this  5 

and we could not understand how the price could be so low.    6 

I was concerned by this.  I thought that there was little  7 

chance East End Asphalt would carry through on delivery at  8 

such a price.  I suspected that would, after we had signed  9 

it, insist upon a higher price.  This is not unheard of. 10 

  In any event, I thought it was too high a  11 

risk to take.  I was also concerned that the delivery date  12 

was outside the stipulated delivery date.   13 

    I cannot now remember the difference in  14 

their proposed date and the stipulated one, but it was a  15 

factor in my decision-making.  I was also concerned that  16 

their price was so much lower than the price they had been  17 

charging in the past, that this showed that it is possible  18 

that they had been overcharging. 19 

  Then you say in Paragraph 10, Harmony  20 

Holding’s quote, on the other hand, was approximately 10  21 

percent of the cost of bringing in the aggregate directly.   22 

  Given the policy considerations of using and  23 

developing local suppliers and involving Bermuda  24 

businesses, my recommendation was that the award --- to  25 
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award the contract to Harmony Holdings. 1 

  So I mean you understand it was your  2 

recommendation that the contract be awarded to Harmony  3 

Holdings? 4 

 A I recommended it to the Permanent Secretary,  5 

the Permanent Secretary made the final decision. 6 

 Q Yes. 7 

  And you were actually concerned, you say  8 

that the bid from East End Asphalt, appeared to be too low  9 

and you were concerned that in due course if their bid was  10 

accepted, they would come along and say, we can’t perform  11 

and we want to raise our prices. 12 

  Did you go back to them and say that you had  13 

concerns in relation to that effect? 14 

 A Yes, I asked Mr. Tuzo to go back and check  15 

on that price, $46.00 --- 16 

  CHAIRMAN:   I’m sorry. 17 

  I haven’t heard a word of that. 18 

  SENATOR BALL:  I’m sorry. 19 

  Yes, I did ask Mr. Tuzo to go back to East  20 

End Asphalt and inquire about their $46.00 price because it  21 

was even lower than the Government bringing it in directly,  22 

which didn’t make any sense. 23 

 Q (By Mr. Hargun)  And did East End Asphalt  24 

confirm that they were prepared to supply at $46.00 per  25 
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ton? 1 

 A Well, what they confirmed was that the price  2 

was low because of the price of oil, as far as the price of  3 

the Canadian dollar at that time.  4 

   However, however we were getting a price on  5 

the quarry, the exact same quarry that they were getting  6 

aggregate from.  So the price of oil and the price of the  7 

Canadian dollar would have affected our quote as well.  8 

 Q Yes. 9 

  So I mean that would explain the drop that,  10 

at least on the face of it, price of oil would mean that  11 

transportation costs would be lower and production costs  12 

would be lower. 13 

  The Canadian dollar, the pricing which you  14 

have to pay if that had gone down in value as against the  15 

Bermuda and U.S. dollar, that would again, lower the  16 

price which they’d have to pay? 17 

 A Of course. 18 

 Q Yes. 19 

    So I mean that was still a factor which  20 

played on your mind, was it, when you decided not to accept  21 

their bid, which was ten percent lower? 22 

 A There was at least three factors that played  23 

on my mind. 24 

  One was their price was lower than the spec  25 
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price.  I think you’re probably dealing with a few issues  1 

now where contracts come in at one price, and then they ask  2 

for something else.  So that was an issue. 3 

  The second issue was, three years prior East  4 

End Asphalt’s price to the Government was $85.00 a metric  5 

ton. 6 

  One year later --- one year previous to  7 

this, the price was now down to $58.00 a metric ton and now  8 

all of a sudden, it’s down to $46.00 a metric ton. 9 

  So there was an issue of, well, have they  10 

been overcharging us all this time.  That’s something that  11 

is obviously playing in our minds. 12 

 Q Did you --- 13 

 A In addition --- 14 

 Q --- sorry. 15 

 A In addition, East End Asphalt’s delivery  16 

date was outside of the delivery date that we needed,  17 

because we needed aggregate immediate --- as quickly as  18 

possible and their delivery date was outside of that. 19 

  So those are the three main factors in my  20 

deliberations or in the --- our deliberations, I should  21 

say. 22 

 Q In your witness statement, you say that, you  23 

can’t quite remember what the delivery date, but you said,  24 

“in any event, I thought it was too high a risk. 25 
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  I was also concerned that the delivery date  1 

was outside the stipulated delivery date. 2 

  I cannot now remember the difference in  3 

their proposed date, and the stipulated one, but it was a  4 

factor you say”. 5 

  A Yeah, indeed. 6 

   And I want to thank Mr. Adamson for  7 

sending some accurate --- actual --- extra documents this  8 

morning for my review, because now I was able to see, in  9 

fact, that East End Asphalt’s original quote that I have in  10 

front of me, I’m not sure you have it, but it’s in  11 

Thomasina Hassell’s witness statements. 12 

  They said that they can provide the  13 

aggregate at $46.00 a metric ton, but it would not be  14 

before June the 16th. 15 

  So that was the reason for my decision. 16 

 Q But that is, that document is Ms. Thomasina  17 

Hassell told us wasn’t in relation to this contract? 18 

  And so what’s the point you’re making here,  19 

Senator Ball, that it gives you the date? 20 

 A Yeah. 21 

  If you go to the --- we need --- we needed  22 

the aggregate urgently.  23 

 Q Yes. 24 

 A And we wouldn’t have had, we had two months  25 



 154 

supplies, and we wanted to have the aggregate by the middle  1 

of June. 2 

  If East End Asphalt, no matter what their  3 

price is, if they can’t get it to us by the middle of June,  4 

then all --- it would certainly be a factor in our  5 

decisions.  6 

 Q And if you look at the --- just have a look  7 

at Page 36 in there and as we see --- that’s the one  8 

(indicating).   9 

   And they are, are they not telling you that 10 

they would be delivering in --- they say not earlier than 11 

June 16th? 12 

  A That’s what I understand. 13 

   I mean that’s ---  14 

  Q Yeah. 15 

  A --- that doesn’t mean not earlier than June 16 

16th, but as far as I know, if they say they can’t get it 17 

to us before June 16th. 18 

  Q Okay. 19 

  A Then they are not being able to deliver it 20 

the timeframe that we require, so that was one of the three 21 

reasons that we looked at East End Asphalt. 22 

  Q Did you go back to them, saying well, 23 

delivery date is quite important and you say, not --- not 24 

earlier than June 16th? 25 
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  A I didn’t say that, they said that. 1 

  Q Oh, I see, no. 2 

   The question I’m asking is, did you instruct 3 

somebody at Works and Engineering to go back to them and 4 

say, the delivery date is important, can you please tell us 5 

firmly when you might be able to deliver? 6 

  A No. 7 

   I didn’t ask anyone to determine what day 8 

they can actually deliver it, but we spoke to them in 9 

advance as well as Harmony Holdings so that both of them 10 

knew that we needed the aggregate by the middle of June, 11 

June 16th I think was the deadline and --- 12 

  Q I see. 13 

  A And East End Asphalt said that they cannot 14 

meet the --- 15 

  Q Yes. 16 

  A --- the 16th. 17 

  Q Yes. 18 

   The quotation by Harmony Holdings, which you 19 

will see at --- in Thomasina’s page 39. 20 

  A Huh-huh. 21 

  Q Right. 22 

   There, if you look at their delivery --- 23 

page 39? 24 

  A Huh-huh. 25 
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  Q Sorry, let me help, you probably know as 1 

well. 2 

   You need to go to Tab 18 of the witness 3 

bundle. 4 

  A (Witness complies.) 5 

  Q And you need to go to the exhibit to the 6 

witness statement and then go to, if you read at the bottom 7 

handwritten pagination, page 39. 8 

  A (Witness complies.) 9 

  Q Do you know that batch? 10 

  A Page --- 11 

  Q Page 39 in the exhibit. 12 

   MR. HARGUN:  Do you have that, Mr. Barritt? 13 

   MR. BARRITT:  No. 14 

   MS. MEMARI:  It’s the quote on the --- 15 

   MR. HARGUN:  It’s the quote. 16 

BY MR HARGUN:  Q This is a quotation from Harmony 17 

Holdings and they are suggesting that the delivery date 18 

would be mid-June, yes? 19 

  A Correct, huh-huh.  Yes, you’re correct. 20 

  Q And you said earlier that obviously you made 21 

a recommendation that it should be given to Harmony 22 

Holdings, but it wasn’t your decision, it was the decision 23 

of the Permanent Secretary? 24 

  A That’s correct. 25 



 157 

  Q And you referred your recommendation to the 1 

Permanent Secretary, yes? 2 

  A That’s correct. 3 

  Q When you --- when you referred your 4 

recommendation to the Permanent Secretary, did you tell the 5 

Permanent Secretary that Harmony Holdings was 50 percent 6 

owned by your father? 7 

  A No, I did not. 8 

  Q Can you -- Can you explain why you did not 9 

do that? 10 

  A Because if -- in my view, if I were to 11 

reveal that Harmony Holdings who, as far as I was 12 

concerned, was just another company, if I were to reveal 13 

that Harmony Holdings was 50 percent owned by my father, 14 

then that would have automatically prejudiced the whole 15 

process because if I had gone to Mr. Tuzo and said, Mr. 16 

Tuzo, you’re going to do this aggregate purchase on behalf 17 

of the Government and Harmony Holdings has my father as a 18 

50 percent shareholder, then one of two things is going to 19 

occur. 20 

   One, he’s going to say, I’m going to give it 21 

to your father, not because that’s your father or two, I’m 22 

not going to give it to your father, because I don’t want 23 

to give it to your father, I don’t like you or whatever the 24 

case may be, but in order for Mr. Tuzo to remain objective 25 
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in his -- any decision-making that he had, I thought it 1 

would best that that not be revealed because that’s the 2 

only way to remain total objective to me in this particular 3 

instance. 4 

   I would have prejudiced Harmony Holdings had 5 

I revealed that. 6 

  Q Yes. 7 

   And Senator Ball, you were putting forward 8 

your recommendation to the Minister and the Minister was 9 

entitled to rely upon your recommendation. 10 

   Did it occur to you that perhaps you should 11 

disclose so that there could be no appearance of conflict 12 

that --- 13 

  A There was no appearance of conflict in my 14 

mind because I was not affiliated with Harmony Holdings in 15 

any way, shape or form. 16 

  Q No. 17 

   I haven’t heard that. 18 

  A I said I was not conflicted with Harmony 19 

Holdings, I was not a shareholder of Harmony Holdings, this 20 

was a decision, company versus company.  It had nothing to 21 

do with, I didn’t feel conflicted.  I just wanted the best 22 

decision on behalf of the Government and I might add that 23 

the quote by Harmony Holdings and the delivery by Harmony 24 

Holdings was indeed the lowest price that the Government 25 
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had paid in over ten years. 1 

  Q Yes. 2 

   And did it not occur to you that it could be 3 

said that given that you were recommending the contract to 4 

a company in which your father owned 50 percent of the 5 

shares, that it gave an appearance, appearance of conflict? 6 

  A I think if I would have revealed that, then 7 

yeah, I would have, I think that I would have prejudiced 8 

Harmony Holdings, if I had done so. 9 

  Q So you thought that you were actually 10 

protecting the position by not disclosing --- 11 

  A I was not (inaudible).  I was protecting the 12 

process, an objective process of choosing the best supplier 13 

and when I went to the Permanent Secretary and I laid out 14 

all of the facts, the facts that East End Asphalt’s price, 15 

even though he is low, it’s lower than our price and I laid 16 

out the fact that East End Asphalt three years before had 17 

been charging $85.00 for aggregate and now were charging 18 

$46.00, a 50 percent difference because they have 19 

competition and when I expressed the fact that East End 20 

Asphalt cannot meet the delivery date, then, like I said 21 

I’m just -- it’s a process. 22 

   It’s not got nothing to do with a company 23 

that my father owns.  It is strictly just a process of 24 

picking and choosing the best supplier. 25 
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  Q Yes. 1 

   You’re familiar with the Financial 2 

Instructions which you had to comply with in relation to 3 

awarding contracts? 4 

  A The Minister of Public Records governed by 5 

PFA documents 2000, PFA documents 2002. 6 

  Q Okay. 7 

   Would you -- but in relation to, they’re 8 

also governed by Financial Instructions at the same time, 9 

are they not? 10 

  A I -- I’m not sure. 11 

  Q Yeah. 12 

   Could you ---I’m just wondering whether you 13 

had in mind the provisions which are --- are in existence 14 

in relation to issue of conflicts. 15 

   Would you -- this was in 2009, if you look 16 

at the -- they’re all the same, it doesn’t matter, they 17 

don’t change. 18 

   Having looked at Volume A, Tab 4, which sets 19 

out the Financial Instructions and there is a specific 20 

provision which deals with conflict of interest and if you 21 

look at Paragraph 3.3, conflict of interest. 22 

   Do you see that? 23 

  A (Witness complies.) 24 

  Q And to give you the context of --- read --- 25 
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do you have that, Senator Ball? 1 

  A I do have it.  Yes, I do have it. 2 

  Q Just to read the middle paragraph, 3 

“Employees must not use their position or through knowledge 4 

gained through it for private or personal advantage or in 5 

such manner that a conflict of appearance of a conflict 6 

arises between the Government’s interest and their personal 7 

interest. 8 

   A conflict of interest is created when an 9 

obligation, interest or distraction exists, which would 10 

interfere with the independent exercise of judgment in the 11 

Government’s best interest.   12 

   If any employee feels that a course which 13 

they have pursued or are pursuing or are contemplating 14 

pursuing may involve them in a conflict of interest, they 15 

should immediately make all facts known to their superior. 16 

   I’m just wondering as to whether, in light 17 

of that particular Financial Instruction, it occurred to 18 

you that perhaps you should disclose all that to the 19 

Permanent Secretary? 20 

  A No, I didn’t think that. 21 

   Can I have a copy of the PFA document 2000? 22 

  Q Yes. 23 

   PFA 2000 you will find in --- at Tab 8 and 24 

there is a provision that, Senator Ball, in relation to 25 
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conflict of interest in PFA 2000 and you will find that at 1 

Page 29, Paragraph 5. 2 

  A Right. 3 

   And it says, “That Employees engaged in any 4 

practicing transaction are expected to be free of any 5 

interest or relationship which are actually or potentially 6 

amicably or detrimental to the best interests of the 7 

Ministry and shall not engage or participate in any 8 

commercial transactions involved with the Ministry unless 9 

they have significant undisclosed financial interests.” 10 

   I didn’t feel that this particular contract 11 

was in the detrimental to the best interests of the 12 

Ministry and neither did I feel that --- I definitely 13 

didn’t have any undisclosed financial interest in Harmony 14 

Holdings as the records show. 15 

  Q So your view was that this did not give rise 16 

to a conflict and so you were not concerned? 17 

  A I wanted the process to remain objective in 18 

all ways and I didn’t want anyone to do me or my Dad’s 19 

company a favor or to prejudice them in any way, shape or 20 

form. 21 

  Q Okay. 22 

   Would you look at Tab 12, which is the 23 

Government of Bermuda Conditions of Employment and Code of 24 

Conduct? 25 
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  A (Witness complies.) 1 

  Q You were at the time employed by the 2 

Government? 3 

  A Correct. 4 

  Q Correct. 5 

   And if you go to Page 35, Senator Ball, do 6 

you see Paragraph 7.32.3, How Can I Avoid a Conflict of 7 

Interest? 8 

   Do you see that? 9 

  A Right. 10 

   I do see it. 11 

  Q Sorry? 12 

  A I see it. 13 

  Q Yes. 14 

     Let’s read it together. 15 

   “Conflict of interest which official duties 16 

may arise for various reasons and as an individual, you may 17 

have private interests that from time to time conflict with 18 

your public duties. 19 

   However, there is a reasonable public 20 

expectation that where such conflict occurs, it will be 21 

resolved in favor of the public, rather in public interests 22 

rather than your own.      23 

   Disclose potential conflicts of interests to 24 

management when dealing in the course of official duties 25 
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with relatives, close friends or business acquaintances. 1 

   Do you not think that the sentence which I 2 

just read to you covers your position? 3 

  A I don’t feel that in this particular 4 

instance, that the --- I was actually, actually, in fact, 5 

in the public interest rather than my own interest because 6 

this particular contract as I have said, was the best price 7 

that the Government had received in over ten years. 8 

   So it was not --- I was not doing anything 9 

that was going to be detrimental to the Government. 10 

   As a matter of fact, like I said, I think 11 

that you were dealing with a lot of contracts right now 12 

that have gone over-budget and this was one contract, which 13 

I think you will admit, that was perfect for (last sent).  14 

There was no course of wrongs, everything went perfectly, 15 

efficiently and professionally. 16 

  Q Just a minor point. 17 

   You said that East End obtained an aggregate 18 

from a different quarry. 19 

   Do you remember that party? 20 

  A Mariani (ph) something or the other, MMN, 21 

something, I don’t recall. 22 

  Q And I think if you look at Page 36 of Page 23 

36 at 18 Exhibit in the witness statements and you see that 24 

they were actually --- This is from East End Asphalt, a 25 
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quotation. 1 

  A Huh-huh. 2 

  Q They’re actually supplying to you from both 3 

quarry’s, weren’t they? 4 

  A Huh-huh. 5 

  Q They were giving you quotations from both 6 

quarries. 7 

   One, Marriett (ph) and the other one, I 8 

think, which Doug Burns (ph) is the one which the 9 

Government uses? 10 

  A Correct, yes. 11 

   MR. HARGUN:  Mr. Chairman, I don’t have any 12 

further questions. 13 

   MR FROOMKIN:  May I? 14 

   CHAIRMAN:   Oh, Mr. Froomkin. 15 

   Do you have any questions? 16 

   MR FROOMKIN:  I just have two, yes, Mr. 17 

Chairman, thank you. 18 

   Senator Ball, the price that Harmony was to 19 

get from Government you say was $51.50? 20 

   SENATOR BALL: Correct. 21 

   MR FROOMKIN:  Was that, in fact, their 22 

quote? 23 

   SENATOR BALL:  Their original quote was 24 

actually $53.00, but I asked Mr. Tuzo to go and negotiate 25 
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that price down and he negotiated it down to $51.50. 1 

   MR FROOMKIN:  And while you’ve got that on  2 

-- in front of you, if you could look at Page 38 of the 3 

witness statement there, Mr. Chairman, that’s Ms. Hassell’s 4 

witness statement, Page 38. 5 

   You see that that’s the quote from Harmony? 6 

   SENATOR BALL:  Correct. 7 

   MR FROOMKIN:  And typewritten, it shows the 8 

quoted price is $53.00 and then in script it’s $51.50? 9 

   SENATOR BALL:  Correct. 10 

   MR FROOMKIN:  And $51.50 is what was 11 

actually charged? 12 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yes. 13 

   MR FROOMKIN:  Thank you. 14 

     Do you recall what the quote from the 15 

quarry, that is --- the quarry that you wanted them to use? 16 

   Do you remember what that quote was to 17 

Government, if they purchased directly? 18 

   SENATOR BALL:  If Government were to 19 

purchase directly from the DMR quarry, it would have been 20 

$47.12. 21 

   MR FROOMKIN:  $47.12? 22 

   SENATOR BALL:  Correct. 23 

    MR FROOMKIN:  And what was East End quoting? 24 

    SENATOR BALL:  $46.00. 25 
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   MR FROOMKIN:  Mr. Chairman, I think those 1 

are my questions. 2 

   CHAIRMAN:   Thank you. 3 

     Ms. Memari, do you have any questions? 4 

   MS. MEMARI:  No, thank you. 5 

   MS. LUCK:  I just have --- I’m trying to go 6 

back through my notes. 7 

   I recall yesterday during some of the 8 

evidence given by members of the Works and Engineering 9 

Department, that they talked about part of the process when 10 

a tender was approved was to both understand who the 11 

principals were behind a company and also understand that 12 

they were indebted to the Government and I can’t actually 13 

find it, but I know I wrote it down somewhere. 14 

   SENATOR BALL:  That would be in the PFA 15 

document 2002. 16 

   The document that will relate to this 17 

particular purchase in PFA 2000.  So it’s two different 18 

documents. 19 

   MS. LUCK:  So when it says, it requires you 20 

to disclose the principal, what do you understand? 21 

   SENATOR BALL:  I’m sorry. 22 

   What you’re talking, the document you’re 23 

talking about is PFA 2002. 24 

   MS. LUCK: Right. 25 
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   SENATOR BALL:  The document that governs the 1 

purchase of goods and services, which is the Purchasing 2 

Department, is Document PFA 2000, two separate documents. 3 

   MS. LUCK:  So you don’t believe that applied 4 

to this situation I guess is my question? 5 

   SENATOR BALL:  I believe that if I would 6 

have revealed that my Dad was a principal in Harmony 7 

Holdings, then the process would have not been objective 8 

because Mr. Tuzo who is a subordinate of mine, was working 9 

on the particular transaction would have either said, he 10 

could be null and void, meaning that he doesn’t know 11 

anything, so he’s going to be completely objective. 12 

   Or, he’s going to say, oh, I know this is 13 

your father’s business.  I’m going to do everything I can 14 

to get it to him or he can say, this is your father’s 15 

business, I’m going to do everything I can to not give it 16 

to him. 17 

   In order for the process to have remained 18 

totally objective and I think that’s my view to remain 19 

totally objective, it was not to reveal that it was my 20 

father’s company.  That’s the only way he could remain 21 

totally objective and not prejudiced on these orders. 22 

   MR. BARRITT:  Just to clarify something. 23 

   I thought you said in evidence you put your 24 

father in touch with Mr. Tuzo? 25 
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   SENATOR BALL:  I put --- I put Harmony 1 

Holdings in touch with Mr. Tuzo. 2 

   Mr. Tuzo actually --- I asked Mr. Tuzo to 3 

call Harmony Holdings and he would have gotten in contact 4 

with my father’s partner. 5 

   MR. BARRITT:  At the time the company wasn’t 6 

incorporated, who would he have called? 7 

   SENATOR BALL:  He called Mr. --- Mr. Green. 8 

   Now, there is a discrepancy between and if 9 

you look at the quotes here on, it’s --- I just have Page 10 

38, I scribbled 38 on --- I don’t know where it is on the 11 

tab, but it’s the quote from Harmony Holdings. 12 

   At the very top you’ll see Harmony Holdings 13 

Limited, so we were calling or Shawne Tuzo was calling 14 

Harmony Holdings, Harmony Holdings replied.   15 

   There was no knowledge on any eyes of our 16 

Department that Harmony Holdings couldn’t --- wasn’t 17 

incorporated yet. 18 

   MR. BARRITT:  I’m sorry. 19 

   Who --- what note are you referring to? 20 

   SENATOR BALL:  I don’t know what page it is, 21 

I just have it in this binder --- 22 

   (All parties speaking.) 23 

   SENATOR BALL:  Thomasina Hassell’s --- 24 

   MR. BARRITT:  Thomasina Hassell’s, there’s a 25 



 170 

handwritten note. 1 

   MS. MEMARI:  No. 2 

   MR. BARRITT:  Isn’t there? 3 

   SENATOR BALL:  No. 4 

   MS. MEMARI:  There’s no headed. 5 

   SENATOR BALL:  I’m just giving you the 6 

heading, like that’s who we’re dealing with.  We’re not --- 7 

I just know the legal side of things and, you know, when 8 

the company would have been incorporated and the like, but 9 

--- 10 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 11 

   SENATOR BALL:  --- and there is some 12 

evidence to show that at least on the --- on the behalf of 13 

the beneficiaries of Harmony Holdings, that they had 14 

already set up something as ADVERT documents. I’m saying 15 

that they had set up something by the 7th of April. 16 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 17 

   SENATOR BALL:  So we’re dealing with them 18 

after the 7th of April. 19 

   However, you know, with Government it might 20 

be a little bit slow, so the --- the Registry of Companies 21 

may have registered them after the 7th of April. 22 

   MR. BARRITT:  Right. 23 

   So just so I understand, it’s your evidence 24 

that if we ask Mr. Tuzo whether he ever spoke with your 25 
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father about this at the time, he wouldn’t know that your 1 

father was involved? 2 

   SENATOR BALL:  That’s correct. 3 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 4 

   Who was the PS at this time? 5 

   SENATOR BALL:  Mr. Horton. 6 

   MR. BARRITT:  Mr. Horton, okay. 7 

   Yesterday I did ask him the question. 8 

   I don’t know if you were here then as to how 9 

he would regard it if someone didn’t disclose the 10 

principals of a company with whom they were doing business, 11 

Works and Engineering. 12 

   SENATOR BALL:  Huh-huh. 13 

   MR. BARRITT:  And I wrote down that he said 14 

to me, it was a requirement that that --- 15 

   SENATOR BALL:  Again --- 16 

   MR. BARRITT:  --- that that was custom and 17 

practice. 18 

   I mean he said that that was the sort of 19 

thing that people were expected to do. 20 

   SENATOR BALL:  Again, you are talking about 21 

Contract Services, which is PFA Document 2002. 22 

   The document that governs the Purchasing 23 

Department is PFA 2000 and we don’t need to disclose it and 24 

it’s --- 25 



 172 

   MR. BARRITT:  This contract was 2009. 1 

   I’m not --- 2 

   SENATOR BALL:  I’m sorry. 3 

   You’re looking at dates, 2002 and 2000, 4 

thinking that it is the date, but it is the actual name of 5 

the document, not the year of the document. 6 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 7 

   So Mr. Horton has that wrong then. 8 

   SENATOR BALL:  Well, Mr. Horton is right --- 9 

   MR. BARRITT:  He may have it right but not 10 

in this case? 11 

   SENATOR BALL:  What Mr. Horton has right 12 

that if a tender has gone out under PFA Document 2002, yes, 13 

it is a requirement that they disclose the principals. 14 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 15 

   SENATOR BALL:  Under the Purchasing Section, 16 

that’s not a requirement. 17 

   MR. BARRITT:  All right, thank you. 18 

   The last thing Mr. Hargun didn’t put to you 19 

in 7.2.3 of the Conditions of Employment, the last 20 

paragraph in that Conditions of Employment and I’ll read 21 

it. 22 

   It says, “It is not possible to define all 23 

potential areas of conflict of interest and if you’re in 24 

doubt as to whether a conflict exists, raise this with your 25 
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appropriate manager.   1 

   In some circumstances, the appearance of a 2 

conflict of interest could itself, jeopardize your public 3 

integrity. 4 

   You are required to declare to the Permanent 5 

Secretary, Head of Department, any conflict of interest 6 

that arises or is likely to arise. 7 

   You should stand down in any decision-making 8 

process where you may be compromised.”   9 

   I am --- What’s your reaction to that? 10 

   SENATOR BALL:  Again, I didn’t feel that I 11 

was personally conflicted because I was not a principal of 12 

Harmony Holdings in any way, shape or form and I was not 13 

going to benefit in any way, shape or form and if --- and 14 

it’s my view and I’m not sure if it’s your view, but if I 15 

were to disclose again that my Dad was a principal, it 16 

would have prejudiced Harmony Holdings and I was only 17 

dealing with Harmony Holdings as a company.  I wasn’t 18 

dealing with it because it’s my Dad.  I’m dealing with it 19 

objectively and professionally as a company. 20 

   MR. BARRITT:  I’m just going to ask you in 21 

light of that paragraph, whether you spoke to anyone about 22 

this, just to get some comfort that you were doing the 23 

right thing in not wanting to prejudice your father’s 24 

company by talking with someone in the Civil Service, maybe 25 
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even somebody in the Department like Thomasina Hassell, as 1 

to whether or not that was the way to proceed? 2 

   SENATOR BALL:  I didn’t mention it to 3 

anyone. 4 

   I wanted the process to remain totally 5 

objective. 6 

   MR. BARRITT:  And you had that much 7 

confidence, this may sound unfair, but I’ve got to put it 8 

to you. 9 

   You had that much confidence in PS Horton 10 

that he would not be able to make a decision based on what 11 

was the best price or what was in the best interests of 12 

Government because your father was involved? 13 

   SENATOR BALL:  No. 14 

   I presented the documents to PS Horton and I 15 

presented and laid out all the facts --- 16 

   MR. BARRITT:  But you didn’t lay out the 17 

fact that your father was involved in the company, and you 18 

said you did that deliberately because you didn’t want to 19 

prejudice him and --- 20 

   SENATOR BALL:  I didn’t want to prejudice 21 

the company --- 22 

   MR. BARRITT:  (Interrupts) --- in saying 23 

that, in saying that, you’re basically saying that you 24 

don’t think PS Horton could have made the decision, 25 
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notwithstanding the fact that your father was involved or 1 

not on the basis of all the other relevant facts which are 2 

price and delivery date and that’s what you’re --- that’s 3 

what you’re saying. 4 

   Is it, or disagree with me? 5 

   SENATOR BALL:  I’m just saying that I chose 6 

not to prejudice Harmony Holdings. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:   I didn’t catch it. 8 

   SENATOR BALL:  I chose not to prejudice 9 

Harmony Holdings. 10 

   MR. BARRITT:  As you look back on this on 11 

reflection, it’s an unfair question, do you agree that 12 

perhaps you should have done it differently? 13 

   SENATOR BALL:  This is how I’m going to 14 

answer that. 15 

   Harmony Holdings in this particular 16 

contract, fulfilled the contract and it wasn’t one cent of 17 

an overrun at all. 18 

   It was performed on time, on budget, 19 

efficiently, proficiently and if I had the choice to do it 20 

over again, I would do it the exact same way. 21 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay. 22 

   MR BRADSHAWS:  I have some questions for you 23 

as well. 24 

   SENATOR BALL:  Sure. 25 
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   MR BARRITT:  So, forgive me. 1 

   My understanding is that there are three 2 

main reasons why you made the decision to --- or why you 3 

had the opinion that Harmony Holdings was better --- 4 

   SENATOR BALL:  No. 5 

   It was three decisions on why East End 6 

Asphalt would not be the most appropriate --- 7 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Okay. 8 

   So my notes say that those were timelines? 9 

   SENATOR BALL:  There was --- for East End 10 

Asphalt, yes, they couldn’t meet the timeline. 11 

   MR BRADSHAW:  And so --- and to (spare) 12 

timeline, the importance there was that it was critical 13 

that this aggregate, this sand and rock could be received 14 

by the middle of June and my understanding was that, when 15 

he sends asphalt, said June 16th, that was too late, 16 

correct?          17 

   SENATOR BALL:  They said after June the 18 

16th. 19 

   MR BRADSHAW:  After. 20 

   No earlier than June 16th? 21 

   SENATOR BALL:  No earlier than June 16th. 22 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Okay. 23 

   The second thing was if there was a concern 24 

around pricing? 25 
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   SENATOR BALL:  Correct. 1 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Correct? 2 

   Well, you said East End Asphalt had quoted 3 

you a price, it was lower than that of Harmony Holdings? 4 

   SENATOR BALL:  It was lower than Harmony 5 

Holdings, it was even lower than if the Government ordered 6 

directly ourselves. 7 

   MR BRADSHAW:  uh-huh. 8 

   SENATOR BALL:  So that was a concern. 9 

   MR BRADSHAW:  And the third reason, the 10 

third concern was that East End Asphalt, at least from your 11 

words, may have made profits in the past with pricing that 12 

you didn’t understand? 13 

   SENATOR BALL:  What they were charging, the 14 

$85.00, which is why we then ordered directly and then a 15 

year before they were charging $58.00 and now it is down to 16 

$56.00, I mean $46.00. 17 

   So that’s a --- It’s a 40 something percent 18 

drop in price for a very short amount of time. 19 

   So there was the thought that --- that, you 20 

know, there might have been some overcharging going on. 21 

   MR BRADSHAW:  I didn’t say over --- I didn’t 22 

say overcharging just to be clear. 23 

   So I guess the first question I have is 24 

around timeline. 25 
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   If it was set --- it was very --- It was 1 

very important to get the stuff in on time, correct? 2 

   SENATOR BALL:  Important, yes. 3 

   MR BRADSHAW:  What, if any, actions did you 4 

take with Harmony Holdings to make sure that the stuff gets 5 

in on time? 6 

   SENATOR BALL:  What actions did I take? 7 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Yeah, or did anybody take? 8 

   SENATOR BALL:  According to the quote, they 9 

were able to get it in by mid-June, which is the time that 10 

we wanted it. 11 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Okay. 12 

   Because we just --- I’m seeing some --- 13 

John, if you don’t mind, I’m seeing some invoices here that 14 

are --- here’s one for the June 25th and there’s one here 15 

for July 6th of, sand and rock company.  I don’t know if 16 

I’m misreading anything, it’s --- 17 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yeah. 18 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Tab 3. 19 

   SENATOR BALL:  There were three separate 20 

shipments of aggregate that came in. 21 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Okay. 22 

   SENATOR BALL:  Under one contract. 23 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Okay. 24 

   So it was a concern about just getting the 25 
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first bit in in the beginning of June or --- 1 

   SENATOR BALL:  Well, Yes.  The construct, 2 

the (roof/road ?) crews would have been sitting idle. 3 

   As a matter of fact, they were sitting idle 4 

and they were just doing a few --- a few of them were out 5 

doing potholes because there wasn’t aggregate left by the 6 

time the aggregate came in in the middle of June. 7 

   So it was critical. 8 

   MR BRADSHAW:  But what I’m seeing here is, 9 

from Harmony Holdings, it appears it’s still coming in 10 

after --- 11 

   SENATOR BALL:  There were three separate 12 

shipments, all under the one same contract. 13 

   MR BRADSHAS:  Okay. 14 

   So when did the first shipment come in? 15 

   SENATOR BALL:  I guess you can look at the 16 

file, I think right around the middle of June. 17 

   MR BRADSHAW:  It looks like there’s one June 18 

11th? 19 

   SENATOR BALL:  June 11th? 20 

   MR BRADSHAW:  Is that correct, that’s the  21 

Page 10? 22 

   SENATOR BALL:  Page 10, see we have all --- 23 

(perusing documents).   24 

   Ok. 25 
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   MR BRADSHAW:  So I just find it a little 1 

curious because --- 2 

   MR BARRITT:  It’s the 11th of June. 3 

   MR BRADSHAW:  The second question I have 4 

just goes around pricing. 5 

   Did you --- I mean, I could understand why 6 

one might think it’s a little unusual that East End might 7 

be able to bring in something cheaper than you might --- 8 

than the Government might be able to, right? 9 

   Maybe have a different cost structure or 10 

what have you. 11 

   Did anybody reach out to East End and ask 12 

them how they could do that? 13 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yeah, I think we mentioned 14 

that earlier. 15 

   We called and asked them why was their price 16 

low.  They said because the price of the Canadian dollar. 17 

   MR BRADSHAW:  And the oil? 18 

   SENATOR BALL:  And the price of oil, but we 19 

were going direct, so the price of the Canadian dollar and 20 

the price of oil would have been the exact same (price), if 21 

it wasn’t --- 22 

   MR BRADSHAW:  So it didn’t make any sense 23 

then? 24 

   SENATOR BALL:  No, it didn’t. 25 
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   MR BRADSHAW:  All right. 1 

   Yeah, I was just --- those are my questions. 2 

   CHAIRMAN:   Mr. Ball, I’d just like to try 3 

and get an overview of this, because we’ve seen a lot of 4 

detail. 5 

   I’m looking at your witness statement, if 6 

you want to have a copy before you, Paragraph 5. 7 

   You say that this began in early 2009. 8 

   SENATOR BALL:  Correct. 9 

   CHAIRMAN:   It looks from the papers as if 10 

we’re looking at March ---  11 

   SENATOR BALL:  No, it was ---  12 

   CHAIRMAN:   --- early April? 13 

   SENATOR BALL:  --- it probably should be 14 

early April 2009 to be exact. 15 

   CHAIRMAN:   Say again? 16 

   SENATOR BALL:  April 2009 to be exact. 17 

   CHAIRMAN:   April it is. 18 

   And there were two month’s supplies? 19 

   SENATOR BALL:  And there was about two 20 

month’s supply in stock, yes. 21 

   CHAIRMAN:   And do you remember why this 22 

emergency had arisen? 23 

   SENATOR BALL:  Because --- there was a --- 24 

Let’s see what it says (perusing document). 25 



 182 

   In the year 2008, the asphalt section, their 1 

mandate was to pave about 11 kilometers a year, for the 2 

year.  They actually paved 15 kilometers, and so they used 3 

up a lot more aggregate in that particular year. 4 

   So by the time we came to April during that 5 

period and it was brought to the Purchasing Department’s 6 

attention, there was only about two month’s supply left. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:   I see. 8 

   And then we get what I’ll call the first 9 

decision, which was the decision not to follow the normal 10 

tender process and not to get Cabinet Approval. 11 

   Whose decision was that? 12 

   SENATOR BALL:  That was a combine --- it was 13 

combination of decisions between the Technical Officers at 14 

the quarry, the Permanent Secretary and the Minister. 15 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yeah. 16 

   Were you involved in that? 17 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yeah. 18 

   I would have been involved.  They would have 19 

told me to go ahead and purchase it. 20 

   CHAIRMAN:   You were involved? 21 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yes. 22 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 23 

   And what I’m slightly puzzled about at the 24 

moment, you say we wouldn’t need Cabinet’s Approval and we 25 
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wouldn’t need to follow the formal tender process, but you 1 

did then follow a tender process? 2 

   SENATOR BALL:  I did. 3 

   I did go and get three quotes, I didn’t have 4 

to do it, but --- 5 

   CHAIRMAN:  Well, if you were going to go 6 

through a tender process, I don’t see what the advantage 7 

was in not going through a formal tender process? 8 

   SENATOR BALL:  A formal tender process would 9 

have meant because it was over $250,000.00, means putting 10 

it in the newspaper for, you know, everyone to bid on it 11 

and that would have taken at least a long, it would have 12 

taken a lot longer. 13 

   CHAIRMAN:   So to save time? 14 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yes. 15 

   CHAIRMAN:   Right. 16 

   Then you decided on the face of it, looking 17 

at your Paragraph 7, that you needn’t approach D.M. Rogers, 18 

the quarry, direct because you knew what it would cost to 19 

buy from them? 20 

   SENATOR BALL:  Well, I think that’s a little 21 

bit ambiguous, but what I meant was, was that we knew the 22 

$47.12 price from at --- from D.M. Rogers. 23 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 24 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yes. 25 
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   CHAIRMAN:   And that’s direct? 1 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yeah, that’s direct. 2 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yeah. 3 

   And how did you know that, do they publish 4 

it or ---  5 

   SENATOR BALL:  Oh no, we have to --- Our 6 

Department in securing our quotes from East End Asphalt  7 

and in securing quotes from Harmony Holdings, we also went 8 

directly to the quarry ourselves to get a spec to determine 9 

how much it would actually cost to bring it in ourselves. 10 

   CHAIRMAN:   I --- partly, cause I can’t 11 

quite hear what you’re saying. 12 

   You say in your statement, we knew what it 13 

would cost to buy from D.M. Rogers direct and that price 14 

was $47.12? 15 

   SENATOR BALL:  Correct. 16 

   CHAIRMAN:   And I don’t quite understand on 17 

what --- how you knew that at this time? 18 

   Did you approach them when you decided that 19 

you were going to have your informal tender? 20 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yes, of course.  21 

   Because we wanted to get the price as well.  22 

We wanted to get the price of getting it direct, getting 23 

the price from Harmony Holdings --- 24 

   CHAIRMAN:   I see. 25 
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   SENATOR BALL:  --- and getting a price from 1 

East End Asphalt. 2 

   CHAIRMAN:   I see. 3 

     And so as from quite early in this process, 4 

the Government was in a position to buy this from the 5 

quarry direct? 6 

   SENATOR BALL:  That’s correct. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:   Landed in at the price of 8 

$47.12?      9 

   SENATOR BALL:  That’s correct. 10 

   CHAIRMAN:   You called East End, and this 11 

was the second thing, and they quoted $46.00? 12 

   SENATOR BALL:  No. 13 

   I didn’t --- maybe I said --- I got it 14 

correct, or I said correct, but I think that what you said 15 

wasn’t correct. 16 

   The process for getting the quotes from East 17 

End Asphalt, Harmony Holdings and direct were all occurring 18 

simultaneously. 19 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 20 

   SENATOR BALL:  So we knew what it would cost 21 

to get it direct. 22 

   We also knew what it would be to get it from 23 

Harmony Holdings as well as East End Asphalt. 24 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m not sure why that is 25 
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different from what I suggested to you. 1 

   I’m just following the order in your 2 

statement. 3 

   You’ve got to --- you know that you’ve got a 4 

price of $47.12 from the quarry, direct? 5 

   SENATOR BALL:  Huh-huh. 6 

   CHAIRMAN:   You then say we called East End. 7 

   Now, whether that came at the same time that 8 

the --- 9 

   SENATOR BALL:  That’s all at the same time, 10 

that’s what I’m saying. 11 

   CHAIRMAN:   You did approach East End and 12 

they quoted $46.00? 13 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yes, correct. 14 

   CHAIRMAN:   And looking down at your 15 

Paragraph 9, you had two worries about that. 16 

   First, you thought that although they might 17 

quote that, they would somehow try and raise the price 18 

later? 19 

   SENATOR BALL:  And I think you’ve seen it a 20 

couple times in the Commission so far. 21 

   It’s --- It’s possible that that could have 22 

occurred. 23 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, of course it’s possible, 24 

but did you have any reason for supposing they would? 25 
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   SENATOR BALL:  Well, if we can bring it in 1 

for $47.12 and that’s the breakeven point, there’s no 2 

profit. 3 

   The Government’s not making any profit at 4 

all, breakeven, $47.12 and they are coming in at $46.00.  5 

If we were to give them the contract, they would lose 6 

money. 7 

   CHAIRMAN:   I see. 8 

   SENATOR BALL:  Right. 9 

   And so they would have to, if they’re going 10 

to make any money, any profit, they would either one, have 11 

to bring it in at a loss for themselves and not too many 12 

businesses are in a loss and the Government’s not in a 13 

position to --- 14 

   CHAIRMAN:   I understand. 15 

   SENATOR BALL:  --- to help business to make 16 

a loss, knowingly make a loss, or they would have changed 17 

the terms of the contract later. 18 

   CHAIRMAN:   And East End --- 19 

   SENATOR BALL:  Potentially. 20 

   CHAIRMAN:   --- East End is a Bermudian 21 

firm, isn’t it? 22 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yes, it is. 23 

   CHAIRMAN:   Is it? 24 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yes. 25 
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   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 1 

   And then you had to worry about delivery 2 

date with East End and you said mid-June which is what they 3 

said was going to be too late? 4 

   SENATOR BALL:  Correct. 5 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 6 

   And then we got to Harmony Holdings, and you 7 

have a bid, which was originally $53.00 and then you say, I 8 

think you said you negotiated down to $51.00? 9 

   SENATOR BALL:  I asked Mr. Tuzo to negotiate 10 

it down, and he got it $51.50. 11 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yes. 12 

   And that was --- What was the source of the 13 

Harmony Holdings’ aggregate? 14 

   SENATOR BALL:  D.M. Rogers.  D.M. Rogers. 15 

   CHAIRMAN:   It was the same? 16 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yes. 17 

   CHAIRMAN:   And you --- That bid, as you 18 

say, at $51.50 was about ten percent more than the cost of 19 

getting it direct? 20 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yes. 21 

   CHAIRMAN:   But you thought looking at 22 

Paragraph 10 of your statement, given the policy 23 

considerations of using and developing local suppliers, you 24 

thought Harmony Holdings at 110 percent of the D.M. Rogers’ 25 
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price, was something you should go for? 1 

   SENATOR BALL:  They were 10 percent higher. 2 

   They were within the 15 percent guidelines 3 

within the Purchasing Department. 4 

   CHAIRMAN:   But what I’m puzzled about at 5 

the moment is this.  You were in a position to get exactly 6 

the same aggregate direct from D.M. Rogers at $46.00 --- at 7 

$47.00? 8 

   SENATOR BALL:  Huh-huh. 9 

   Well, I mean, I understand where you’re 10 

going with this question --- 11 

   CHAIRMAN:   So --- 12 

   SENATOR BALL:  --- but I also want you to 13 

know that the Government can get everything it wants, 14 

period, inside the country because we can bring in 15 

everything ourselves. 16 

   We don’t ever have to go out into the local 17 

economy at all.  We can buy it in lumber, we can buy it in 18 

computers.  We can buy it in toner.  We never have to 19 

support the local economy, but if we do that, then there 20 

will be a lot of businesses that probably wouldn’t sustain 21 

themselves. 22 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m sorry. 23 

   I didn’t put my question very clearly and 24 

I’ll put it again. 25 
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   You give us your reason for paying 10 1 

percent more than the direct cost to Harmony Holdings, was 2 

the fact that Harmony Holdings was a local Bermudian 3 

company? 4 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yes. 5 

   CHAIRMAN:   You could have had the same 6 

aggregate from another local company, East End, for less 7 

than the direct cost? 8 

   SENATOR BALL:  Okay. 9 

   If the direct cost is $47.12 and East End 10 

Asphalt is bringing their aggregate or planning to bring in 11 

the same aggregate for $46.00, which is a dollar or so less 12 

than we can bring it in for, then if we’re going direct, 13 

then the breakeven point, because there’s no profit 14 

included in that at all.  There’s just breakeven. 15 

   If our breakeven point is $47.12 and East 16 

End Asphalt are saying that they could bring it in for 17 

$47.00, then that raises questions. 18 

   I mean, if you have something, you want to 19 

build a house and you spec it out at $100,000.00, and a 20 

contractor says I can do it for ninety, but you know it’s 21 

going cost a hundred, do you let the contractor build it 22 

for ninety and potentially leave out windows, leave out 23 

tile. 24 

   MR BRADSHAW:  What if they have a different 25 
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cost base? 1 

   MS. LUCK:  I mean, the fact is the price is 2 

made up of both the underlying cost of the aggregate and 3 

then shipping. 4 

   I mean, wouldn’t it be plausible that their 5 

shipping costs were lower because they’ve been in the 6 

business for a long time, they might have had a different 7 

cost structure? 8 

   SENATOR BALL:  We were going direct and so 9 

our shipping cost would be the exact same as their shipping 10 

costs. 11 

   We are --- We are chartering a ship, just 12 

like they would be chartering a ship. 13 

   MS. LUCK:  Yes, but chartering, prices for 14 

chartering ships vary, it’s not exactly the same? 15 

   SENATOR BALL:  Okay.   16 

   I guess you’re chartering a ship, I don’t 17 

know, I mean, but in the experience that I have with 18 

chartering a ship, ship prices are pretty constant. 19 

   It’s like, you know, run by a cartel. Those 20 

prices are pretty constant.  They don’t fluctuate too much.  21 

That’s my experience. 22 

   I’m not sure what your experience is. 23 

   CHAIRMAN:   And did you --- you made the 24 

assumption that they --- it was a loss, involving a loss. 25 
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   Did you go back and ask them about that? 1 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yes, we did. 2 

   CHAIRMAN:   What did you say? 3 

   SENATOR BALL:  They said that the price --- 4 

the reason why their price was low was because the price of 5 

oil and the price of the Canadian dollar; and that’s what 6 

they said.  7 

       But, however, we were going to the exact 8 

same supplier, so our price of oil would have been the same 9 

and our --- the price of the Canadian dollar would have 10 

been the same. 11 

   So that’s what it is. 12 

   CHAIRMAN:   So far as Harmony Holdings was 13 

concerned, was this just a question of shifting paper? 14 

   SENATOR BALL:  No, not in my opinion. 15 

   What do you mean by “shifting paper”? 16 

   CHAIRMAN:   Shifting paper. 17 

   I mean they make their contract to purchase 18 

from D.M. Rogers, they make their contract for shipping 19 

perhaps and then the goods (are landed ?). 20 

   Did they contribute anything else to the 21 

transaction? 22 

   SENATOR BALL:  Well, you know, they take on 23 

the risk of bringing it in. 24 

   You know, there are any, the moorage 25 
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charges, like if a ship, for whatever reason, if it can’t 1 

discharge its product at one point on land and for any --- 2 

for any reason outside of the ship’s purpose, then Harmony 3 

Holdings would be responsible for the moorage charges of 4 

$25,000.00 a day. 5 

   So they take on some risk. 6 

   CHAIRMAN:   I see. 7 

   And then finally, in your Paragraph 11, on 8 

the conflict of interest point. 9 

   At one stage, you said you were concerned 10 

that the Minister should not find himself conflicted by the 11 

knowledge that Harmony Holdings was represented or your 12 

father was a shareholder --- 13 

   SENATOR BALL:  The Permanent Secretary. 14 

   CHAIRMAN:   Permanent Secretary, yes. 15 

   That was your reason for not telling him? 16 

   SENATOR BALL:  My reason --- Yeah, I wanted 17 

the process to remain objective. 18 

   CHAIRMAN:   And in the course of your 19 

evidence, you’ve made some reference to Mr. Tuzo --- 20 

   SENATOR BALL:  Tuzo (pronunciation), 21 

correct. 22 

   CHAIRMAN:   Making the decision and that you 23 

didn’t feel you should conflict him? 24 

   SENATOR BALL:  Correct. 25 
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   CHAIRMAN:   But in Paragraph 11, it was your 1 

decision, wasn’t it? 2 

   SENATOR BALL:  It was my decision not to 3 

conflict either of them.  Correct. 4 

   CHAIRMAN:   Yeah, yeah. 5 

   So I don’t see why Mr. Tuzo --- 6 

   MS. MEMARI:  Tuzo (pronunciation). 7 

   CHAIRMAN:   Tuzo comes into it at all? 8 

   SENATOR BALL:  I’m sorry? 9 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m not sure where Mr. Tuzo 10 

comes into it at all? 11 

   He was not making a decision.  You were 12 

making a decision. 13 

   SENATOR BALL: I made a recommendation. 14 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, you call it your 15 

professional decision in Paragraph 11? 16 

   SENATOR BALL:  My professional decision and 17 

I recommended it to the Permanent Secretary. 18 

   My professional decision in that particular 19 

instance, just refers to, you know, my knowledge of --- of 20 

the course of East End Asphalt and all that sort of stuff. 21 

So in my professional decision, it was going to be 22 

recommended that Harmony Holdings get it. 23 

   But the ultimate decision was for the 24 

Permanent Secretary to make with the information that I 25 
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provided. 1 

   CHAIRMAN:   And I just wanted to make sure 2 

you appreciate it. 3 

   You’ve been asked a number of questions and 4 

I won’t ask any more about the conflict, but what’s being 5 

suggested is that you were conflicted in your personal 6 

decision to make the recommendation. 7 

   You appreciate that? 8 

   SENATOR BALL:  I made a recommendation, yes. 9 

   CHAIRMAN:   And you --- 10 

   SENATOR BALL:  And I knew that my father was 11 

the owner of the company, correct. 12 

   CHAIRMAN:   Thank you. 13 

   MR. BARRITT:  I do have one thing. 14 

   You have referred us to the exhibits 15 

attached to Ms. Hassell’s --- 16 

   SENATOR BALL:  I’m sorry? 17 

   MR. BARRITT:  You had referred us to the 18 

exhibits attached to Ms. Hassell’s witness statement. 19 

   SENATOR BALL:  uh-huh. 20 

   MR. BARRITT:  If you could find that in 21 

Binder 2, Tab 18 and in her exhibits, it’s my numbered 22 

page, starts at Page 43. 23 

   SENATOR BALL:  That’s the scribbled 43 or 24 

the typed 43? 25 
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   MR. BARRITT:  It’s an email typed. 1 

   MS. MEMARI:  It was at the bottom though, 2 

the number. 3 

   MR. BARRITT:  Oh, I see, yes. 4 

   It is handwritten at the bottom, 43. 5 

   SENATOR BALL:  Hand scribble, okay, I got 6 

it. 7 

   MR. BARRITT:  And much has been made of the 8 

fact --- Well, not much, but some weight has been given the 9 

fact this was an emergency situation. 10 

   SENATOR BALL:  uh-huh. 11 

   MR. BARRITT:  In here I see, and you’ll see 12 

it on the next hmm, 6 pages, emails pretty well at the time 13 

this is happening, June the 24th, 2009, and somebody, 14 

Robinson, is asking Andrew Morille, Financial Controller, 15 

why there’s no contract or Cabinet Approval for this 16 

purchase and this batch, I guess, of Purchase Orders coming 17 

through for the first shipment of $568,560.00 --- 18 

   MS. LUCK:  He’s in the Accountant General’s 19 

Department, John, if you look on the next page. 20 

   MR. BARRITT:  Is he? 21 

   MS. LUCK:  Yeah, yeah. 22 

   MR. BARRITT:  Oh, okay. 23 

   And then, but this is at the time of the 24 

transaction and I think Thomasina Hassell asked you, did 25 
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you get Cabinet Approval and you reply, no, I didn’t.  We 1 

have never gotten Cabinet Approval for any of our aggregate 2 

purchases. 3 

   Additionally, we’ve never gotten Cabinet 4 

Approval for any purchase that is electronically generated 5 

from this office.   6 

   The aggregate shipment is almost two-thirds 7 

complete at the moment. 8 

   So the situation is, it appears on the face 9 

of that statement that it’s not an emergent --- Well, this 10 

may have been an emergency situation, but in the past, 11 

aggregate, according to yourself there, was ordered without 12 

Cabinet Approval.   13 

   That ---  14 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yeah, that true.   15 

     This would, in this particular instance, 16 

this was an emergency, but no, we had never needed Cabinet 17 

Approval for purchase of aggregate prior to that. 18 

   CHAIRMAN:   I’m sorry, I missed that. 19 

   SENATOR BALL:  We had not used or gotten 20 

Cabinet Approval for any aggregate purchase even prior to 21 

this one. 22 

   MR. BARRITT:  Ever, under any circumstance? 23 

   SENATOR BALL:  No, sir. 24 

   MR. BARRITT:  Okay, that’s in here. 25 
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   And the other thing I notice here, is now 1 

that the decision’s been made and the contract’s on foot, 2 

you’re still not telling anybody at Works and Engineering 3 

of the potential conflict that you have because of the 4 

familial relationship? 5 

   SENATOR BALL:  No, I didn’t. 6 

   MR. BARRITT:  So, for everybody who was 7 

involved, they’re probably finding this out for the first 8 

time? 9 

   SENATOR BALL:  Yeah, yes.  Many do. 10 

   MR. BARRITT:  Thank you. 11 

   CHAIRMAN:   Mr. Hargun, any --- 12 

   MR. HARGUN:  I have no further questions. 13 

   CHAIRMAN:   Can you add any --- 14 

   MR FROOMKIN:  I may, Mr. Chairman, just a 15 

moment. 16 

   Pursuant to one of the questions you asked, 17 

maybe I’m confused. 18 

   Senator Ball, the phone call that was made 19 

to East End with respect to their price, was that before 20 

they quoted or after they quoted? 21 

   SENATOR BALL:  After they quoted. 22 

   MR FROOMKIN:  Thank you. 23 

   CHAIRMAN:   Well, thank you, Mr. Ball. 24 

   That’s the end of your evidence.  We thank 25 
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you. 1 

   SENATOR BALL:  Thank you. 2 

   (Witness excused.) 3 

   CHAIRMAN:   And is that --- 4 

   MR. HARGUN:  No more witnesses for today. 5 

   CHAIRMAN:   Today. 6 

   MR. HARGUN:  And tomorrow we have two 7 

witnesses in the morning. 8 

   CHAIRMAN:   Can we just make a note of 9 

these? 10 

   MR. HARGUN:  Thank you. 11 

   Matvey --- Matvey McLeod and Lawrence Brady 12 

and then in the afternoon, we’re hoping for Minister 13 

Lister, assuming he is --- he confirms. 14 

   CHAIRMAN:   Good. 15 

   MS. LUCK:  And Donald Scott? 16 

   MR. HARGUN:  Yes. 17 

     Well, that’s a potential, yes. 18 

   We would --- you would like that, yes? 19 

   MS. MEMARI:  That’s the scope we were 20 

looking at yesterday. 21 

   MR. BARRITT:  The last email we saw he was 22 

committing, he had --- 23 

   MS. MEMARI:  Yes. 24 

   MR. BARRITT:  --- he had rearranged his 25 
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schedule to be here on --- 1 

   MR. HARGUN:  We’ll have to --- Mr. Scott, as 2 

well. 3 

   CHAIRMAN:   Good. 4 

   Thank you very much. 5 

     We’re adjourned till 10:00 o’clock tomorrow 6 

morning. 7 

    (COMMISSION OF INQUIRY ADJOURNED FOR THE DAY.) 8 

End of  9 

Day’s Proceedings 10 
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